
 

Page 1 of 3 
Regular Board Meeting Agenda December 7, 2022 
Published to District Website December 1, 2022 

THREE VALLEYS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

1021 E. Miramar Avenue, Claremont, CA 91711 
December 7, 2022 – 8:00 AM 

 
The mission of Three Valleys Municipal Water District is to supplement and enhance 

 local water supplies to meet our region’s needs in a reliable and cost-effective manner. 

SPECIAL NOTICE OF TELECONFERENCE ACCESSIBILITY 

Pursuant to the provisions of Assembly Bill 361, which amended certain provisions of the Brown Act regarding 
teleconference meetings during periods of statewide emergencies, and as a precaution to our Board of 
Directors, District staff and general public as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, Three Valleys MWD 
will hold this meeting of its Board of Directors both in-person at the above location and via teleconference. The 
public may participate in the meeting by physical attendance or by teleconference by clicking on the link below: 
 

https://tvmwd.zoom.us/j/88214651702?pwd=ZVAvK0hOZnYwVFJleFpZcUZtaXlIUT09  
 
Any member of the public wishing to participate in public comment may do so in any of the following manners: (1) 
when prompted by the President during the public comment period, (2) by filling out the electronic speaker’s card 
at the following link https://arcg.is/0z5GqO prior to the close of public comment, (3) by sending an email to 
PublicComment@tvmwd.com prior to the close of public comment, or (4) those attending the meeting in person 
may complete a speaker’s card and provide it to the Executive Assistant prior to the close of public comment. 

1. CALL TO ORDER ROBERTO 

2. ROLL CALL 

Jody Roberto, President 
Carlos Goytia, Secretary 
Mike Ti, Treasurer 
David De Jesus, Director 
Jeff Hanlon, Director 
Bob Kuhn, Director 
Danielle Soto, Director 

AGUIRRE 

3. FLAG SALUTE ROBERTO 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA [Government Code Section 54954.2(b)(2)] 

Additions to the agenda may be considered when two-thirds of the board members 
present determine a need for immediate action, and the need to act came to the 
attention of TVMWD after the agenda was posted; this exception requires a degree of 
urgency. If fewer than two-thirds of the board members are present, all must affirm 
the action to add an item to the agenda. The Board shall call for public comment prior 
to voting to add any item to the agenda after posting.     

ROBERTO 

BOARD ACTION REQUIRED 

Staff Recommendation: Approve as Presented 

 



 

Page 2 of 3 
Regular Board Meeting Agenda December 7, 2022 
Published to District Website December 1, 2022 

5. ADMINISTER OATH OF OFFICE TO DIRECTORS IN DIVISIONS 1, 3, AND 5 
(Pursuant to Water Code Section 71253) 

LITCHFIELD 

6. PRESENTATION LITCHFIELD 

A. TVMWD TEAM ACHIEVEMENTS AND MILESTONES  

7. PUBLIC COMMENT (Government Code Section 54954.3) 

Opportunity for members of the public to directly address the Board on items of public 
interest that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of TVMWD. The public may also 
address the Board on items being considered on this agenda.  

We request that remarks be limited to three minutes or less. Pursuant to Government 
Code Section 54954.3, if speaker is utilizing a translator, the total allotted time will  
be doubled. 

ROBERTO 

8. ACTION AGENDA 

The following items on the Action Agenda call for discussion and action by the Board. 
All items are placed on the agenda so that the Board may discuss and take action on 
the item if the Board is so inclined. 

LITCHFIELD 

A. ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 22-12-951 RE-AUTHORIZING REMOTE 
TELCONFERENCE MEETINGS PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF 
ASSEMBLY BILL 361 

The Board will consider adopting Resolution No. 22-12-951 re-authorizing remote 
teleconference meetings pursuant to AB 361. 

LITCHFIELD 

BOARD ACTION REQUIRED 8.A 

Staff Recommendation: Approve as Presented 

 

9. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 

The Executive Leadership Team will provide brief updates on existing matters under 
their purview and will be available to respond to any questions thereof. 

LITCHFIELD 

A. OPEB TRUST – FUNDED STATUS 

The Board will review the funded status of the OPEB Trust and consider the need 
for additional contributions. 

LINTHICUM 

B. PENSION TRUST – FUNDED STATUS 

The Board will review the funded status of the Pension Trust and consider the need 
for additional contributions. 

LINTHICUM 

C. REVIEW OF RESOLUTION PLACING A BAN ON IRRIGATION OF  
NON-FUNCTIONAL TURF 

The Board will review a draft resolution placing a ban on irrigation of non-functional 
turf.  

HOWIE 



 

Page 3 of 3 
Regular Board Meeting Agenda December 7, 2022 
Published to District Website December 1, 2022 

(ITEM 9 CONTINUED)  

D. POLICY MANUAL UPDATE 

The Board will review revisions made to the Policy Manual. 

LITCHFIELD 

E. APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVE AND ALTERNATE TO SERVE ON THE 
SAN GABRIEL BASIN WATER QUALITY AUTHORITY BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The Board will discuss the appointment of a representative and alternate to serve 
on the San Gabriel Basin Water Quality Authority Board for a four-year term. 

LITCHFIELD 

F. SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA WATER COALITION BOARD MEETING AND 
LUNCHEON SPONSORSHIP 

The Board will consider approval of a sponsorship request for the Southern 
California Water Coalition Quarterly Board meeting and Luncheon. 

LITCHFIELD 

G. MIRAMAR GENERATOR UPGRADE 

The Board will be briefed on the Miramar Generator Upgrade project. 

PANZER 

H. PROJECTS SUMMARY UPDATE 

The Board will be provided an oral update of ongoing TVMWD projects. 

PANZER 

10. DIRECTORS’/GENERAL MANAGER’S ORAL REPORTS 

Directors may report on activities for meetings to which they are assigned to serve as 
the representative or alternate of TVMWD and on other areas of interest. 

ROBERTO 

11. CLOSED SESSION ROBERTO 

A. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION 
[Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1)] 

Name of Case: Chino Basin Municipal Water District v. City of Chino, et al., San 
Bernardino County Superior Court Case No. RCV RS 51010 

 

12. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS ROBERTO 

13. ADJOURNMENT AND NEXT MEETING 

The Board will adjourn to a regular Board Meeting on December 21, 2022 at 8:00 AM. 

ROBERTO 

 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, please 
contact the Executive Assistant at (909) 621-5568 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting.  

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.5, materials related to an item on this agenda submitted after distribution 
of the agenda packet will be posted on the TVMWD website at www.threevalleys.com.  

Three Valleys MWD Board meeting packets and agendas are available for review at www.threevalleys.com. 



  Funds Budgeted:  $   Fiscal Impact:  $ 

Staff Recommendation 

No Action Necessary – Informational Item Only 

Discussion 

The Oath of Office will be administered to the Directors in Divisions 1, 3, and 5 for the new four-year term 
commencing December 2, 2022 through December 4, 2026. Carlos Goytia (Division 1) and Jeff Hanlon 
(Division 3) were the prevailing candidates in the General Election held on November 8, 2022. Mary Jody 
Roberto was appointed in lieu of election by the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors on October 18, 
2022. 

Strategic Plan Objective(s) 

3.3 – Be accountable and transparent with major decisions 

Attachment(s) 

None 

Meeting History 

None 

NA/ML 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

To: TVMWD Board of Directors 

From: Matthew H. Litchfield, General Manager  

Date: December 7, 2022 

Subject: Administer Oath of Office, Directors in Divisions 1, 3, and 5 

INFORMATION 

Item 5



RESOLUTION NO. 22-12-951 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE THREE VALLEYS 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT RE-RATIFYING THE PROCLAMATION OF A 

STATE OF EMERGENCY BY GOVERNOR NEWSOM, DECLARING THAT 
LOCAL EMERGENCY CONDITIONS PERSIST, AND RE-AUTHORIZING 

REMOTE TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AND ITS STANDING COMMITTEES FOR THE PERIOD DECEMBER 16, 2022, 

TO JANUARY 14, 2023, PURSUANT TO BROWN ACT PROVISIONS 

WHEREAS, the Three Valleys Municipal Water District (the “District”) is committed 
to preserving and nurturing public access and participation in meetings of its Board of Directors; 
and  

WHEREAS, all meetings of the District’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) and its 
standing committees are open and public, as required by the Ralph M. Brown Act (California 
Government Code Sections 54950-54963), so that any member of the public may attend, 
participate, and watch those bodies conduct their business; and 

WHEREAS, the Brown Act, in Government Code Section 54953(e), makes provision 
for remote teleconferencing participation in meetings by members of a legislative body, without 
compliance with the requirements of Government Code Section 54953(b)(3), subject to the 
existence of certain conditions; and 

WHEREAS, a required condition for application of Government Code Section 54953(e) 
is that a state of emergency is declared by the Governor pursuant to Government Code Section 
8625, proclaiming the existence of conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of 
persons and property within the State caused by conditions as described in Government Code 
Section 8558; and  

WHEREAS, a proclamation is made when there is an actual incident, threat of disaster, 
or extreme peril to the safety of persons and property within the jurisdictions that are within 
the District’s boundaries, caused by natural, technological, or human-caused disasters; and 

WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, Governor Gavin Newsom proclaimed a state of 
emergency to exist in California as a result of the threat of COVID-19, and such proclamation 
has not yet been lifted; and 

WHEREAS, it is further required under Government Code Section 54953(e) that state 
or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing or that 
the legislative body meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health and safety of 
attendees; and  

WHEREAS, the Board previously adopted Resolution No. 22-11-945 on November 15 
2022, finding that the requisite conditions exist for the Board and its standing committees to 

Item 8.A



conduct remote teleconference meetings without compliance with Government Code Section 
54953(b)(3); and 

 
WHEREAS, as a condition of extending the use of the provisions set forth in 

Government Code Section 54953(e), the Board must reconsider the circumstances of the state 
of emergency that exists within the District, and the Board has done so; and 
 

WHEREAS, emergency conditions persist within the District, specifically COVID-19 and 
its Delta variant remain highly contagious and, therefore, a threat to the health, safety, and well-
being of the District’s employees, directors, vendors, contractors, customers, visitors, and 
residents; and 
 

WHEREAS, orders from the Los Angeles County Department of Public Health and 
regulations from the State of California impose limitations on gatherings and provide guidance on 
best practices with respect to actions to reduce the spread of COVID-19; and   
 

WHEREAS, the Board does hereby find that a state of emergency continues to exist 
within the District’s service area as a result of the continuing presence of COVID-19, which has 
caused, and will continue to cause, conditions of imminent risk to attendees of Board meetings, 
and has resulted in local, State, and federal social distancing orders and related guidance, and 
which has caused, and will continue to cause, conditions of peril to the safety of persons within 
the District that are likely to be beyond the control of services, personnel, equipment, and 
facilities of the District, and the Board desires to re-affirm that a local emergency exists and re-
ratify the proclamation of state of emergency by the Governor of the State of California; and 

 
WHEREAS, as a consequence of the local emergency persisting, the Board does hereby 

find that the Board and all standing committees thereof shall continue to conduct their meetings 
without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Government Code Section 54953, as 
authorized by subdivision (e) of Government Code Section 54953, and that such legislative bodies 
shall continue to comply with the requirements to provide the public with access to the meetings 
as prescribed in paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Government Code Section 54953; and   

 
WHEREAS, the District will continue to provide proper notice to the public regarding 

all Board and standing committee meetings in accordance with Government Code Section 
54953(e)(2) and shall continue to provide notice to the public of how they may access any such 
meeting via call-in number and/or internet link.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE THREE 
VALLEYS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 
incorporated into this Resolution by this reference. 
 

Section 2.  Affirmation that Local Emergency Persists.  The Board hereby considers the 
conditions of the state of emergency within the District and proclaims that a local emergency 

Item 8.A



persists throughout the District as a result of the continuing presence of COVID-19, which 
continues to cause conditions of imminent risk to attendees of the District’s Board and standing 
committee meetings, and which have resulted in local, State, and federal social distancing orders 
and guidance, and that continuing to conduct the District’s Board and standing committee 
meetings virtually will minimize the possible spread COVID-19 and any variant thereof.  
 

Section 3.  Re-Ratification of Governor’s Proclamation of a State of Emergency.  The 
Board hereby re-ratifies the Governor of the State of California’s Proclamation of State of 
Emergency regarding COVID-19, dated March 4, 2020. 
 

Section 4.  Remote Teleconference Meetings.  The District’s General Manager, or his or 
her delegee, and the Board and standing committees of the District are hereby authorized and 
directed to take all actions necessary to carry out the intent and purpose of this Resolution, 
including but not limited to continuing to conduct open and public meetings in accordance with 
Government Code Section 54953(e) and other applicable provisions of the Brown Act. 
 

Section 5.  Effective Date of Resolution.  This Resolution shall take effect on December 
16, 2022 and shall be effective until the earlier of (i) January 14, 2023, or (ii) such time as the 
Board adopts a subsequent resolution in accordance with Government Code Section 54953(e)(3) 
to extend the time during which the Board and standing committees of the District may continue 
to teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Government Code 
Section 54953. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Three Valleys Municipal 
Water District this 7th day of December 2022, by the following vote: 
 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN: 

 
 
_______________________________ 
Jody Roberto 
President, Board of Directors 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Carlos Goytia 
Secretary, Board of Directors 
       SEAL: 

Item 8.A



  Funds Budgeted:  $   Fiscal Impact: 

Staff Recommendation: 

No Action Necessary – Informational Item Only 

Background: 

TVMWD provides limited healthcare benefits to retirees.  Retiree healthcare benefits or OPEB 
(Other Post Employment Benefits) are paid through a combination of direct payments to 
ACWA/JPIA and reimbursement of premiums paid by retirees via Basic Benefits, LLC. 

Discussion: 

An actuarial valuation is performed biennially (last completed April 2021) to determine the 
current liability for these future obligations.  A copy can be provided upon request.  For funding 
purposes, TVMWD is only concerned with the total explicit liabilities stated in the valuation. 

TVMWD established an IRS Section 115 Trust with PARS in November of 2016 to legally set-
aside funds for TVMWD’s OPEB liabilities.  Our stated goal is to be 90% funded. 

As of 6/30/21 As of 6/30/22 
115 Trust Balance $1,142,935 $993,219 
Explicit Liability $1,175,983 $1,212,641 
Funded Status 97% 82% 

Although we are below our stated goal, staff is recommending no additional contributions at this 
time as staff expects our next actuarial valuation to be more favorable.  Since the time of the last 
valuation, ACWA/JPIA has twice reduced costs for the PPO plans and has changed the Medicare 
eligible PPO plan to a less expensive plan. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

To: TVMWD Board of Directors 

From: Matthew H. Litchfield, General Manager 

Date: December 7, 2022 

Subject: OPEB Trust – Funded Status 

INFORMATION 

Item 9.A



 Page 2 
 
 

Strategic Plan Objective(s): 

3.1 – Utilize and comply with a set of financial policies to maintain TVMWD’s financial health 

3.3 – Be accountable and transparent with major decisions 

Attachment(s): 

None 

Meeting History: 

None 

NA/JL 

 

Item 9.A



  Funds Budgeted:  $   Fiscal Impact: 

Staff Recommendation: 

No Action Necessary – Informational Item Only 

Background: 

TVMWD provides defined pension benefits to retirees.  Retiree pensions are paid by CalPERS. 
CalPERS determines how much TVMWD must pay annually and every pay period to meet these 
future pension obligations.   

Discussion: 

An actuarial valuation is performed annually to determine the current liability for these future 
obligations.  A copy of the most recent valuation and associated calculations to determine 
TVMWD’s share can be provided upon request. 

TVMWD has 3 funding sources to cover this liability: 
• CalPERS
• TVMWD Reserves
• 115 Trust - Pension

TVMWD established an IRS Section 115 Trust with PARS in November of 2016 to legally set-
aside funds for TVMWD’s Pension liabilities.  Our stated goal is to be 100% funded. 

As of 6/30/21 As of 6/30/22 
CalPERS $15,717,000 $19,495,000 
TVMWD Reserves $378,000 $678,000 
115 Trust Balance $885,000 $933,000 
Total Funding Sources $16,980,000 $21,106,000 
Pension Liability $19,963,000 $21,438,000 
Funded Status 85% 98% 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

To: TVMWD Board of Directors 

From: Matthew H. Litchfield, General Manager 

Date: December 7, 2022 

Subject: Pension Trust – Funded Status 

INFORMATION 

Item 9.B



 Page 2 
 
 

The average CalPERS funded status is 80%.  While our current status is very good, there are two 
things that will decrease this prior to our next valuation. 

• The positive change between years detailed above is reflective of a 21% net return for 
CalPERS during FY 20/21.  This significant return triggered an action in CalPERS’ Funding 
Risk Mitigation policy that lowered the discount rate from 7% to 6.8%.  The purpose of 
this action is to reduce investment volatility.  The lowering of the discount rate will be 
reflected in the next valuation and will decrease our funded status. 

• The net return for FY 21/22 was -6%.  This will be reflected in the next valuation and will 
decrease our funded status. 

Our goal is to be 100% funded, which is why TVMWD’s board had committed to funding 
$300,000 annually with a goal of being fully funded by 2028.  The board did decide to pause 
funding for FY 22/23 to help stabilize the TVMWD Surcharge for 2023 at $0 per acre foot. 

Staff recommends a contribution to the Pension Trust of $300,000 as was originally planned in 
the FY 21/22 budget.  Staff will bring this recommendation back for consideration at the 
December 21, 2022, board meeting. 

Strategic Plan Objective(s): 

3.1 – Utilize and comply with a set of financial policies to maintain TVMWD’s financial health 

3.3 – Be accountable and transparent with major decisions 

Attachment(s): 

None 

Meeting History: 

None 

NA/JL 

 

Item 9.B



  Funds Budgeted:  $   Fiscal Impact:  $ 

Staff Recommendation 

No Action Necessary – Informational Item Only 

Discussion 

Due to severe and persistent drought conditions, The Metropolitan Water District (MWD) 
Board declared a regional drought emergency in November 2021 and adopted an Emergency 
Water Conservation Program in April 2022 to address supply shortages in the State Water 
Project-dependent areas. Conditions on the Colorado River are equally concerning as both Lake 
Mead and Lake Powell are at their lowest historical levels. In June 2022, the U.S. Bureau of 
Reclamation Commissioner Camille Touton announced that Colorado River water users need 
to reduce use by two to four million-acre feet. It is clear that agencies need to permanently 
reduce potable water demand for all non-essential uses. 

In November 2022, TVMWD staff presented to the board the districts Legislative Priorities and 
Principles for 2023, that included “support of administrative/legislative actions and funding for the 
long-term conversion of non-functional turf (NFT) in residential, commercial, industrial, and 
institutional (CII) existing landscapes and ban the installation of NFT in new construction.” At the 
MWD level, the Turf Replacement Program (TRP) is the focus of nonfunctional turf management 
activities going forward. 

As part of the state’s drought response, the State Water Resources Control Board adopted in 
May 2022 an emergency regulation banning the irrigation of non-functional turf with potable 
water for all commercial, industrial, and institutional properties throughout the state. This 
emergency regulation expires on June 14, 2023. In adopting this regulation, the state 
acknowledged that irrigation of turf that is not used for recreational or community gathering 
purposes is an unnecessary use of water. 

To date, Southern California residents have removed more than 200 million square feet of turf 
at residential and commercial properties through the MWD TRP. A recent study indicates that 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

To: TVMWD Board of Directors 

From: Matthew H. Litchfield, General Manager 

Date: December 7, 2022 

Subject: Review of Resolution Placing a Ban on Irrigation of Non-Functional 
Turf  

INFORMATION 

Item 9.C



  Page 2 
 
 

96 percent of properties in the service area which convert from turf to California Friendly 
landscaping maintain that landscaping over time. In addition, the study found that for every 100 
landscapes that are installed using incentives, another 134 are installed without the use of an 
incentive payment. Both studies focused on residential properties, but these findings can be 
extended to commercial properties as well, constituting a significant reduction in potable water 
demand. 
 
The member agencies of MWD are now being called to adopt a resolution similar to the one 
adopted recently by the MWD board, encouraging municipalities and land use planning entities 
to ban the irrigation of non-functional turf with potable water. The attached draft resolution will 
be considered for board action and adoption at the next meeting on December 21. 
 
In addition, attached is sample water conservation ordinance language that the local land use 
planning or other entities within the service area of TVMWD may consider, depending on the 
nature and scope of their authority. The sample language provides a basic framework, including 
a definition of non-functional turf, and the following options for addressing nonfunctional turf: 
 

1. Prohibit irrigation of non-functional turf with potable water after the effective date of the 
ordinance, with certain exceptions. 

2. Prohibit installation of non-functional turf after the effective date of the ordinance, with 
certain exceptions. 

3. Require the removal of all non-functional turf from commercial, industrial, or public 
properties or facilities by a date certain. 

 
The proposed language provides placeholders to insert the preferred enforcement methods and 
timelines. TVMWD recommends this approach as it allows the agencies to make adjustments as 
they see fit to ensure higher levels of acceptance and accountability with their customers. 
 
Strategic Plan Objective(s) 

1.2 – Maintain 100% compliance with water quality standards 

3.4 – Be accountable and transparent with major decisions 

3.5 – Maintain awareness of legislation that may affect TVMWD 
 
Attachment(s) 

Exhibit A – Draft TVMWD Resolution placing a ban on NFT irrigation 

Exhibit B – Draft member agency Ordinance language on placing a ban on NFT irrigation 

 

Meeting History 

None 
 

NA/KRH 

Item 9.C



Page 1 of 4 
Resolution No. 22-12-DRAFT 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-12-DRAFT 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF  
THE THREE VALLEYS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 

ENCOURAGING THE BAN OF IRRIGATION OF  
NON-FUNCTIONAL TURF WITH POTABLE WATER 

WHEREAS, The Three Valleys Municipal Water District is Responsible for Treating, 
Distributing, Managing, and Developing Supplies to Meet Current and Future Water 
Demands Within its Respective Service Area. 

Three Valleys Municipal Water District (TVMWD) was established in 1950 and is comprised of 
13 retail member agencies covering an area of 133 square miles and a population of over half a 
million residential customers. 

TVMWD’s mission is to supplement and enhance local water supplies to meet our region's needs 
in a reliable and cost-effective manner. 

WHEREAS, Long-term and Short-term Trends Suggest that Imported Water 
Supplies Into the Region May Be Constrained by Drought, Climate Change, and 
Other Environmental Factors. 

The Colorado River system has been continuously in drought since 2000. Lake Mead and Lake 
Powell were near full in 2000; however, both reservoirs are now at their lowest historical levels 
since initial filling. 

In June 2022, the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation Commissioner, Camille Touton, announced that 
Colorado River water users need to reduce use by two- to four million acre-feet per year. 

Extended drought and increased regulatory constraints have resulted in an average 35 percent 
allocation of Table A contract supplies from the State Water Project (SWP) over the last 10 
years. During the previous 10-year period, TVMWD wholesaler Metropolitan Water District 
(MWD) received an average 68 percent allocation from the State Water Project. 

Combined deliveries of allocated water from the State Water Project during the past three years 
are lower than in any other three-year period in the history of the SWP. 

The California Department of Water Resources (DWR) classified water years 2020 to 2022 
(October 1, 2019, through September 30, 2022) as dry or critically dry, and it projects these 
three water years will be the driest on record in California for statewide precipitation. 

In addition to reduced precipitation since 2020, California’s climate is transitioning to a warmer 
setting in which historical relationships among temperature, precipitation, and runoff are 
changing. In addition, precipitation in the Colorado River Basin was near 100 percent normal in 
2022, but runoff was only at 62 percent of normal. In 2021 precipitation was at 87 percent of 
normal while runoff was at 32 percent of normal. 

Item 9.C - Exhibit A



 

Page 2 of 4 
Resolution No. 22-12-DRAFT 

WHEREAS, Governor Newsom Has Declared a State of Emergency to Exist in All 
California Counties Due to These Severe Drought Conditions. 
 
On October 19, 2021, Governor Gavin Newsom declared a state of emergency to exist in all 
California counties due to worsening drought conditions. This proclamation follows other 
increasingly expansive drought declarations and executive orders that have been issued since 
April 2021. 
 
Governor Newsom has called on Californians to re-double their efforts to reduce water use by 
15 percent and for local and regional water agencies to implement their Water Shortage 
Contingency Plans (WSCPs) “at a level appropriate to local conditions that takes into account 
the possibility of a third consecutive dry year.” 
 
California has declared a State of Emergency due to severe drought conditions three separate 
times since 2007. 
 
On August 11, 2022, Governor Newsom issued his California Water Supply Strategy which 
includes a long-term commitment to replace 500 million square feet of turf with drought tolerant 
landscaping by promoting programs and policies that incentivize turf conversion. 
 
WHEREAS, Water Conservation and Water Use Efficiency Play a Critical Role in 
Ensuring Supplies Meet Demands in TVMWD’s Service Area. 
 
Local water suppliers and communities throughout southern California have made multi-billion-
dollar strategic and forward-looking investments in water conservation, water recycling, 
stormwater capture and reuse, groundwater storage, seawater desalination and other strategies 
to improve drought resilience. 
 
Water conserved throughout the TVMWD service area, among other things, has helped protect 
against storages and meet demands during these dry conditions. 
 
WHEREAS, a Permanent Ban on Irrigation of Non-functional Turf and Commitment 
to Converting These Areas to California Friendly Landscaping through Local 
Ordinances and Regulations Would Result in a Significant Reduction in Potable 
Water Demand. 
 
Amending local ordinances and other land use planning regulations to further prevent non-
functional turf from being irrigated with potable water, installed in new construction, or 
maintained in existing construction will contribute to more sustainable demands within 
TVMWD’s service area. 
 
Irrigation of turf grass represents the single largest application of consumptive use of potable 
water in Southern California and reducing the amount of turf represents a significant water 
conservation opportunity. 
 
The removal of non-functional turf and replacement with drought-tolerant landscaping reduces 
water usage on a given site by up to 80 percent. 
 

Item 9.C - Exhibit A



 

Page 3 of 4 
Resolution No. 22-12-DRAFT 

Approximately 96 million square feet of non-residential non-functional turf have been removed 
through MWD’s turf rebate programs, which results in water savings today of approximately 
13,000 acre-feet per year. 
 
Since the SWRCB issued an emergency regulation temporarily banning the irrigation of non-
functional turf with potable water, commercial applications for the turf replacement program 
have tripled since the emergency regulation went into effect. Therefore, local ordinances 
permanently banning the irrigation, installation, and maintenance of non-functional turf could lead 
to an even greater increase in turf replacement projects. 
 
Regulations addressing irrigation, installation and maintenance of non-functional turf may be 
adopted as local governmental codes and ordinances by local land use planning entities, as 
permitted by each jurisdiction’s legal authority. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that The Three Valleys Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors supports the adoption and promotion of the following principles throughout 
TVMWD’s service area: 
 
1. Potable water should not be used to irrigate non-functional turf on non-residential properties. 
 
2. Non-functional turf should not be installed at any new or existing non-residential properties, 
including at any commercial or industrial properties, public buildings, or facilities, or HOAs. Non-
functional turf also should not be installed in any new residential properties. 
 
3. Non-functional turf should not be installed in public spaces, including in medians. 
 
4. Non-functional turf should be removed from all non-residential properties, both public and 
private, including HOAs, by a date certain in the future. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors strongly recommends that all Land 
Use Planning Entities within TVMWD’s service area amend their regulatory codes and ordinances, 
as appropriate, to implement these principles in a manner consistent with each jurisdiction’s legal 
authority. A model ordinance consistent with these principles is attached for reference and 
potential use. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Three Valleys Municipal Water 
District this 21st day of December 2022, by the following vote: 
 
 

AYES:   
NOES:  
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN: 

 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.C - Exhibit A



 

Page 4 of 4 
Resolution No. 22-12-DRAFT 

 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Jody Roberto 
President, Board of Directors 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Carlos Goytia 
Secretary, Board of Directors 
       SEAL: 
 

Item 9.C - Exhibit A



Model Ordinance Language 
Section X: Definitions 

(A) As used in this section:

(1) "Non-functional turf" means turf that is not regularly used for human recreational
purposes or 

for civic or community events. 

(2) "Turf" means any narrow-leaved grass species that form a uniform, long-lived ground
cover 

that can tolerate traffic and low mowing heights (usually two inches or below). Such 
grasses 

include, but are not limited to, annual bluegrass, Kentucky bluegrass, Perennial ryegrass, 
Red 

fescue, Tall fescue, Bermudagrass, Kikuyugrass, Seashore Paspalum, St. Augustine grass, 
Zoysiagrass, Buffalo grass, and their associated hybrids. 

Section XX: Permanent Water Conservation Requirements 

(A) Prohibition on irrigation of non-functional turf
(1) After the effective date of this ordinance, non-functional turf shall not be irrigated

using 
potable water with the sole exception of turf at residential properties that was present 

prior to the 
effective date of this ordinance. 

(B) Prohibition on installation of non-functional turf
(1) After the effective date of this ordinance, non-functional turf shall not be installed at

any new 
or existing commercial, industrial, or public properties or facilities, including parks, 
playgrounds, 
medians, greenbelts, and HOAs. In addition, non-functional turf shall not be installed in 
any new 
residential properties. 

(C) Removal of non-functional turf
(1) No later than [DATE CERTAIN], non-functional turf shall be removed from
commercial,
industrial, or public properties or facilities, including parks, playgrounds, medians,
greenbelts,
and HOAs.

Section XXX: Penalties and Enforcement 

[TO BE DETERMINED BY ADOPTING JURISDICTION] 

Item 9.C - Exhibit B



  Funds Budgeted:  $   Fiscal Impact:  $ 

Staff Recommendation 

No Action Necessary – Informational Item Only 

Background 

The Policy Manual is approved by the Board biennially or more often as needed. With recent 
Board input following the Special Board Workshop meeting on November 15, 2022, staff has 
made edits to the Policy Manual.  

Discussion 

Included in this draft are general cleanup language suggested by staff and the Board.  In addition, 
the most significant addition was the modification of language pertaining to Board of Directors – 
Organization (Sec. 2.3). Staff will bring this item back for execution at a future board meeting as 
directed by the Board. 

Strategic Plan Objective(s) 

3.3 – Be accountable and transparent with major decisions 

Attachment(s) 

Exhibit A – Redlined/Strikeout Draft Policy Manual revised December 2022 

Exhibit B – Clean Draft Policy Manual revised December 2022 

Meeting History 

None 

NA/VR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

To: TVMWD Board of Directors 

From: Matthew H. Litchfield, General Manager 

Date: December 7, 2022 

Subject: Policy Manual Update 

INFORMATION 

Item 9.D



TVMWD POLICY MANUAL REVISED JUNE FEBRUARY 20221 

Policy Manual 2021Policy 

Manual 2022 

Matthew H. Litchfield, P.E. 

General Manager/Chief Engineer 

Style Definition: TOC 2

Formatted: Top: (Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width),

Bottom: (Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width), Left:

(Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width), Right: (Single

solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width)

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED FEBRUARY 2021 

i 

Table of Contents 

1. PURPOSE AND ORGANIZATION ................................................................................................................. 1 

1.1. Mission ........................................................................................................................................................ 1 

1.2. Vision Statement......................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.3. Core Values ................................................................................................................................................. 1 

1.4. Functions and Powers ................................................................................................................................ 1 

1.5. Member Agencies as Customers ............................................................................................................... 2 

2. GOVERNANCE.................................................................................................................................................. 3 

2.1. Board of Directors - Principal Functions ................................................................................................. 3 

2.2. Election ........................................................................................................................................................ 3 

2.3. Board of Directors – Organization ........................................................................................................... 3 

2.4. Board of Directors - Public Meetings ....................................................................................................... 4 

2.5. Board of Directors - Norms of Conduct and Communication................................................................ 5 

2.6. Board of Directors - Orientation Meeting ................................................................................................ 8 

2.7. Board of Directors - Compensation .......................................................................................................... 8 

2.8. Board of Directors – Reimbursement ....................................................................................................... 9 

2.9. Board of Directors - Ethics Training ...................................................................................................... 14 

2.10. Board of Directors – Workplace Harassment Training ........................................................................ 15 

2.11. Board of Directors – Governance/Management Connection................................................................ 16 

3. GENERAL MANAGER AND STAFF............................................................................................................ 17 

3.1. General Policy......................................................................................................................................... 177 

3.2. General Manager Authority - Limits Set by Board ............................................................................ 177 

3.3. Safety ....................................................................................................................................................... 177 

3.4. Loyalty Oath ........................................................................................................................................... 177 

4. WATER PLANNING AND SUPPLY ........................................................................................................... 198 

4.1. General Policy......................................................................................................................................... 198 

4.2. Water Management Plan ....................................................................................................................... 198 

4.3. Water Quality ......................................................................................................................................... 198 

4.4. Water Use Efficiency, Public Outreach & Water Conservation ........................................................ 198 

 

 

 

 

Formatted: Top: (Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width),
Bottom: (Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width), Left:
(Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width), Right: (Single
solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width)

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED FEBRUARY 2021 

ii 

5. CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ........................................................................................................................ 20 

5.1. Service Connections ................................................................................................................................. 20 

5.2. System Maintenance and Repairs ........................................................................................................... 20 

5.3. Other Capital Improvements .................................................................................................................. 20 

6. FINANCIAL INTEGRITY .............................................................................................................................. 20 

6.1. General Policy........................................................................................................................................... 20 

6.2. Annual Budget .......................................................................................................................................... 20 

6.3. Rates, Charges, Assessments and Penalties ........................................................................................... 20 

6.4. Reserves..................................................................................................................................................... 21 

6.5. Investment of Funds ................................................................................................................................. 21 

6.6. Risk Management..................................................................................................................................... 21 

6.7. Audit .......................................................................................................................................................... 22 

7. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT .............................................................................................................................. 23 

7.1. General Policy........................................................................................................................................... 23 

7.2. Public Information and Education ......................................................................................................... 23 

7.3. District Spokesperson .............................................................................................................................. 23 

7.4. Requests for Public Records.................................................................................................................... 23 

APPENDIX A  Resolutions and Motions Superseded by Adoption of this Policy ............................................... 26 

APPENDIX B  End Notes ..................................................................................................................................... 28 

APPENDIX C  Policy Addendums ....................................................................................................................... 29 

 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 1 

 

1. PURPOSE AND ORGANIZATION 
  

1.1. Mission  

The mission of Three Valleys Municipal Water District is to supplement and enhance local 

water supplies to meet our region’s needs in a reliable and cost-effective manner.1 

 

1.2. Vision Statement 

The District meets its regional water supply needs through: 

 

1.2.1. Collaboration with its member agencies to understand their short-term and long-

term needs 

1.2.2. Development and implementation of a plan to address these needs in a cost-

effective manner based on current water conditions 

1.2.3. Periodic update of the plan as needs needed or as major changes in water conditions 

occur 

1.2.4. Adaptive management strategies that seek a combination of operational and cost 

efficiency.1 

 

1.3. Core Values 

The Core Values of Three Valleys Municipal Water District are as follows: 

 

1.3.1. Teamwork – The coordination, collaboration, participation and understanding of 

everyone’s role in fulfilling the mission and vision. 

1.3.2. Communication – The exchanging of information and sharing of ideas . 

1.3.3. Customer Service – The process of ensuring customer satisfaction. 

1.3.4. Personal Responsibility – Being accountable for something within one’s control. 

1.3.5. Professional Integrity – The manner in which people behave and act in the 

workplace. 

1.3.6. Employee Development – The steps taken to encourage each employee’s 

professional and personal growth. 

1.3.7. Innovation – The process of inventing or introducing something new. 

1.3.8. Recognition – Appreciating the value of an achievement. 

 

1.4. Functions and Powers 

The District is a Municipal Water District, organized under and subject to the provisions of the 

Municipal Water District Law of 1911.2  The District’s primary functions are to acquire, 

control, distribute, store, purify, and conserve water for the beneficial use of its entire area 

(Water Code Sections 71610-71612).  The District has the power of eminent domain (Water 

Code Sections 71693-71694); the right to acquire, use, and dispose of easements and other 

interests in real property (Water Code Sections 71690-71691); the right to use the public right-

of-way for operating facilities (Water Code Sections 71695-71698); the power to fix water 

Formatted: Top: (Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width),

Bottom: (Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width), Left:

(Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width), Right: (Single

solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width)

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 2 

 

rates and fees (Water Code Sections 71613-71617); incur bonded indebtedness (Water Code 

Sections 71312.5, 72028-72028.4, 72073-72077); levy standby charges (Water Code Sections 

71630-71637, 71638-71638.4, 71639; Government Code Sections 54984-54984.9); impose 

water replenishment assessments (Water Code Sections 71682-71689.9), special taxes (Water 

Code Sections 72090-72099), and utility taxes (Water Code Sections 72072-72072.12); and 

the authority to issue bonds for system maintenance and development.3  The District also has 

the power to sue or be sued (Water Code Sections 71750-71752), and to contract (Water Code 

Section 71592), and to enter into a variety of legally recognized relationships with other public 

and/or private entities (Water Code Sections 71720-71723). The District exercises its power to 

generate electricity for direct use and for sale to other parties and reserves the right to exercise 

other latent powers in the future.4  As a member public agency of the Metropolitan Water 

District of Southern California, the District is entitled to certain rights and privileges, and may 

be responsible for carrying out certain duties.5 

 

1.5. Member Agencies as Customers  

The District wholesales water for the benefit and use of its customers (commonly referred to 

as “Member Agencies”).  Member Agencies include: Golden State Water Company; Rowland 

Water District; Walnut Valley Water District; Valencia Heights Water Company; Boy Scouts 

of America; California State Polytechnic University, Pomona; Mount San Antonio College; 

Suburban Water Systems; Covina Irrigating Company and the cities of Covina, Glendora, La 

Verne, and Pomona.  For the benefit of any or all of these Member Agencies, the District may 

also sell water to a Watermaster that administers a court judgment, and/or a Joint Powers 

Authority with any of these Member Agencies as a participating member. Through the Member 

Agencies, water is provided to the following cities or unincorporated areas: Charter Oak, 

Claremont, Covina, Covina Hills, Diamond Bar, Glendora, Industry, La Puente, La Verne, 

Pomona, Rowland Heights, San Dimas, Walnut and West Covina.  Any significant initiation 

or change of service, change in boundaries, sphere of influence, jurisdiction, or organization, 

must be approved by the Local Agency Formation Commission for Los Angeles County 

(LAFCO).6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 3 

 

 

2. GOVERNANCE 

 

2.1. Board of Directors - Principal Functions 

The major functions of the Board of Three Valleys Municipal Water District are to define 

District goals and objectives; to act as custodian of District property and resources; to establish 

District policies; to review all District operations; to direct the development of management 

plans; to employ the General Manager of the District who shall implement the goals, plans and 

policies established by the Board of Directors; and to communicate with the District’s Member 

Agencies and the general public (Water Code Sections 71270-71314). Policies that supplement 

obligations of the District as set forth in the law are established by ordinances, resolutions, or 

motions passed by the Board of Directors.7  

 

2.2. Election 

A seven-member Board of Directors governs the District.8 Directors are elected to four-year 

terms at elections in November of even-numbered years.  Elections are staggered, with 

Directors for Divisions I, III, and V elected at one election and the Directors for Division II, 

IV, VI, and VII elected at another election.  A candidate for the Board of Directors must be a 

resident of the District, as well as the Division the candidate wishes to represent. 

 

Candidate Statements of Qualification, which appear on sample ballot pamphlets, are limited 

to 200 words [California Water Code Section 71505; California Elections Code Sections 10540 

and 13307(a) (1)].  The District does not pay any costs associated with the printing, mailing 

and/or handling of these.9 

 

If an incumbent Board member is unchallenged in an election, the District will be notified that 

the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors will appoint him or her to a new term.10 

 

The events causing a vacancy before the expiration of a Director’s term are set forth in 

California Water Code Section 71250.5 and California Government Code Section 1770. 

Procedures contained in the California Government Code allow a vacancy to be filled by 

appointment by the remaining Board, or by election, or by appointment by the Los Angeles 

County Board of Supervisors.11 

 

2.3. Board of Directors – Organization 

At a Boardits first meeting in Decemberin the month of January of each-odd-numbered year, 

the Board shall elect one of its members President to carry a two-year term commencing each 

odd-numbered year and the one-time option to extend the term by one year.  The term of the 

Board President shall generally be two years, but may be extended by the Board for an 

additional year.  At its first Board meeting in DecemberJanuary of each year, the Board of 

Directors elects from among its members a President (if required that year), Vice-President, 

Secretary, and Treasurer.12 Roles and responsibilities of these officers are as follows: 

 

President:  The President presides over all public meetings as well as all workshops workshops.  

The President is responsible for ensuringand ensures all proper parliamentary procedures are 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 4 

 

followed during all public meetings and workshops.  The President shall serve as the 

spokesperson for the District.  The President signs contracts binding on the District as well as 

all board-approved resolutions, ordinances and minutes.  The President signs all District 

checks. 

 

Vice President:  The Vice President carries out the duties and responsibilities of the President 

when the President is not available to perform those duties. 

 

Secretary:  The Secretary is responsible for signing all board-approved resolutions and 

ordinances. 

 

Treasurer:  The Treasurer is responsible for reviewing the District’s financial institution 

statements on a monthly basis and reconcile the statements to the monthly reports prepared by 

staff. 

 

The Board of Directors’ selects or confirms District representatives to the following: 

 

(1)  Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MWD) and the  

(2) San Gabriel Valley Basin Water Quality Authority (WQA), the latter of which) – selected 

representative serves a four-year term designated by resolution.  

a. The representative/alternate members of these two Boards serve at the pleasure of 

the Three Valleys Board of Directors.   

 

Following the election of officers, the Board of Directors shall appoint District representatives 

to the following: 

 

(1)  Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster,  

(2) Chino Basin Watermaster and  

(3) Six Basins Watermaster.  

 

AllAdditionally, the current Board Members serve on the TVMWD Financing Corporation.   

 

Members of the Board of Directors may also be appointed as the District’s 

representative/alternate to observe at other organizations, which shall be listed and approved 

by the Board of Directors. All assignments are for the calendar year and begin on January 1. 

The Board President may defer action on appointing representatives / alternates for up to 60 

days. Predecessors will serve in their assigned role as representative or alternate until replaced. 

  

2.4. Board of Directors - Public Meetings 

Regular Board meetings are generally held on the first and third Wednesday of each month at 

8:00 a.m. at the District Headquarters, 1021 E. Miramar Avenue, Claremont, California.  

 

The District’s meetings of the Board of Directors are subject to the requirements of the Ralph 

M. Brown Act.13 To clarify and supplement the Brown Act and to ensure that the Board’s 

deliberations and the District’s operations are open to the public to the full extent permitted by 

law, the Board originally adopted Ordinance No. 3-01-8, superseded by Ordinance No. 13-04-

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +

Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25"

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +

Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.25",  No bullets or

numbering

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 5 

 

20 and most recently amended it with Ordinance No. 21-02-22 (aka Sunshine Ordinance). 

 

Robert’s Rules of Order provide guidance for the conduct of the Board’s business except where 

otherwise provided by resolution, law, order, or motion of the District. The Board President 

will rule on all matters of procedure, with the advice of legal counsel. 

 

Except as set forth in California Government Code Section 54954.2, the Board of Directors 

will only consider items placed on the public agenda for each Board meeting. During its 

meetings, the Board of Directors may go into a closed session to discuss confidential personnel 

matters, labor negotiations, possible litigation, or matters related to attorney-client privilege.  

The President or a majority of the Board of Directors may call a Special Board Meeting. 

 

District legal counsel attends meetings as requested by the Board of Directors or the General 

Manager. All legal counsel directives shall go through the Board of Directors or the General 

Manager. The General Manager may delegate to other employees the authority to request legal 

counsel for certain routine matters, such as review of contracts and agreements. 

 

2.5. Board of Directors - Norms of Conduct and Communication 

2.5.1. Personal Conduct: The work of the District is a team effort.  All individuals should 

work together in the collaborative process, assisting each other in conducting the 

affairs of the District.  Directors shall thoroughly prepare themselves to discuss 

agenda items at meetings of the Board of Directors. Directors shall, at all times, 

conduct themselves with courtesy to each other, to staff and to members of the 

audience present at Board meetings.  Directors shall defer to the Board President 

for conduct of meetings of the Board, but shall be free to question and discuss items 

on the agenda.  All comments should be brief and confined to the matter being 

discussed by the Board.  Directors may request for inclusion into minutes brief 

comments pertinent to an agenda item, only at the meeting that item is discussed 

(including, if desired, a position on abstention or dissenting vote). When responding 

to requests and concerns from Member Agencies and other customers, Directors 

should be courteous, responding to individuals in a positive manner and routing 

their questions through appropriate channels and to responsible management 

personnel.  Directors should develop a working relationship with the General 

Manager wherein current issues, concerns and District projects can be discussed 

comfortably and openly.  Directors should function as a part of the whole.  Issues 

should be brought to the attention of the Board as a whole, rather than to individual 

members selectively.  Directors are responsible for monitoring the District’s 

progress in attaining its goals and objectives, while pursuing its mission. 

2.5.2. Conflicts of Interest: The Board of Directors has adopted a Conflict of Interest 

Code, as required by the California Political Reform Act of 1974, as amended.14 

This Code sets guidelines for the Directors’ disclosure of their economic interests 

to meet requirements of State law.  Additionally, Directors shall abstain from 

participating in consideration of any item involving a prohibited conflict of interest.  

Unless such a conflict of interest exists, however, Directors should not abstain from 

the Board’s decision-making responsibilities. 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 6 

 

2.5.3. Campaign Disclosures: District Board members and employees shall not accept, 

solicit, or direct a political contribution from (a) existing District vendors, 

consultants, or contractors, or (b) vendors, consultants, or contractors who have a 

financial interest in a contract or other matter while that contract or other matter is 

pending before the District. 

The District shall not enter into a contract with a proposed vendor, consultant, or 

contractor who has made a political contribution to or at the behest of a District 

Board member or employee. 

 

To ensure full transparency in these matters, the District will request disclosure 

requirements in its bid processes that will obligate a potential vendor, consultant, 

or contractor to disclose any material financial relationship they may have or may 

have had with a District Board member or employee that includes, but is not limited 

to, payment of a salary or commission and/or donation to his or her political 

campaign. 

 

 

2.5.4. Communication of Views and Positions: The Board of Directors is committed to 

providing excellence in leadership and the highest quality of service to its member 

agencies and customers. 

2.5.5. The Board of Directors shall observe the following:  

a.  The dignity, style, values and opinions of each Director shall be respected. 

Responsiveness and attentive listening in communication is encouraged. 

b.  The needs of the public and the District’s Member Agencies and other customers 

should be the priority of the Board of Directors. 

c.  Directors should commit themselves to emphasizing the positive, avoiding double 

talk, hidden agendas, gossip, backbiting and other negative forms of interaction. 

d.  Directors commit themselves to focusing on issues and not personalities.   The 

presentation of the opinions of others should be encouraged. Cliques and voting 

blocs based on personalities rather than issues will be avoided. 

 

e.  Differing viewpoints are healthy in the decision-making process. Individuals have 

the right to disagree with ideas and opinions, in a constructive and forthright 

manner. Once the Board of Directors takes action, Directors should commit to 

support said action and not create barriers to the implementation of said action. 

 

2.5.6. Involvement in Elections: The District does not contribute funds directly or 

indirectly to candidates for elected public office [Government Code Section 

3205(a)]. Furthermore, the District prohibits any political activity of officers or 

employees of the District during working hours or on the premises of the District 

[Government Code Section 3207]. 

2.5.7. Board Discipline: In the exercise of its discretion, the District’s Board of Directors, 

by affirmative vote of five (5) of its members, may censure any of its members for 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 7 

 

a period of time deemed appropriate by said super majority of the Board of 

Directors.  Unless otherwise prohibited by law, the maximum penalty that may be 

imposed upon the censured Director by said supermajority of the Board of Directors 

during the period of such censure shall be the following: 

a. The suspension of all spending of District funds by the censured Director and of all 

reimbursement from District funds of any costs incurred by the censured Director, 

unless otherwise allowed by the Board of Directors. 

b. The removal of the censured Director from service on all committees and other 

assignments on behalf of the District and/or the Board of Directors, unless 

subsequently authorized by the Board of Directors and/or the President of the Board 

of Directors. 

c. The withholding of all compensation by the District to the censured Director except 

as otherwise allowed for attending meetings of the District’s Board of Directors 

and other meetings subsequently authorized by the Board of Directors and/or 

President of the Board of Directors. 

d. The withholding of all or some of the benefits provided by the District to the 

censured director as determined by the Board of Directors. 

2.5.8. Miscellaneous 

a. The District shall not purchase alcoholic beverages for consumption at meetings of 

the Board, or functions sponsored by the District. 

b. Directors will be expected to maintain proper decorum and comportment while 

representing the District. 

c. Subject to California Government Code Section 89001 and Section 18901 of Title 

2 of the California Code of Regulations, Directors may use District letterhead for 

routine correspondence as a normal part of their duties, but are restricted from 

representing the Board of Directors or from using staff time excessively on all other 

matters without prior approval by the Board of Directors in an open session. The 

following guidelines shall apply: 

 

1) Letterhead may not be used for partisan activities or positions or in connection 

with a director’s outside employment. 

2) All correspondence will be prepared for a Director by District staff, and a copy 

will be placed in the next regular Board packet. 

d. If Directors or staff has any question whether the correspondence is routine, it 

should be submitted to the full Board of Directors for prior approval. The following 

examples are guidelines for this policy: 

 

1) Board Approval Required:  If District letterhead is used to express opinions or 

positions on which the Board of Directors has not taken an official position, or 

has an opposing position to that of the Board member, the letter/memo must 

state that the position expressed is his/her individual position and does not 

reflect the official position of the Board of Directors, and a copy must be 

provided to the Board of Directors for their information prior to mailing the 

letter/memo out. In addition, if letter/memo subject matter requires excessive 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 8 

 

use of staff time prior approval is required. 

2) Board Approval Not Required:  If the letter/memo expresses or requests 

support/opposition to actions in accordance with a Board adopted position; 

merely makes an inquiry or requests information on a District related matter; 

may respond to an inquiry or invitation to participate in a District related 

activity. In addition, approval is not required for thank you letters. 

e. Directors may be provided computer tablet or like devices to conduct District 

business. Use of these devices shall be limited to District business and any use 

thereof may be subject to disclosure under the Brown Act and/or Public Records 

Act.  

 

2.6. Board of Directors - Orientation Meeting 

Following the certification of the general election, staff will schedule an orientation with any 

newly elected Director, or any Director who is re-elected with a lapse of four years or greater. 

The purpose of the orientation will be to review, but not limited to, the following:  The Ralph 

M. Brown Act, Robert’s Rules of Orders, Conflicts of Interest, Directors’ Compensation, 

Directors Travel and Reimbursement, a general review of Board Policies, Ethical behavior and 

conduct. Additionally, a facility tour will be scheduled to share information regarding 

TVMWD’s operations and projects that are underway. 

 

2.6.1. District of Distinction 

TVMWD was originally awarded the District of Distinction designation by California 

Special Districts Leadership Foundation during 2014; this designation is recertified every 

three years. In order to maintain this designation all newly elected Directors are required 

to complete six hours of Governance training. Staff will work with newly elected Directors 

during the first quarter following their installation to coordinate this required training. 

 

2.7. Board of Directors - Compensation  

Pursuant to California Water Code, Section 20200 et seq., Three Valleys Municipal Water 

District has limited its compensation each Director shall receive as permitted by State law in 

an amount not to exceed $200 per day for each day’s attendance at meetings of the Board of 

Directors and Board authorized agency or committee meetings, and water related meetings, 

seminars and workshops which the Board of Directors determines are of benefit to the District, 

or for each day’s service rendered as a Director that has a substantial relationship to the 

District’s purpose (Ordinance No. 2-07-15 adopted on February 21, 2007), not exceeding a 

total of ten (10) days in any calendar month (Ordinance No 2-01-7 adopted on February 7, 

2001).15  

 

2.7.1. For purposes of determining eligibility for compensation, the term “meeting” as 

used herein is defined as a meeting reasonably necessary to further the interests of 

the District and its projects that afford an opportunity for Directors to discuss many 

issues informally with other agencies and leaders in the community and achieving 

a goal of maintaining consistent, effective and open channels of communication 

with other entities, including the following: 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 9 

 

a. Any occurrence that is listed in Government Code Section 53232.1(a): 

1) A regular, special, or emergency meeting of the Board; 

2) A meeting of a standing, ad hoc, or advisory committee of the Board; 

3) A conference, seminar, or organized educational activity involving matters 

related to functions and operations of the District. 

b. Other occurrences: 

1) Any meeting of an agency where the District has appointed a specific 

representative. 

2) Conference calls to discuss matters related to the functions and operations of 

the District. 

3) Any other meetings determined by the Board to be reasonably necessary in 

furthering the interests of the District. 

2.7.2. Compensation for a day of service will be permitted on the day before and/or the 

day after a meeting or conference if circumstances required the Director to travel 

on the day before and/or after. 

2.7.3. Meetings must be relevant to the District and constituents the Director is elected to 

serve. 

a. Fundraising and other campaign type events for state-level and federal-level 

campaigns for elected officials are not compensable. 

2.7.4. To receive compensation for attendance or participation at approved meetings, a 

Board member shall:  

a. Submit their expense reports for the preceding calendar month to the District’s 

General Manager or designee by the fourth calendar day following the end of the 

month.   

b. Directors may list compensated and non-compensated meetings, but will only 

receive compensation on meetings as listed above in Section 2.7. 

c. Provide a brief written report justifying how the meeting was reasonably necessary 

to further the interests of the District. Include descriptive information such as other 

TVMWD directors in attendance, name of person(s) the meeting was with and 

agency or organization affiliation. 

d. Directors are expected to be on time for each meeting and participate for the entire 

duration of each meeting, unless an emergency or unexpected situation requires the 

Director to arrive late or leave the meeting early.  

e. Request compensation for each meeting at $200. 

The Board will consider approval of compensation at the monthly Board meeting 

the following month. 

 

2.7.5. If a Director is unable to attend a meeting for which they have been appointed to 

represent the District, they are to notify staff in a timely manner to contact the 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 10 

 

designated alternate to attend. The WQA, Chino Basin Watermaster and Six Basins' 

alternate representatives are expected to attend meetings of those agencies 

regularly.   

2.7.6. The TVMWD Director serving as an MWD Director, may receive compensation 

for each day’s attendance at meetings of the MWD Board and committees, in the 

same amount and upon the same terms as is provided with respect to service on the 

Board of Directors of the District.16  

2.7.7. Compensation is not to exceed a total of ten (10) days in any calendar month. Where 

two (2) or more meetings, including meetings of MWD and the District, occur on 

the same day, it shall count as one day’s service for purposes of compensation.  

Miscellaneous expense reimbursement requests of the MWD Director should be 

made to MWD.  

2.8. Board of Directors – Reimbursement 

The District shall reimburse Board members for costs incurred related to attendance or 

participation at meetings as defined in section 2.7.4, as provided herein. 

2.8.1. Eligible Expenses: Expenses eligible for reimbursement shall be limited to: 

a.  Registration costs, or other charges for participation at the meeting; 

b. Transportation to and from the meeting, including airfare, car rental, or mileage for 

use of a Board member’s own automobile, and other miscellaneous transportation 

costs (shuttle, taxi, train, Uber, Lyft, parking, etc.). 

c. Lodging at the single-room rate; and 

d. Reasonable costs of meals (see section 2.8.3 d). 

 

2.8.2. Budget Limits: The maximum amount of District-paid expenses that each Board 

member may annually incur without separate prior Board approval is $7,500 each 

fiscal year (Resolution No. 18-04-823, adopted April 18, 2018).  

 

2.8.3. Reimbursement Rate: 

a. Registration and Meeting Charges  

The District reimbursement rate for registration or other charges for participation 

at a meeting shall be the actual amount incurred, not to exceed the maximum rate 

published by the conference or activity sponsor or timely registration after applying 

all applicable deductions for any available discounts. Registration and meeting 

charges incurred by the District shall be reflected on a monthly status report issued 

to each Board member. In the event that a Board member must withdraw from a 

conference or activity after registration and payment has been made, and a refund 

or credit may not be obtained from the organizing group or agency, the expense 

will be charged against the Board members annual budget limit of $7,500. 

However, if a credit may be obtained and applied by the District for a future 

conference or activity of the same type or by the same organization, the expense 

account of the Board member will not be debited until such time that the credit is 

applied or expires, if applicable. 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 11 

 

  

Directors are encouraged to work with assigned staff to coordinate registration at 

all meetings to ensure consistency, as well as to ensure that all applicable discounts 

are applied. It is important to register within the prescribed deadlines as a courtesy 

to those outside entities planning the events. Requests to attend an event after a 

prescribed deadline passes will be the sole responsibility of the director, including 

any related costs, which may be submitted for reimbursement with proper 

documentation on the monthly expense report. Directors may not direct outside 

entities to bill the District for events they have attended without working through 

the District first. 

 

Directors are encouraged to utilize payment administered by the Executive 

Assistant when registering for conferences and events.  If a Director pre-registers 

and pays for the conference or event on their own, reimbursement for that expense 

will not be considered until the reimbursement form is submitted the month 

following the conference or event. 

 

b. Transportation 

1) Members of the Board must use government and group rates offered by a 

provider of transportation services for travel when available. If such rates are 

not available, the reimbursement rate for Board member transportation shall be 

the actual amount incurred, not to exceed the cost of round-trip coach air fare. 

2) Reasonable private vehicle expenses are reimbursable up to the cost of coach 

airfare and the attendant cost of ground transportation. Vehicle versus airfare 

costs are expected to be documented to verify reimbursement is the most 

economical.  A Board member may not appropriate a District vehicle solely for 

his or her own individual use as a means of transportation to conferences or 

seminars. Mileage reimbursement shall be given when personal vehicles are 

used for District business. The District reimbursement rate for mileage by use 

of a Board member’s own vehicle shall be calculated on the basis of total miles 

driven for District purposes at the rate specified in the Internal Revenue Code 

in effect at the time of the vehicle usage. Mileage will only be reimbursed for 

meetings approved for compensation as outlined in Section 2.7. 

 

3) The District reimbursement rate for vehicle parking by a Board member shall 

be the actual amount incurred. 

 

4) If an alternative private aircraft is used in lieu of commercial air travel, written 

documentation of actual cost incurred by the director must be provided along 

with comparison of the lowest commercial air charges. If additional 

supplemental ground transportation such as taxi or shuttle would normally be 

required to reach the destination, these charges may be included at the lowest 

rate for comparison purposes. All efforts should be exercised to obtain 

comparison rates at least 21 days prior to scheduled travel date to obtain the 

lowest rates. The latest comparison date permitted will coincide with the latest 

published RSVP date for any scheduled event and/or conference. Note: if there 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 12 

 

is no direct cost to the Director for the alternate private aircraft, the expense is 

not subject to reimbursement, and, may be subject to gift limitations and filing 

on the annual Form 700-Statement of Economic Interest form. 

 

c. Lodging 

Members of the Board must use government and group rates offered by a provider 

of lodging services when available. If the lodging is in connection with an accepted 

conference or organized educational activity, lodging costs must not exceed the 

maximum group rate published by the conference or activity sponsor, provided that 

lodging at the group rate is available to the member of the Board at the time of 

booking.  If a government or group rate is not available, the District reimbursement 

rate for Board member lodging shall be the actual amount incurred, not to exceed 

the rate for comparable lodging. No reimbursement requests will be approved for 

lodging expenses incurred within the District’s service area. However, lodging 

costs will be paid by the District under the following circumstances: 

 

1) The Board member is attending a conference or other qualifying function held 

more than 50 miles from their home;  OR 

a. Lodging for the night before will be reimbursed if the Board member would 

have needed to leave their home before 6am; 

b. Lodging for the night of will be reimbursed if the Board member would 

have arrived home that night after 7pm. 

 

Lodging requests not covered by this section will not be reimbursed, except upon 

authorization of the Board given at a public meeting. Actual and reasonable lodging 

expenses will be reimbursed only for authorized personnel and as such will not be 

reimbursed for guests or family members of the authorized personnel. Where 

reasonably possible, lodging will be obtained in proximity to the conference or 

function site. In most cases, lodging should be arranged and paid for through the 

District. With adequate notice, staff is able to arrange for prepayment of authorized 

charges via the District credit card. Staff will be unable to acquire any lodging for 

events that are requested after the prescribed RSVP deadline has passed. 

 

2) At some conference venues, a Director may have access to alternate lodging 

due to the availability of time shares, a secondary residence, etc. 

Reimbursement for any alternate lodging is limited to the cost of scheduled 

actual conference lodging costs or the lesser of the two venues. Documentation 

in the form of a receipt paid for alternate lodging must be provided to receive 

reimbursement. 

 

d. Meals 

The District reimbursement rate for Board member meals shall be the actual amount 

incurred, not to exceed $100.00 per day’s service. The District does not pay for or 

reimburse for alcoholic beverages.  When the District pays for meals, which are 

included in a conference/seminar registration packet, outside meals will not be 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 13 

 

reimbursed. 

  

1) Gift Acceptance 

On occasion at different events and/or conferences, a Director may be extended an 

invitation to a meal function. These meal functions, when not part of the paid 

conference or event, may be subject to gift disclosure requirements on an individual 

Form 700 Statement of Economic Interest form if the amount of the dinner exceeds 

$50. The meal host (district vendor, consultant) should be asked to provide written 

documentation that includes an itemization of items consumed. In the case of hosted 

alcoholic beverages shared by many (e.g. bottle of wine), the cost of the beverage 

may be prorated by the total number of guests at the meal function. Alternately, 

TVMWD will accept this invitation under the guidance of FPPC Form 801 – 

Payment to agency and complete the required documentation in accordance with 

the supplemental TVMWD Gift Acceptance policy. If TVMWD completes and 

files a Form 801, individuals are not required to include the information on their 

annual Form 700. 

2) Distribution of Tickets and Passes 

 

In compliance with the Fair Political Practices Commission Regulation Section 

18944.1, when complimentary tickets or passes are conveyed to a Director to attend 

an event that normally would have been paid for, TVMWD will complete and file 

FPPC Form 802 – Ceremonial Role Events and Ticket / Pass Distribution. If 

TVMWD completes and files a Form 802, individuals are not required to include 

the information on their annual Form 700, in accordance with the supplemental 

TVMWD Distribution of Tickets and Passes policy. 

 

e. Other  

District reimbursement of all other actual and necessary expenses incurred by a 

Board member shall be computed using the applicable Internal Revenue Service 

rates for reimbursement as established in Publication 463, or any successor 

publication.  All expenses that do not fall within this reimbursement policy or the 

Internal Revenue Service reimbursable rates, as provided above, shall be approved 

by the Board in a public meeting before the expense is incurred. If the Board 

member chooses to incur additional costs that are above the rates established herein, 

and those costs have not been approved by the Board in a public meeting before the 

expense is incurred, then the Board member may do so at his or her own expense. 

 

2.8.4. Ineligible Expenses: The District will not advance cash to a director.  Directors will 

not be issued District credit cards or car allowances. Board members shall not be 

eligible for District reimbursement of any expenses incurred by any person 

traveling or attending a meeting as a guest of the Board member. Any expenses 

related to meetings not approved by the Board will be deducted from the Director’s 

compensation and reimbursement payment. Gratuity exceeding 15% of the subtotal 

will be ineligible for reimbursement. 

 

2.8.5. Expense Forms: The District shall provide expense report forms to be filed by the 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 14 

 

members of the Board for reimbursement of actual and necessary expenses incurred 

on behalf of the District in the performance of official duties. The expense reports 

shall document that expenses meet the policy reflected in this document for the 

expenditure of public resources.  Board members shall submit their expense reports 

to the District’s General Manager or designee for the preceding calendar month by 

the fourth calendar day following the end of the month. All reports shall be 

accompanied by the original, itemized receipts for ancillary expenses such as meals, 

parking, etc.  Costs that normally would not have a receipt (i.e. tips) should be 

documented on the expense report. Otherwise, missing receipts will not be 

reimbursed. Approval of Director expenses for the preceding month will be 

included on the agenda of the Board meeting held on the third Wednesday of each 

month. All documents related to reimbursable District expenditures are public 

records subject to disclosure under the California Public Records Act. 

 

 

 

2.9. Board of Directors - Ethics Training 

2.9.1. Requirement: 

a. Elected Officials 

AB1234 was chaptered in 2005, effective January 1, 2006, and requires all elected 

officials shall receive ethics training within one year of taking office and every two 

years thereafter. TVMWD holds biennial training during the first quarter of odd years 

to meet this requirement for its elected officials.  

b. Staff     

TVMWD requires that all regular employees complete ethics training within one year 

of hire and every two years thereafter. TVMWD holds biennial training during the first 

quarter of odd years to meet this requirement for its employees. TVMWD may assign 

Target Solutions ethics training to any employee that is hired during the off-training 

cycle to insure compliance with this law. 

 

2.9.2. Application: 

Local Agency Official: As used in Section 2.9.1, the term “local agency official” 

means all of the following: 

 

a. All Board members; and 

b. All executive staff of the District. 

 

Ethics Laws: As used in Section 2.9.1, the phrase “ethics laws” includes, but is not 

limited to, the following: 

  

a. Laws relating to personal financial gain by public servants, including, but not 

limited to, laws prohibiting bribery and conflict-of- interest laws; 

b. Laws relating to claiming perquisites of office, including, but not limited to, gift 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 15 

 

and travel restrictions, prohibitions against the use of public resources for 

personal or political purposes, prohibitions against gifts of public funds, mass 

mailing restrictions, and prohibitions against acceptance of free or discounted 

transportation by transportation companies; 

c. Government transparency laws, including, but not limited to, financial interest 

disclosure requirements and open government laws; and 

d. Laws relating to fair processes, including, but not limited to, common law bias 

prohibitions, due process requirements, incompatible offices, competitive 

bidding requirements for public contracts, and disqualification from 

participating in decisions affecting family members. 

  

2.9.3. District Responsibilities 

Records: The District shall maintain records indicating (a) the dates that local 

agency officials satisfied the requirements of Section 2.9 and (b) the entity that 

provided the training.  The District shall maintain these records for at least five 

years after local agency officials receive the training.  These records are public 

records subject to disclosure under the California Public Records Act. 

 

Notice: The District is required to provide information on training available to meet 

the requirements of Section 2.9 to its local agency officials at least once annually. 

 

2.10. Board of Directors – Workplace Harassment Training 

 

2.10.1. Requirement 

a. Elected Officials 

Effective January 1, 2017, new legislation (AB1661) clarifies an elected officials’ 

responsibility to complete this training. Within six months of taking office an 

elected official must complete this training. Thereafter, each Board member must 

participate in such training at least once every two years.  

b. Supervisory Staff.  

All district staff must participate in the District’s program of providing at least two 

hours of classroom or other effective interactive training and education regarding 

workplace harassment no later than six months from their first day of service with 

the District. Thereafter, each district staff member must participate in such training 

at least once every two years.  

c. Biennial Training 

During the first quarter of odd years, following the General Election, TVMWD will 

provide training to elected officials and district staff. TVMWD will utilize Target 

Solutions for interim training for district staff. 

 

2.10.2. District Responsibilities  

The training and education required by Section 2.10 shall include information and practical 

guidance regarding the federal and state statutory provisions concerning the prohibition 

against and the prevention and correction of workplace harassment and the remedies 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 16 

 

available to victims of workplace harassment in employment. The training and education 

shall also include practical examples aimed at instructing District supervisors in the 

prevention of harassment, discrimination, and retaliation, and shall be presented by trainers 

and educators with knowledge and expertise in the prevention of harassment, 

discrimination, and retaliation. 

 

2.11. Board of Directors – Governance/Management Connection 

With the exception of the Board’s relationship with General Counsel, the Board’s sole official 

connection to the operational organization, its achievements and conduct will be through a 

chief executive officer, titled General Manager. The Water Code states that the General 

Manager has “full charge and control” of the District’s system, subject to Board approval 

(Section 71362). The District’s definition of “full charge and control” includes technical 

aspects such as construction, operations, repair and maintenance, and engineering; as well as 

day-to-day administrative functions such as accounting, billing, and financial services; and 

management functions over employees, suppliers and consultants. The definition also includes 

the General Manager’s ability to accomplish these functions, and their accountability for them. 

 The primary, binding authority with respect to the General Manager’s role and responsibilities 

is stated in California Water Code Sections 71362 and 71363. Consistent with that foundational 

policy, several important policy concepts are highlighted in this and subsequent sections. 

 

Only officially passed ordinances, resolutions, and motions of the Board are binding on the 

General Manager except in rare instances when the Board has specifically authorized such 

exercise of authority. In initiating communication with District staff, Directors should 

generally contact the General Manager.  In the absence of the General Manager, Directors may 

contact the appropriate management staff member to obtain the requested assistance. Any 

Board member requests that require substantial work must come to the Board for direction. 

 

The General Manager is the Board’s only link to operational achievement and conduct, so that 

all authority and accountability of staff, as far as the Board is concerned, is considered the 

authority and accountability of the General Manager. The Board, as a whole, will not give 

direction to a person who reports directly or indirectly to the General Manager. The Board as 

a whole will not evaluate, either formally or informally, any staff other than the General 

Manager. The Board will evaluate the General Manager performance qualitatively, using as 

guidelines the General Manager’s stated annual objectives. Adjustments in the General 

Manager’s remuneration or contract will be consistent with the Board’s evaluation of 

performance and achievement of stated objectives. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. GENERAL MANAGER AND STAFF 

 

3.1. General Policy 

The General Manager will ensure that conditions for the employees are maintained and 

conducted in a fair, dignified and organized manner.  Also, the General Manager may not: 

 

3.1.1. Operate without written personnel rules which: (a) clarify rules for staff, (b) provide 

for effective handling of grievances, and (c) protect against wrongful conditions, 

such as grossly preferential treatment for personal reasons. 

3.1.2. Retaliate against any staff member for non-disruptive expression of dissent. 

3.1.3. Fail to acquaint staff with the rules and his/her interpretation of their protections 

and responsibilities under this policy. 

 

3.2. General Manager Authority - Limits Set by Board 

Within guidelines set by state law, District policy establishing the responsibilities and 

authority of the General Manager and the responsibilities reserved for the Board of 

Directors is set forth by Resolution 17-10-811, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

3.3. Safety 

The District will maintain a safety program to ensure the protection of the public, 

contractors and staff from injury and illnesses. The program shall comply with applicable 

federal and state laws. 

 

3.4. Loyalty Oath 

In accordance with the Government Code 3100 et seq. all public employees are classified 

as “disaster service workers” and are required to take a public employee oath upon hire. 

Failure to subscribe to the oath will null and void the offer of employment by the District. 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 18 

 

The Code states that all disaster service workers shall, before they enter upon the duties of 

their employment, take and subscribe to the oath.17  

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 19 

 

  

4. WATER PLANNING AND SUPPLY 

 

4.1. General Policy 

In the pursuit of its mission, the TVMWD Board of Directors has articulated some 

objectives related to water planning and supply. These objectives form the general water 

planning and supply policy of the District:  

 

4.1.1. Assure an adequate, safe and reliable supply of imported and local water that meets 

the needs of our customer agencies. 

4.1.2. Provide leadership in addressing and resolving water supply, water quality and 

infrastructure issues affecting water agencies in the District’s service area and 

region. Serve as collaborator, facilitator, and integrator of the interests of water 

agencies and other stakeholders within the District’s service area and region. 

4.1.3. Prepare and implement long range plans that meet District and member needs, 

while distributing the benefits and costs equitably. 

 

4.2. Water Management Plan 

In accordance with State law, the District prepares an Urban Water Management Plan as a 

comprehensive assessment and description of the District’s ultimate needs for water and 

plan for the provision of related facilities and water management actions. The content and 

development process of the Plan shall be consistent with, but may surpass, the elements 

prescribed by the Urban Water Management Planning Act.18  

 

4.3. Water Quality 

Drinking water provided by the District shall be of the highest quality possible at a 

reasonable cost, but shall at no time violate any adopted federal or state primary or 

secondary drinking water standard. 

 

Drinking water quality may sometimes be protected effectively at the source, or in the 

watershed from which it is withdrawn for human use. Therefore, it is the policy of Three 

Valleys Municipal Water District to promote the protection and, when appropriate, the 

enhancement or restoration of watershed and groundwater resources of the region. 

 

4.4. Water Use Efficiency, Public Outreach & Water Conservation 

The District actively promotes the achievement of a high level of efficiency by all types of 

retail water users, by supporting water conservation planning and project implementation 

at the regional and local levels.  Also, the District will endeavor to maintain an active and 

comprehensive approach in its outreach efforts by participating in a wide variety of 

activities throughout the service area.  

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 20 

 

  

5. CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 

 

5.1. Service Connections 

It is the District’s policy to facilitate the construction of new imported water connections 

as needed.  The approval, design, and construction of new service connections to 

Metropolitan Water District (MWD) facilities shall comply with applicable sections of 

MWD’s Administrative Code.  The District shall be responsible for all approvals, design, 

and construction of new service connections to District-owned facilities.  Although the 

District may consider appropriate funding arrangements, such as funds from state or federal 

grants or loans, in collaboration with the benefiting agency(ies), the cost of design and 

construction is the responsibility of the local agencies in proportion to their benefit. 

 

5.2. System Maintenance and Repairs 

District policy is to plan, budget money for, and implement a thorough program of 

maintenance and repair for all District facilities, to achieve the goal of keeping all 

equipment, machinery, and processes in good working order. 

 

5.3. Other Capital Improvements 

The District may undertake the design and construction of capital improvements that 

provide regional water resource or water quality benefit.  The costs of such projects may 

be shared with those directly benefiting from the project or may be wholly included in the 

District’s budget.  Funding may be rate-based, from grants or other outside sources. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 21 

 

 

6. FINANCIAL INTEGRITY 

 

6.1. General Policy 

Consistent with District policies established herein, the General Manager as the Chief 

Executive Officer of the District shall ensure that Three Valleys Municipal Water District 

meets all laws, regulations, and sound financial management practices. 

 

6.2. Annual Budget 

The General Manager shall annually prepare and follow a budget in which anticipated 

expenses do not exceed anticipated revenues. Budget preparation will include ample 

consultation with member agencies, before its approval by the Board of Directors. 

  

6.3. Rates, Charges, Assessments and Penalties 

The Board of Directors shall set rates, charges, assessments and penalties in accordance 

with its mission, state law, and prudent fiscal management practices.  Invoices for water 

deliveries shall be done on a monthly basis.  Invoices shall be mailed no later than the 

twelfth (12th) working day of the month following the month in which water was delivered.  

The invoice shall indicate the mailing date (invoice date), the month for which the charges 

were incurred, the total amount of water delivered for each class of service, and the total 

amount of charges and water delivered.  Payment of the amount shown on such invoices 

shall be due in the month following mailing and shall be delinquent if not received by the 

Chief Finance Officer (CFO) of the District before the close of crediting activity five (5) 

business days prior to the last business day of the month following such date of mailing.  

The term “business day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday.  

The term “received by the CFO” shall mean receipt either (1) at the District headquarters 

or (2) by crediting to the District’s general demand account at the office of the District’s 

bank in such form that the funds are immediately available for investment or other use or 

disposal by the District. The term “close of crediting activity” shall mean either (1) 2:00 

p.m. if payment is delivered to the Office of the CFO of District headquarters, or (2) the 

cutoff time for crediting by the District’s bank of the day’s transactions if payment is 

initiated by wire transfer, inter-branch transfer, direct deposit, or by other means pursuant 

to advance agreement with the CFO.  In the event that a mistake is discovered in a District 

water sales record, the General Manager shall initiate appropriate corrective action, except 

that no mistake made more than five (5) years prior to its discovery shall be corrected. If 

an incorrect invoice has been issued to a member agency, the General Manager shall notify 

the affected agency of any adjustment and the manner of making any required credit or 

charge, neither of which shall bear interest. All invoices are due and payable as described 

and any dispute concerning the amount due should be filed with the District immediately.  

In the event any member agency shall be delinquent in the payment for water delivered by 

the District, or through an MWD connection, and/or other charges levied, an additional 

charge equal to two (2) percent of such delinquent payment for each month or portion 

thereof (days delinquent divided by 30) that such payment remains delinquent shall be 

assessed, and the member agency shall pay such charge to the District in addition to the 

amount of such delinquent payment. Notwithstanding the above, if the total period of 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 22 

 

delinquency does not exceed five (5) business days, the additional charge shall be equal to 

one (1) percent of such delinquent payment.  Invoices for delinquencies including 

additional charges shall be mailed not later than the tenth day of each month.  In the event 

that any member agency shall be delinquent for more than thirty (30) days in the payment 

for water, such delinquency shall be reported by the General Manager to the Board of 

Directors at its next meeting.  The Board of Directors, in its discretion and upon such other 

conditions as it may prescribe after giving the member agency a reasonable opportunity to 

be heard, may order the termination of service to such member agency until all delinquent 

payments, including additional charges, is made to the District, or the Board of Directors 

may authorize such other actions as may be legally available to effect collection. 

 

6.4. Reserves 

The District will maintain sufficient revenue to meet its operating expenses, debt service 

and depreciation expenses and hold cash and/or other investments in reserve. Reserves will 

be segregated into various funds for specified purposes according to the District’s 

Investment Policy and in compliance with state and federal laws. They will include 

committed reserves for specific, ongoing capital projects, non-spendable reserves invested 

in capital assets, restricted reserves for debt service, and assigned reserve funds made up 

of the following Board designated categories: 

 

Board Elections Opportunity Employee Benefits 

 Emergency Capital Investment 

Program 

Water Rate Stabilization 

 

 Board Election  Opportunity 

Employee Benefit   

6.5. Investment of Funds 

Funds accumulated temporarily by the District to finance planned improvements, along 

with operating reserve funds, are invested in instruments and accounts as allowed by the 

California Government Code and in conformance with adopted District investment 

policy.19 Management of non-cash investments shall be administered by a competitive 

investment manager. Custody of the investments shall be administered by a competitive 

investment manager. 

 

The General Manager shall render an annual statement of investment policy to the Board 

of Directors.  The General Manager shall also render a quarterly report to the Board of 

Directors showing the type of investment, date of maturity, amount of deposit, and current 

market value for all securities with a maturity of more than twelve (12) months, and the 

rate of interest.  

 

6.6. Risk Management 

The District will identify, analyze and implement reasonable techniques to protect against 

the adverse financial effects of accidental losses, including the purchasing of insurance, 

contractual transfer, exposure avoidance and retention of unfunded reserves. 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 23 

 

6.7. Audit 

The District will contract with a reputable public accounting firm to conduct an annual 

audit of its financial activities using a Certified Public Accountant familiar with the 

operations of a municipal water district in California. The audit will be made available for 

review by member agencies and the public and will comply with the Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles (GAAP) in addition to state and federal law.  

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 24 

 

7. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 

7.1. General Policy 

It is the policy and desire of the Board of Directors that the public is kept adequately 

informed as to District activities, thus promoting public confidence in the District. 

 

7.2. Public Information and Education 

The District endeavors to inform and educate its various “stakeholders” on general, 

historical, and current issues through multiple means, including: open, public meetings; the 

media; and, various educational forums including, but not limited to, District-sponsored 

tours, tri-annual leadership breakfasts, and conservation education classes. 

 

7.3. District Spokesperson 

The General Manager is the principal spokesperson for the District, and the President of 

the Board also takes an active part in communicating District policies. Some of this 

responsibility may be delegated to others, as appropriate. 

 

7.4. Requests for Public Records 

7.4.1. All District records and documents not deemed to be exempt under the California 

Public Records Act (“the Act”), California Government Code Section 6250 et seq., 

shall be open to the public for inspection and copying pursuant to the requirements 

of the Act and the procedures established herein. 

 

7.4.2. Any person who wishes to inspect or copy any document or record of the District 

shall submit or unequivocally convey such a request to the District which 

reasonably and particularly describes an existing and identifiable record. The 

person seeking the record may, but need not, state his or her reason for making the 

request and/or the use to which the information will be put. 

 

7.4.3. When a member of the public requests to inspect a public record or obtain a copy 

of a public record, the District, in order to assist the member of the public make a 

focused and effective request that reasonably describes an identifiable record or 

records, shall perform all of the following, to the extent reasonable under the 

circumstances: 

 

a. Assist the member of the public to identify records and information that are 

responsive to the request or to the purpose of the request, if stated; 

b. Describe the information technology and physical location in which the records 

exist; and 

c. If the requested record exists on the TVMWD website, the requester may be 

directed to the website to obtain the item; however, requests to inspect or request a 

copy of the record shall be accommodated. 

d. Provide suggestions for overcoming any practical basis for denying access to the 

records or information sought.  

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 25 

 

7.4.4. If the District receives a request for approved minutes, publicly-posted agendas, 

adopted budgets, and/or other simple, routine, and otherwise readily-available 

documents in the District’s immediate possession, said records shall be released to 

the party so requesting for inspection as soon as possible.  If copies thereof are 

requested, said records shall be released to the party requesting as soon as possible 

after payment of the fee adopted by the District pursuant to Section 7.4.8 hereof. 

 

7.4.5. All requests for records that are outside the scope of Section 7.4.4 hereof shall be 

reduced to written form.  The District shall furnish the requesting party with a 

standard form for his or her convenience in describing the records sought, but the 

use of that form shall not be the exclusive means by which a member of the public 

may identify said documents in writing.  If the requesting party refuses or is unable 

to submit a request in writing, the District shall prepare a written memorandum 

articulating the request as it is understood. 

 

7.4.6. Within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of a request to inspect or copy any 

document or record of the District identified in the writing prepared pursuant to 

Section 7.4.5 hereof, the District shall determine whether the request, in whole or 

in part, seeks copies of disclosable public records in the possession of the District, 

and shall immediately notify the person making the request of such determination 

and the reasons therefore. 

 

7.4.7. Under unusual circumstances as defined in the Act, the time limit prescribed in 

Section 7.4.6 hereof may be extended by written notice by the General Manager of 

the District, or his or her designee, to the person making the request setting forth 

the reasons for the extension and the date on which a determination is expected to 

be dispatched. No such notice shall specify a date that would result in an extension 

for more than fourteen (14) calendar days. 

 

7.4.8. If the District determines that the records requested shall be made available for 

public inspection or copying, the District shall promptly make the records available 

to the requesting party.  If copies are requested, the District shall promptly provide 

copies of the records to the requesting party upon payment of a duly-adopted fee to 

cover the District’s direct cost of duplication, which shall be calculated in the 

following manner: 

 

a. If the copies are made by the District’s staff, the total fees pursuant to the adopted 

fee schedule by Resolution No. 17-06-802 will be shared with the requestor. Such 

fees will only apply to the direct cost of duplication and shall not include the 

ancillary tasks necessarily associated with the retrieval, inspection, and handling of 

the file from which the record is extracted for reproduction. 

b. If the records for which copies are requested are being held by consultants of the 

District, including the District’s legal counsel, the direct cost of duplication shall 

be no different than the fee established pursuant to Section 7.4.8(a) above.  

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED JUNEFEBRUARY 20221 

PAGE 26 

 

c. If the size, quantity, or unique nature of the records for which copies are requested 

is such that the District determines in the reasonable exercise of its discretion that 

the reproduction thereof should not be conducted by District staff or consultants, 

then the District shall attempt to coordinate a mutually-acceptable alternative 

arrangement with the requesting party.  No such arrangement shall permit a copying 

protocol that would expose any District records to being permanently removed, 

damaged, defaced, or destroyed.  If the District is unable to reach such an agreement 

with the requesting party, then the District shall send said records to a printer or 

commercial copying service for reproduction and the direct cost of duplication shall 

be the same amount that is charged by the printer or commercial copying service 

for the services so performed. 

 

7.4.9. If the District determines that the records requested shall not be made available for 

public inspection or copying, the District shall justify withholding any record by 

demonstrating that the record in question is exempt under the Act, that the District 

is unable to identify the information requested in the writing prepared pursuant to 

Section 7.4.5 thereof after making a reasonable effort to provide the assistance 

described in Section 7.4.3 hereof and elicit additional clarifying information from 

the requester that would help identify the record or records, or that, based on the 

facts of the particular case, the public interest served by not making the record 

public clearly outweighs the public interest served by disclosure of the record.  Any 

notification of denial of any request for records shall set forth the names and titles 

of each person responsible for the denial. 

 

7.4.10. If the District determines that any part of an otherwise public record shall not be 

made available for public inspection or copying, any reasonably segregable portion 

of the record shall be provided to the person requesting such record after deletion 

of the portions which are exempt by law and upon (a) compliance with Section 

7.4.8 hereof as to the portions released to the requesting party and (b) satisfaction 

of Section 7.4.9 hereof as to the portions deleted there from.

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE i 

 

APPENDIX A  Resolutions and Motions Superseded by Adoption of this Policy 

 

 

1 PURPOSE AND ORGANIZATION 

1.1 Mission — Motion Numbers: 9-94-3164, 2-97-3472 and 4-00-3807  

1.3 Objectives 20— Resolution Number: 7-52-262 

1.4 Functions and Powers — Motion Numbers: 7-50-8, 9-56-450, 1-68-101, 1-68-104, 8-71-142, 5-74-93, 

1-79-576, 1-79-577, 4-79-612, 5-79-621, 8-81-982, 9-81-1012, 4-82-1153, 7-82-1202, 5-86-1844, 2-90-

2428, 6-92-2839, 7-92-2871 and 1-95-3194 

 

2 GOVERNANCE  

2.1 Board of Directors - Principal Functions — Ordinance Number: 2-01-7 (2001); Motion Numbers: 197, 

208, 1-70-1072-79-589, 2-79-594, 7-79-647, 7-82-262, 3-85-1645, 4-89-2324, 11-89-2391, 5-92-2530, 

8-92-2897 and 12-95-3288. Ordinance Number 17-01-21 (2017) was adopted to clarify process for 

approval of TVMWD Manuals. 

2.2 Election — Motion Numbers: 7, 6-84-1534, 7-84-1541 and 7-94-3151 

2.3 Board of Directors – Organization — Resolution Numbers: 12-88-301, 01-02-408;  Motion Numbers: 

561, 11-78-555, 1-79-571, 1-79-574, 11-81-1061, 9-86-1912, 12-86-1962, 7-92-2869, 1-93-2951, 1-93-

2952, 1-93-2953, 1-93-2954, 1-93-2985, 1-93-2983, 1-93-3954, 4-93-2992, 4-93-2993, 4-93-2994,  6-93-

3012, 1-94-3096, 1-95-3196 and 10-95-3265 

2.4 Board of Directors - Public Meetings — Ordinance Numbers: 3-01-8, 5-01-9, 02-02-11, 6-03-12, 05-

04-13 and 12-01-19, 13-04-20 (2013); Resolution Numbers: 8, 48, 450, 1021; Motion Numbers: 1-84-

1464, 4-89-1670, 4-91-2624, 4-91-2626,  2-93-2959, 2-93-2962, 7-91-2674, 3-93-2973, 10-93-3068, 1-

94-3095, 1-95-3196, 1-95-3197, 4-95-3217, 10-95-3265, 2-98-3571 and 8-98-3625 

2.5 Board of Directors - Norms of Conduct and Communication — Resolution Numbers: 4-74-170, 1-77-

203, 8-81-256, 08-02-424, 06-06-550 and 09-07-639; Motion Numbers: 9-82-1228, 5-83-1361, 5-87-

2053, 10-87-2112, 4-89-2334, 3-90-2447, 4-91-2625, 6-91-2653, 7-91-2672, 6-92-2844, 7-93-3040, 12-

93-3083, 2-94-3103, 3-94-3109, 12-95-3288, 5-97-3501, 8-97-3526, 6-98-3607 and 9-98-3630 

2.7 Board of Directors - Compensation — Ordinance Numbers: 3-98-6, 7-90-4, 2-01-07 and 2-07-15 

(2007); Resolution Numbers: 5-81-254 and 8-81-256; Motion Numbers: 80, 560, 690, 694, 1-84-1460, 5-

85-1673, 9-86-1912, 9-89-2379,  9-89-2380, 8-90-2512, 1-91-2580, 6-92-2845, 6-92-2880, 2-93-2968,  

2-93-2969, 7-93-3032, 8-93-3055, 12-93-3083, 7-94-3151, 6-95-3234, 9-95-3250, 5-97-3501, 3-98-3583, 

3-98-3596,  2-01-3882 and 09-01-4670 

2.8 Board of Directors – Reimbursement — Ordinance Number: 2-01-7 (2001) 

2.11 Board of Directors – Governance/Management Connection — Ordinance Number: 2-01-7 (2001); 

Resolution Number: 7-82-263 

 

3 GENERAL MANAGER AND STAFF 

3.1 General Policy — Ordinance Number: 11-04-14; Motion Numbers: 3-69-115, 12-69-164, 12-70-167, 

11-72-147, 4-73-161, 5-76-285, 12-76-352, 11-79-697, 11-80-841, 3-81-902, 3-81-909, 9-81-1002, 11-

81-1060, 3-82-259, 12-82-266, 6-83-270, 6-84-1525, 2-85-1635, 3-85-1655, 3-85-1656, 6-85-1699, 4-

86-1811, 4-86-1812, 4-86-1813,  4-86-1824, 6-87-2060, 8-89-2358, 8-89-2363, 8-89-2364, 6-90-2482, 9-

91-2700, 9-91-2704, 4-94-3130, 6-95-3232, 6-95-3233, 1-96-3305, 3-96-3336, 6-97-3512, 10-99-3748, 

4-00-3813, 7-00-3836 and 8-00-3841 

3.2 General Manager Authority - Limits Set by Board — Motion Numbers: 09-01-406, 09-11-64520-05-

5279; Resolution Number: 17-10-811 20-05-877 

Formatted: Top: (Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width),

Bottom: (Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width), Left:

(Single solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width), Right: (Single

solid line, Auto,  0.5 pt Line width)

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE ii 

 

 

4 WATER PLANNING AND SUPPLY 

4.1 General Policy — Resolution Number:  10-02-647 

4.3 Water Quality — Resolution Number: 6-80-243 

4.4 Water Use Efficiency, Public Outreach & Water Conservation — Resolution Numbers: 3-77-205 and 

7-88-2997 

 

5 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 

5.1 Service Connections — Resolution Numbers: 151, 239; Motion Numbers: 12-57-196 

5.2 System Maintenance and Repairs — Resolution Numbers: 196, 208, 295, 348; Motion Numbers: 2-70-

115 and 6-70-135 

 

6 FINANCIAL INTEGRITY 

6.1 General Policy — Resolution Number: 1015; Motion Numbers: 8-50-17, 7-52-242, 6-67-1015, 9-90-

2538, 1-96-3304 and 3-96-3339 

6.3 Rates, Charges, Assessments and Penalties — Resolution Numbers: 242, 293, 1034, 6-75-1932, 04-03-

439, 05-03-441, 03-04-466, 05-05-519; Motion Numbers: 10-70-155, 11-78-559 and 1-84-1464 

6.4 Reserves — Resolution Numbers: 1-85-278, 05-03-440, 03-05-505, 03-05-506 

6.5 Investment of Funds — Resolution Numbers: 10-86-288; Motion Numbers: 4-82-1661, 4-90-2456, 12-

90-2570, 8-94-3160, 8-94-3161, 3-96-3337, 8-97-3525, 10-98-3629, 10-98-3630, 8-99-3732, 9-99-3739, 

01-05-495 and 09-02-4677 

6.6 Risk Management — Resolution Number: 05-04-471 

6.7 Audit — Motion Number: 4-92-2798 

 

7 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 

7.1 General Policy — Resolution Number: 7-82-262 

7.2 Public Information and Education — Motion Numbers: 3-81-913 and 5-82-1169 

7.4 Request for Public Records —  Resolution Number: 17-06-802 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE iii 

 

APPENDIX B  End Notes 

 
1.  The Mission Statement of TVMWD was updated and unanimously approved by the Board of Directors at its 

September 19, 2012 meeting by Motion Number. 12-09-4889. The Vision Statement of TVMWD was updated as 

a part of the FY 20-21 Strategic Plan that was unanimously approved by the Board of Directors at its February 19, 

2020 meeting by Motion Number. 20-02-5265.TVMWD Action Plan 2001-2002 adopted on September 19, 2001 

and ratified again on February 22, 2003 and set forth the Objectives of the District, incorporated as Section 1.3 of 

this Policy Manual.  The 2015 update of the Policy Manual changed the title of Section 1.3 from Objectives to 

Core Values. 

2.  California Water Code, Section 71000 et seq.

 

3.  California Water Code, Section 71000 et seq.

 

4.  These powers, whether currently exercised or latent, are generally authorized by the Municipal Water District Act 

(Ibid.)

 

5.  Administrative Code, Metropolitan Water District of Southern California

 

6.  Government Code Section 56000 et seq.

 

7.  California Water Code Section 71276. Effective January 1, 2015 all resolutions and ordinances are adopted by 

roll call vote of the legislative body.

 

8.  California Water Code Section 71260 and Water Code Section 71262

 

9.  California Government Code Section 85300 and Government Code Section 3205(a); Water Code Section 71505; 

Election Code Section 10540 and Election Code Section 13307(c) and (e) 

10.  California Water Code Section 71505; California Election Code Section 10515 

11.  California Government Code Section 1780 

12.  California Water Code Section 71273 and Water Code Section 71340

 

13.  California Government Code Section 54950 et seq.

 

14.  California Government Code Section 81000 et seq.; Title 2, California Code of Regulations, Section 18109 et 

seq.

 

15.  California Water Code Section 71255, Government Code Section 53232.2, Government Code Section 53232.3, 

Water Code Sections 20200, 20201, 20202, 20203, 20204, 20205, 20206 and 20207 

16  California Water Code Section 71256; California Water Code – Appendix Section 109-51 

17  California Government Code Section 3100 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71000.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71000.&lawCode=WAT
http://www.mwdh2o.com/Who%20We%20Are%20%20Fact%20Sheets/1.2_adminCode.pdf
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56000.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71276.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71260.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71262.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=85300.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=3205.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71505.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=10540.&lawCode=ELEC
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=13307.&lawCode=ELEC
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71505.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=10515.&lawCode=ELEC
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=1780.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71273.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71340.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=54950.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=81000.&lawCode=GOV
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/I48F4D721D49311DEBC02831C6D6C108E?originationContext=Search+Result&listSource=Search&viewType=FullText&navigationPath=Search%2fv3%2fsearch%2fresults%2fnavigation%2fi0ad70f76000001559d64476c44f250c9%3fstartIndex%3d1
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71255.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53232.2.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53232.3.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20200.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20201.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20202.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20203.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20204.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20205.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20206.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20207.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71256.&lawCode=WAT
http://codes.findlaw.com/ca/water-code-appendix/wca-sect-109-51.html
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=3100.&lawCode=GOV


 

PAGE iv 

 

 
18  California Water Code Section 10610 et seq. 

19  California Government Code Section 53601, Government Code Section 53601.1, Government Code Section 

53630, and Government Code Section 53646 et seq. 

 
20 This section was renamed to Core Values during the CY 2015 update. 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C  Policy Addendums 

This section includes policies that were adopted outside the normal cycle of policy review and approval and in a 

different format thereof as follows: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=10610.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53601.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53601.1.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53630.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53630.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53646.&lawCode=GOV


 

PAGE v 

 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 

DISTRIBUTION OF 

TICKETS AND PASSES 

APPROVAL DATE 

    June 17, 2015 

Page i of 5 

 

 

DISTRIBUTION OF TICKETS AND PASSES – APPROVAL DATE 6/17/2015 

SECTION 1:  PURPOSE OF POLICY 

The purpose of this policy is to establish a fair and equitable process for the distribution of 

complimentary tickets or passes by TVMWD in compliance with the requirements of Section 

18944.1 of the Fair Political Practices Commission Regulations.  This policy is subject to all 

applicable Fair Political Practices Commission Regulations and the Political Reform Act, as now 

exist or may hereafter be added or amended, including, without limitation, definitions.  (These 

regulations can be found at Title 2 of the California Code of Regulations and will be referred to as 

“FPPC Regulations.”) 

 

SECTION 2:  DEFINITIONS 

Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, words and terms used in this policy shall have the 

same meaning as that ascribed to such words and terms in the California Political Reform Act of 

1974 (Government Code Sections 81000, et seq., as the same may from time to time be amended) 

and the FPPC Regulations (Title 2, Division 6 of the California Code of Regulations, Sections 

18110 et seq., as the same may from time to time be amended). 

 

A. “TVMWD” shall mean and include the Three Valleys Municipal Water District, and any other 

affiliated agency created or activated by the Board of Directors of Three Valleys Municipal 

Water District, and any departments, committees, and commissions thereof. 

 

B. “TVMWD Official” shall mean every officer, agent and employee of TVMWD who is 

obligated to file an Annual Statement of Economic Interests (FPPC Form 700) under state law 

or TVMWD’s current Conflict of Interest Code. 

 

C. “TVMWD Venue” shall mean and refer to any facility owned, controlled or operated by 

TVMWD. 

 

D. “FPPC” shall mean and refer to the California Fair Political Practices Commission. 

 

E. “Immediate Family” shall mean and refer to the spouse and dependent children of a TVMWD 

Official.  The term “spouse” includes registered domestic partners recognized by state law, and 

“dependent children” shall mean a child, including an adoptive child or stepchild, of a 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE vi 

 

 

TVMWD Official who is under 18 years old and who the TVMWD Official is entitled to claim 

as a dependent on his or her federal tax return. 

 

F. “Policy” shall mean and refer to this policy regarding the Distribution of Complimentary 

Tickets pursuant to FPPC Regulation 18944.1. 

 

G. “Ticket” shall mean and refer to a “ticket or pass” as that term is defined in FPPC Regulation 

18944.1, as amended from time to time, but which currently defines a “ticket or pass” as 

admission to a facility, event, show or performance for an entertainment, amusement, 

recreational, or similar purpose. 

 

SECTION 3:  APPLICATION OF POLICY 

A. This policy shall be applicable to every officer, agent and employee of TVMWD who is 

obligated to file an FPPC Form 700 under state law or TVMWD’s current Conflict of Interest 

Code. 

 

B. This policy governs the distribution of complimentary tickets received by TVMWD that are 

either: 

 

1. Gratuitously provided to TVMWD by an outside source; 

 

2. Acquired by TVMWD by purchase; 

 

3. Acquired by TVMWD as consideration pursuant to the terms of a contract for the use 

of a TVMWD Venue; or 

 

4. Acquired and distributed by TVMWD in any other manner. 

 

C. This policy does not apply to: 

 

1. Any other item of value provided to TVMWD or any TVMWD Official, regardless of 

whether received gratuitously or for which consideration is provided. 

 

2. Tickets directly provided to a TVMWD Official by a third party other than TVMWD. 

 

SECTION 4:  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

A. No Right to Tickets: The use of complimentary tickets is a privilege extended by TVMWD 

and not the right of any person to which the privilege may from time to time be extended.  

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE vii 

 

 

B. Limitation on Transfer of Tickets: Tickets distributed to a TVMWD Official pursuant to this 

policy shall not be transferred to any other person, except to members of such TVMWD 

Official’s immediate family or no more than one guest solely for their attendance at the event.  

If a TVMWD Official transfers a ticket he or she has received from TVMWD to another 

person, as opposed to returning the ticket to TVMWD for redistribution, then the value of the 

ticket or tickets he or she transfers shall constitute a gift to him or her and shall be reportable 

as provided by the regulations of the FPPC.  

 

C. Prohibition Against Sale of or Receiving Reimbursement for Tickets: No person who receives 

a ticket pursuant to this policy shall sell or receive reimbursement for the value of such ticket. 

 

SECTION 5:  TICKET ADMINISTRATOR  

A. TVMWD delegates the authority to the general manager or his/her designee to be the ticket 

administrator for purposes of implementing the provisions of this policy. 

 

B. The ticket administrator shall have the authority, in his or her sole discretion, to establish 

procedures for the distribution of tickets in accordance with this policy.  Such authority 

includes the power to distribute such a ticket to the general manager provided that doing so is 

otherwise consistent with this policy.  All requests for tickets that fall within the scope of this 

policy shall be made in accordance with the procedures established by the ticket administrator. 

 

C. The ticket administrator shall determine the face value of tickets distributed by TVMWD for 

purposes of Section 6.A and 6.B of this policy. 

 

D. The ticket administrator, in his or her sole discretion, may revoke or suspend the ticket 

privileges of any person who violates any provision of this policy or the procedures established 

by the ticket administrator for the distribution of tickets. 

 

E. For the purpose of implementing this policy, and completing and posting the FPPC California 

Form 802, the ticket administrator shall be the “Agency Head”. 

SECTION 6:  CONDITIONS UNDER WHICH TICKETS MAY BE DISTRIBUTED 

The ticket administrator may distribute complimentary tickets to TVMWD Officials under any 

one of the following conditions:  

A. TVMWD Official reimburses TVMWD for the face value of the ticket(s). 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE viii 

 

 

B. TVMWD Official treats the ticket(s) as income consistent with applicable federal and state 

income tax laws and TVMWD reports the ticket as income on FPPC Form 802 pursuant to 

Section 10 of this Policy. 

 

C. The ticket is not earmarked by the outside source for a particular TVMWD Official, and the 

distribution of the ticket to, or at the behest of, TVMWD Official accomplishes or furthers one 

or more of the following public purposes: 

 

1. Performing a ceremonial role on behalf of TVMWD at an event. 

 

2. Facilitating the performance of a ceremonial role by a TVMWD Official on behalf of 

TVMWD at an event, as part of one’s job duties. 

 

3. Promotion of intergovernmental relations and/or cooperation and coordination of resources 

with other governmental agencies, including, but not limited to, attendance at an event with 

or by elected or appointed public official from other jurisdictions, their staff members and 

their guests. 

 

4. Promotion of TVMWD resources and/or facilities available to residents within TVMWD. 

 

5. Promotion of TVMWD-run sponsored or supported community events, activities or 

programs. 

 

6.  To monitor and evaluate the value of TVMWD-run, sponsored or supported community 

events, activities or programs to TVMWD including but not limited to evaluation of the 

venue, quality of performances and compliance with TVMWD policies, agreements and 

other requirements.  

 

7. Promotion and evaluation of events, activities or programs at TVMWD Venues, including 

but not limited to evaluation of the venue, quality of performances and compliance with 

TVMWD policies, agreements and other requirements. 

 

8. Encouraging or rewarding significant academic or public service achievements by 

students, residents or businesses within TVMWD. 

 

9. As an incident to the above public purposes, allowing for the immediate family of 

TVMWD Official to accompany TVMWD Official to events to accomplish any of the 

purposes listed in this policy. 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE ix 

 

 

SECTION 7:  TICKETS DISTRIBUTED AT THE BEHEST OF A TVMWD OFFICIAL  

A. Tickets shall be distributed at the behest of a TVMWD Official only for one or more public 

purposes set forth in Section 6.C. above. 

 

B. If tickets are distributed at the behest of a TVMWD Official, such TVMWD Official shall not 

use one of the tickets so distributed to attend the event. 

 

SECTION 8:  OTHER BENEFITS 

The distribution of tickets pursuant to this policy shall not constitute a “gift” to TVMWD Official 

receiving the ticket; however, other benefits, such as food or beverages or other gifts provided to 

TVMWD Official that are not part of the admission provided by the complimentary ticket, will 

need to be accounted for as gifts if over the applicable dollar limit. 

 

SECTION 9:  EARMARKED TICKETS 

If TVMWD receives tickets that are earmarked by the outside source for a particular TVMWD 

Official, the tickets are gifts to TVMWD Official individually, unless:  

A. TVMWD Official reimburses TVMWD for the tickets; 

B. TVMWD Official treats the tickets as income consistent with applicable federal and state 

income tax laws, and TVMWD reports the tickets as income on FPPC Form 802 pursuant to 

Section 10 of this Policy; or 

 

C. The tickets are returned unused to the outside source within 30 days of receipt. 

 

SECTION 10:  POSTING AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 

A. This policy and Form 802 reports required by Section 18944.1 of the FPPC Regulations shall 

be posted on TVMWD’s website. 

 

B. The distribution of tickets pursuant to this policy shall be documented by the preparation and 

certification of FPPC Form 802.  Within thirty (30) calendar days of the distribution of a ticket, 

the ticket administrator shall prepare and certify a Form 802 and shall forward it to the FPPC 

for posting on the FPPC’s website. 

 

C. Tickets distributed by TVMWD for which TVMWD receives reimbursement from TVMWD 

Official shall not be subject to the disclosure provisions set forth herein. 

 

 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE x 

 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 

GIFT ACCEPTANCE 

POLICY 

APPROVAL DATE 

    June 17, 2015 

Page i of 2 

 

 

GIFT ACCEPTANCE POLICY – APPROVAL DATE 6/17/2015 

SECTION 1:  PURPOSE OF POLICY 

TVMWD is committed to providing and maintaining an ethical work environment for its 

employees.  This policy is intended to set forth the guidelines for ethical conduct to be followed 

by all employees regarding the acceptance of gifts. 

 

SECTION 2:  SCOPE 

This policy applies to all employees.  Any violation may result in disciplinary action up to and 

including termination of employment.  If an employee has questions or needs clarification 

regarding this policy, the employee should check with the general manager.  Exceptions to the gift 

acceptance policy may be made only with the permission of the general manager. 

 

SECTION 3:  STATEMENT OF POLICY 

TVMWD’s gift policy is a no-gift policy.  To avoid a conflict of interest, the appearance of a 

conflict of interest, or the need for employees to examine the ethics of acceptance, TVMWD and 

its employees do not accept gifts from (current or potential) vendors,  customers, or any other 

individual or organization.  A “gift” is anything of value (tangible or intangible) provided for 

which the donor has not received equal or greater consideration.  Gifts include – but are not 

limited to – meals, lodging, loans, cash, favorable terms or discounts on any product or service, 

services, equipment, prizes, products, transportation, use of vehicles, vacation or other facilities, 

stocks or other securities, tickets, gift certificates, gift cards, discount cards, memberships. 

 

Employees are required to demonstrate TVMWD’s commitment to treating everyone impartially.  

Employees are to practice and demonstrate equal treatment, unbiased professionalism, and non-

discriminatory actions in relation to all individuals and organizations. 

 

Employees should professionally inform individuals and organizations of this no-gift policy and 

the reason TVMWD has adopted the policy.  If an employee or department receives a gift: 

• If feasible, the gift is returned to the donor. 

• If not feasible to return the gift, the gift must be raffled off to employees.  Proceeds from 

the raffle will be donated to TVMWD’s designated charity, SCWUA-Water for People.  If 

employees are uninterested in the raffled item, the gift will be donated as determined by 

the general manager. 

• Plants or flowers will be displayed in the lobby or the board room where all employees 

may enjoy their presence. 

• Gifts of food will be placed in the kitchen to be shared with all staff. 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xi 

 

 

 

SECTION 4:  EXCEPTIONS 

Many of the exemptions allowed per FPPC (Fair Political Practices Commission) Regulations are 

listed below.  This list is only a summary, so please check with the general manager for 

clarification on each of these. 

 

 

1. Return gift unused within 30 days 

2. Deliver gift to a non-profit organization without claiming the gift as a tax deduction 

3. Reimburse the donor for the fair market value of the gift 

4. Gifts of informational material provided to assist in the performance of duties 

5. Gifts from close family relatives 

6. Campaign contributions 

7. Plaques, awards or certificates 

8. Home hospitality is hospitality provided by a donor in his/her home when the donor or 

member of his/her family is present 

9. Gift exchange (other than a lobbyist) so long as not substantially disproportionate in value 

10. Devise or inheritance 

11. Inexpensive items (pens, bags, novelties, food, beverages, etc.) while attending 

conferences, seminars, et al. that are offered equally to all members of the public attending 

the event 

12. Food, beverages, and moderately priced (<$75) meals supplied and attended by current 

customers, partners, and vendors in the interest of building positive business relationships.  

This moderately priced entertainment is provided as part of a “working” meeting to benefit 

and advance positive working relationships and company interests.  These activities are 

expected to be reciprocated by TVMWD in turn of equal value. 

13. Exempted are tickets/passes to a facility, event, show or performance for an entertainment, 

amusement, recreational or similar purpose if the distribution of tickets is pursuant to 

TVMWD’s Policy on Distribution of Complimentary Tickets. 

 

SECTION 5:  LIMITATIONS 

Gifts from a single source may not exceed $500 in a calendar year for elected officials and 

employees whose designated positions are listed in TVMWD’s conflict of interest code. 

 

SECTION 6:  REPORTING 

Regardless of whether a gift meets the definition of an exception, elected officials and employees 

whose designated positions are listed in TVMWD’s conflict of interest code may be required to 

report such gifts.  Please refer to FPPC guidelines for reporting requirements, which can be found 

at www.fppc.ca.gov. 

 

 

 

 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A

http://www.fppc.ca.gov/


 

PAGE xii 

 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 

POLICY FOR USE OF 

DISTRICT PROVIDED 

COMPUTER TABLET 

DEVICES 

APPROVAL DATE 

    June 17, 2015 

Page i of 4 

 

 

POLICY FOR USE OF DISTRICT PROVIDED COMPUTER TABLET DEVICES – 

APPROVAL DATE 6/17/2015 

 

The Three Valleys Municipal Water District shall establish a policy of providing the members of 

the board of directors and management staff with the equipment and technology needed to allow 

electronic delivery of agendas, reports and other material pertaining to items of business to be 

transacted or discussed at board meetings and other meetings attended by board members and 

management staff (users), and to allow for easier communication via e-mail. 

 

Based upon cost estimates researched by staff, providing agendas and board meeting materials to 

the users electronically, for viewing on a computer tablet device (hereinafter “tablet”), would result 

in a cost savings to the district of approximately $600 per year per recipient, by eliminating the 

preparation and distribution of individual paper packets of the meeting materials, and would 

improve the efficiency of providing information to the users. 

 

The district shall provide a tablet to each user with appropriate software and internet access for the 

purpose of allowing agendas, agenda materials, reports and other materials (board packets), 

pertaining to business of the district to be transacted or discussed at meetings of the board. When 

the board packets are transmitted to the users electronically via email, staff shall not provide a 

“hard copy” printed version to the directors and management staff members.  

 

A district-purchased tablet shall include sufficient capacity and features to meet the business needs 

of the users. The district shall purchase and install all software necessary for the devices to perform 

the functions required and shall provide maintenance and upgrades as necessary. The district shall 

arrange for and pay the cost of internet and e-mail service to the devices, and provide any and all 

IT services needed in connection with the use of the devices.  

 

The district-provided tablets shall ensure compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act, the Public 

Records Act and other laws pertaining to the use of public property. A policy agreement between 

the district and tablet users follows below. 

 

 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

SECTION 1: CUSTODY  

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xiii 

 

 

The user identified below is a licensee with rights to utilize the Three Valleys Municipal Water 

District (“district”) computer tablet device and related accessories (hereinafter defined as “tablet”) 

during the term of this agreement, contingent upon all other terms and conditions stated herein.  

This agreement establishes the user’s right to use the subject tablet and shall in no way be construed 

to convey to user any ownership right in that tablet. The district provided tablet shall remain the 

property of the district and shall be used exclusively for district business. 

 

SECTION 2: TERM   

 

The term of this agreement shall begin upon the date signed and terminates upon the first to occur 

of:  

a.  when the user’s term as a director/employee of the district ends; or 

b.   if the user decides to return the tablet to the district prior to the expiration or earlier 

termination of the user’s term as a district director/employee; or  

c.  if the district elects to terminate its Tablet User Program.  

 

SECTION 3: GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR USE 

 

The tablet resources are provided for use in the pursuit of district-related business and to reduce 

the paperwork, copying and delivery expenses the district incurs annually.   

In order to avoid improper use of the district-provided tablet, the users will comply with the 

following rules for use:  

 

a. The tablet is to be used exclusively for district business and not for personal business, 

entertainment, personal communications, or other non-authorized purposes. Tablet use for 

personal business will subject the user to be taxed, according to the IRS. 

b. Users will be responsible for downloading the e-mailed board packets to their tablet and 

for bringing the devices with them to every meeting for which materials have been sent.  

c. Users shall not use the tablet in such a way as to cause the district to be charged for goods 

or services not previously authorized by the board.  

d. All programming, software and features on the tablet shall be supplied by the district for 

district purposes. Users shall not install software, download files or make any other 

alterations to the computer tablet devices for their own purposes or which are not expressly 

authorized by the district.  

  

e.  Directors shall not use the tablets to communicate with other directors in violation of the 

Ralph M. Brown Act, including but not limited to communicating with a majority of the 

members of the board of directors on any matter which will be addressed by the board at a 

meeting, or which is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the board of directors which 

may become an item of business at a future board meeting. In general, directors should not 

communicate with other directors by e-mail. Communications regarding availability for 

meetings, requests for information and other matters which must be dealt with outside of 

meetings should be coordinated through the general manager, to avoid the appearance of a 

Brown Act violation.  

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xiv 

 

 

SECTION 4: PRIVACY   

 

During and after the term of this agreement, the user has no right of privacy as to any information 

or files maintained in or on the tablet or transmitted by or to, or stored on the tablet. 

   

Any personal materials, software, applications, Apps, pictures, emails, etc., that remain on the 

tablet after it is returned to the district., and any right to privacy of such items, to the extent it may 

exist, will be forfeited. 

 

Unless otherwise exempted, all information provided electronically to the users shall constitute 

public records and shall be provided by the district to any person requesting a copy of such 

information, in the same electronic format as provided to the users, or at the option of the person 

requesting the records, in hard copy format, upon payment of the copying costs. Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, material transmitted with a board packet which pertains to a closed session item on 

the agenda, or which is otherwise exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act, shall not 

become disclosable by virtue of transmission to the users by electronic means, unless and until 

such time as the material becomes subject to disclosure under the Public Records Act. Users 

receiving non-disclosable material by electronic means shall not forward or disclose such material 

to any other person without the authorization of the board of directors. 

 

All communications using the tablets are public records subject to review by district staff, for 

purposes of determining their status under the district’s Records Retention Policy. 

Communications and information contained on the tablets shall be retained by the district for a 

period of six months, or until a determination has been made that the item is not a record to be 

retained under the Records Retention Policy, in which case it may be deleted from the district’s 

electronic files. Users may delete any unnecessary files on the devices provided a copy is available 

in the district’s electronic files.  

SECTION 5: MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR  

 

The user shall keep the tablet and all software in good working order and condition.  If repairs are 

necessary, the tablet and software shall be repaired by the district, or another entity designated and 

approved by the general manager.  All software, applications and Apps loaded onto the tablet shall 

be properly licensed and shall not consist of pirated or illegal materials. 

   

The users shall have possession of the tablet for their use for district business and shall be subject 

to returning the device to the district at any time as requested by the general manager for periodic 

maintenance, upgrades and service. 

 

SECTION 6: TERMINATION AND RETURN OF TABLET 

 

Upon the termination of this agreement or expiration of the term specified in SECTION II above, 

the user will, within three business days of such termination or expiration, return the tablet and 

any accompanying accessories to the district, as originally provided by the district, in its original 

condition. Ordinary wear and tear expected. 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xv 

 

 

  

SECTION7: THEFT OR LOSS 

 

The users shall be responsible for the care and safekeeping of the tablets in their possession and 

shall reimburse the district for the cost of replacing a device that is damaged due to negligence or 

misuse. 

  

Users are required to create a pin code on their tablet in order to safeguard access and content. The 

district shall bear the risk of theft or loss of the tablet, as long as the user exercises due care to 

protect and safeguard the tablet during the term of this agreement. However, the district makes no 

warranties of any kind and will not be responsible for any damages whatsoever which users may 

suffer arising from or related to their use of any district electronic information resources, whether 

such damages be incidental, consequential, or otherwise, or whether such damages include loss of 

data resulting from delays, non-deliveries, mistaken deliveries, or service interruptions whether 

caused by either the district’s negligence, errors, or omissions. 

       

The district may obtain insurance to cover loss or damage to the computer tablet devices if it is 

economically advantageous to do so. 

 

SECTION 8: ENFORCEMENT 

 

This policy is intended to be illustrative of the range of acceptable and unacceptable uses of the 

tablet, including internet and e-mail usage, and is not necessarily exhaustive (refer to the district’s 

Internet & Email Policy, revised 04/23/13). Questions about specific uses should be directed to 

the general manager.  Alleged or suspected violations of this policy and violations thereof may 

result in loss of tablet use.  Any user violating these provisions or applicable local, state, or federal 

laws is subject to immediate loss or restrictions of tablet privileges and additional disciplinary 

actions, up to and including criminal prosecution for any individual user and/or termination of 

employment from the district. The district’s general manager shall be responsible for the manner 

in which this policy will be implemented, including the monitoring of use thereof, and the 

archiving of information stored and retained in connection therewith. 

 

SECTION 9: CONSENT 

 

As a condition of this policy, all district tablet users must acknowledge that all district-issued 

tablets are the property of the district, and therefore, they should not consider any activity to be 

private, as specified in Section IV above. Users of a district-issued tablet must sign the consent 

form attached hereto within fifteen (15) days of receiving a copy of this policy. Prior to obtaining 

a tablet provided by the district, directors/employees must sign and return the consent form 

provided.  By signing the consent form, the user acknowledges that they have received a copy of 

the policy, read it, and understand the district’s policy and the potential penalties for non-

compliance. 

 

 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xvi 

 

 

 

TABLET POLICY – CONSENT FORM 

 

 

 

I acknowledge that a TVMWD-issued tablet is the property of the district, and therefore, I should 

not consider any activity to be private.   

 

By signing the consent form, I acknowledge that I have received a copy of this policy and agree to 

read it, and understand the district’s policy and the potential penalties for non-compliance. 

 

 

Signature 

 

 

Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xvii 

 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 

EMAIL ACCEPTABLE USE 

POLICY 

APPROVAL DATE 

    

Page i of 3 

 

 

 

EMAIL ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY 

 

SECTION 1: PURPOSE 

 

Email is a critical mechanism for business communications at the District.  Use of the District’s 

electronic mail systems and services must be used with respect and in accordance with the 

policies of the District. 

 

SECTION 2: SCOPE 

 

This policy applies to all email systems used at the District offices and remote locations. This 

policy applies to all email account holders, District employees, Board Members, and those 

working on behalf of the District. 

 

SECTION 3: POLICY 

 

A. Email access at the District is controlled through individual accounts and passwords. Each user 

of the District’s email system is required to read and sign a copy of this policy prior to receiving 

an email access account and password. It is the responsibility of the employee to protect the 

confidentiality of their account and password information in accordance with the Password 

Policy. 

B. All employees of the District will receive an email account. Email accounts will be granted to 

those working on behalf of the District on a case-by-case basis.  Access will be terminated 

when the employee or third party terminates their association with the District, unless other 

arrangements are made.  

C. Email users are responsible for mailbox management, including organization and cleaning.  

D. Email users are expected to remember that email sent from the District’s email accounts 

reflects on the District. Please comply with normal standards of professional courtesy and 

conduct as emails are subjected to the public records request act. 

E. Email users will not automatically forward incoming emails to accounts outside the control of 

the District. 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xviii 

 

 

F. The District email systems and services are not to be used for purposes that could be reasonably 

expected to strain storage or bandwidth (e.g. emailing large attachments instead of pointing to 

a location on a shared drive).  

G. Email use at the District will comply with all applicable laws, all District policies, and all 

District contracts. Use in a manner that is not consistent with the mission and values of the 

District, misrepresents the District, or violates any District policy is prohibited. 

H. The following activities are deemed inappropriate uses of the District email system and 

services and is strictly prohibited. Inappropriate use includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Use for illegal or unlawful purposes, including copyright infringement, obscenity, 

libel, slander, fraud, defamation, plagiarism, harassment, intimidation, forgery, 

impersonation, and computer tampering (e.g. spreading of computer malware). 

2. Viewing, copying, altering, or deletion of accounts or files belonging to the District 

or another individual without authorized permission. 

3. Opening email attachments from unknown or unverified sources. Emails are a 

common source of computer malware and should be treated with caution. 

4. Sharing account passwords with another person or attempting to obtain another 

person’s account password.  

5. Excessive personal use of the District resources.  

6. The District prohibits personal use of its email system and services for unsolicited 

mass mailings, non-District commercial activity, political campaigning, and 

dissemination of chain letters. 

I. The email system and services used are owned by the District and are therefore its property. 

This gives the District the right to monitor any and all email traffic passing through its systems. 

This monitoring may include, but is not limited to, inadvertent reading by IT staff during the 

normal course of managing the email systems, review by the legal counsel, observation by 

management in cases of suspected abuse, or to monitor employee efficiency. 

J. Emails that are retained in electronic folders or in hard copy and are not intended for temporary 

purposes may be public records and should follow the District’s retention schedule in terms of 

how long the records may be kept pursuant to legal requirements.   

K. All incoming, sent, and deleted emails will be automatically deleted in accordance with record 

retention policy and legislative requirements.  Emails that serve a useful business purpose can 

be preserved by manually moving the email to a subfolder of the mailbox. 

L. Use extreme caution when communicating confidential or sensitive information via email as 

this is not considered a secure means of communication. Keep in mind that all email messages 

sent outside of the District become the property of the receiver.  

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xix 

 

 

M. Any allegations of misuse should be promptly reported to the Human Resources Manager. If 

you receive an offensive email, do not forward, delete, or reply to the message.  

N. Truly sensitive communications should be conducted through paper-based correspondences or 

in-person meetings. Employees are prohibited from sending personal identifiable information 

such as credit card information, banking information, driver’s license numbers, social security 

numbers, and other sensitive information through the District’s email. 

O. Email users must seek approval from the Chief Operations Officer prior to sending email with 

sensitive content related to the District’s operational technology that include infrastructure 

maps, process control system (PCS), supervisor control and data acquisition (SCADA) system, 

video monitoring system, physical security systems, cybersecurity information, and any other 

system that could possibly reveal vulnerabilities, or otherwise increase the potential for an 

attack on systems of the District. 

SECTION 4: NON-COMPLIANCE 

 

Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xx 

 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 

INTERNET ACCEPTABLE 

USE POLICY 

APPROVAL DATE 

 

Page i of 2 

 

 

INTERNET ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY  

SECTION 1: PURPOSE 

 

The goal of this policy is to outline appropriate and inappropriate use of District Internet resources, 

including the use of browsers, file uploads and downloads, and voice communications.  

 

SECTION2: SCOPE 

 

The Internet Acceptable Use Policy applies to all employees, Board Members, and those working on 

behalf of the District regardless of employment status. 

Internet access at the District is controlled through individual accounts and passwords. The 

Information Technology Manager is responsible for defining appropriate Internet access levels for the 

people in their department. 

 

SECTION 3: ACCEPTABLE USE 

 

A. Individuals at the District are encouraged to use the Internet to further the goals and objectives 

of the District. The types of activities that are encouraged include: 

1. Communicating with fellow employees, business partners of the District, and the public 

within the context of an individual’s assigned responsibilities. 

2. Acquiring or sharing information necessary or related to the performance of an 

individual’s assigned responsibilities. 

3. Participating in educational or professional development activities. 

4. Only approved IM services by the Information Technology Manager shall be installed 

and used on the District’s network. Free IM services commonly used within the 

consumer market are not approved or supported by the IT department. 

SECTION 4: UNACCEPTABLE USE 

 

A. Individual Internet use will not interfere with others’ productive use of Internet resources. 

Users will not violate the network policies of any network accessed through their account. 

Internet use at the District will comply with all Federal and State laws, all District policies, and 

all District contracts. This includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

1. Individuals may not view, copy, alter, or destroy data, software, documentation, or data 

communications belonging to the District or another individual without authorized 

permission. 

2. The Internet may not be used for illegal or unlawful purposes, including, but not limited 

to, copyright infringement, obscenity, libel, slander, fraud, defamation, plagiarism, 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxi 

 

 

harassment, intimidation, forgery, impersonation, illegal gambling, soliciting for illegal 

pyramid schemes, and computer tampering (e.g. spreading computer viruses). 

3. The Internet may not be used in any way that violates District policies, rules, or 

administrative orders including, but not limited to, Social Media Policy, Email and 

Instant Messaging Acceptable Use Policy, any applicable code of conduct policies, etc. 

Use of the Internet in a manner that is not consistent with the mission and values of the 

District, misrepresents the District, or violates any District policy is prohibited. 

4. Individuals should limit their personal use of the Internet. The District allows limited 

personal use for communication with family and friends, independent learning, and 

public service.  

5. The District prohibits use for mass unsolicited mailings, access for non-employees to 

District resources or network facilities, uploading and downloading of files for personal 

use, access to pornographic sites, gaming, competitive commercial activity, and the 

dissemination of chain letters. 

6. Individuals may not establish company computers as participants in any peer-to-peer 

network, unless approved by the Information Technology Manager.   

7.  

8. In the interest of maintaining network performance, users should not send unreasonably 

large electronic mail attachments or video files not needed for business purposes. 

9. Employees of the District will treat all other individuals, clients, employees, etc. they 

interact with in any virtual, online forum or network capacity, in accordance with 

District values, District policies, and basic business social decorum. 

SECTION 5: SECURITY 

 

A. For security purposes, users may not share account or password information with another 

person. Internet accounts are to be used only by the assigned user of the account for 

authorized purposes. Attempting to obtain another user’s account password is strictly 

prohibited. A user must contact the help desk to obtain a password reset if they have reason 

to believe that any unauthorized person has learned their password. Users must take all 

necessary precautions to prevent unauthorized access to Internet services. 

SECTION 6: MONITORING AND FILTERING 

 

A. The District may monitor any Internet activity occurring on District equipment or accounts. 

The District currently does employ filtering software to limit access to sites on the Internet. If 

the District discovers activities that do not comply with applicable law or District policy, 

records retrieved may be used to document the wrongful content in accordance with due 

process. 

SECTION 7: NON-COMPLIANCE 

 

Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxii 

 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 

PASSWORD POLICY 

 

APPROVAL DATE 

    

Page i of 2 

 

PASSWORD POLICY 

 

SECTION 1: PURPOSE 

Passwords are the primary form of user authentication used to grant access to District 

information systems. To ensure that passwords provide as much security as possible, they must 

be carefully created and used. Without strict usage guidelines, the potential exists that passwords 

will be created that are easy to break, thus allowing easier illicit access to the District’s 

information systems, and thereby compromising the security of those systems. 

It is the intent of the District to protect all its resources. These resources include computer 

hardware, software, data, and all computer related items. This document will set forth the policy 

of maintaining logical security, protecting the software and utilization of systems by persons 

with legitimate access rights. 

 

SECTION 2: SCOPE 

The Password Policy applies to all information systems, information components, and to all user 

account holders, District employees, and those working on behalf of the District. 

SECTION 3: POLICY 

A. Passwords will have a maximum lifespan determined by the Information Technology Manager.  

B. Passwords may not be reused. Reuse includes the use of the exact same password or the use of 

the same root password with appended or pre-pended sequential characters. 

C. Passwords are to be used and stored in a secure manner. As such, passwords are not to be 

written down or stored electronically in plain text. Passwords are to be obscured during entry 

into information system login screens and are to be transmitted in an encrypted format. 

D. Passwords are to be individually owned and kept confidential and are not to be shared under 

any circumstances. 

E. Vendor supplied default passwords must be changed prior to installing a system on the 

network. 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxiii 

 

 

F. Information Technology professionals or system account credentials for non-console 

administrative access must be encrypted using technologies such as SSH, VPN, or SSL/TLS. 

Encryption technologies must include the following: 

1. Must use strong cryptography, and the encryption method must be invoked before the 

administrator’s password is requested. 

2. System services and parameter files must be configured to prevent the use of telnet and 

other insecure remote login commands. 

3. Must include administrator access to web-based management interfaces. 

4. Use vendor documentation and knowledge of personnel to verify that strong cryptography 

is in use for all non-console access and that for the technology in use it is implemented 

according to industry best practices and vendor recommendations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxiv 

 

 

 

SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY  

 

The Internet has become an accessible and powerful means of public communication, including 

through Social Media.  Social Media as used in this policy includes e-mail, chat rooms, websites, 

blogs, and wikis (whether maintained by the employee or by a third party), and social 

networking sites including but not limited to Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn and others.  TVMWD 

respects the right of employees to use these vehicles of self-expression and communication.  

 

TVMWD expect and insist, however, that our employees’ use of Social Media be confined to 

non-work time and to employees’ own electronic equipment.  We do not permit employees to 

use Social Media during work time or on Company equipment.  We also expect and insist that 

employees’ use of Social Media does not damage TVMWD, its customers or the working 

environment.  Employees should observe the following guidelines to ensure that their public 

activities on Social Media do not conflict with their responsibilities to TVMWD.  

 

First and foremost, be thoughtful and exercise good judgment in how you present yourself 

online.  If you identify yourself as a TVMWD employee or your affiliation with TVMWD is 

well known, what you say could have an impact TVMWD, our employees and customers.  Be 

aware that posting inappropriate information or content on Social Media potentially brings 

disrepute either to TVMWD or to you in your capacity as a TVMWD employee.    Because 

Social Media typically is public space, we request that you be respectful to TVMWD, our 

employees, supervisors, General Manager, Board of Directors, customers, partners and affiliates. 

 

Our strong preference is that you do not discuss TVMWD or TVMWD-related matters in any 

Social Media.  However, if you choose to do so, note the following:  

 

• Employees whom choose to identify themselves as a TVMWD employee in Social 

Media, you are expected to also make clear to your readers that the views you 

express do not necessarily reflect the views of TVMWD, by posting a disclaimer in a 

prominent place (e.g., “The views expressed are mine alone and do not necessarily 

reflect the views of the Three Valleys Municipal Water District.”)  

 

• Employees may not disparage TVMWD. 

 

• Respect your audience and your coworkers.  If you have disagreements or problems 

with TVMWD your fellow employees, supervisors, General Manager, Board of 

Directors, customers, partners, or vendors, you are prohibited from engaging in 

personal attacks.  

 

• If you are unsure whether it is appropriate to post certain information, please check 

with a member of the Management Team or Human Resources.  

 

When using Social Media, use good judgment.  Be aware that there may be consequences to 

what you post or publish online.  These consequences may include discipline up to and including 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxv 

 

 

termination of employment if the conduct violates TVWMD rules or policies, or if TVMWD 

determines that your posting or publication is not legally protected and harms (or has the 

potential to harm) TVMWD interests and obligations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxvi 

 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 

     DISTRICT-ISSUED CELL 

PHONES FOR DIRECTORS - 

POLICY  

 

APPROVAL DATE 

  

Page i of 2 

 

 

DISTRICT-ISSUED CELL PHONES FOR DIRECTORS - POLICY  

 

SECTION 1: PURPOSE 

The goal of this policy is to outline appropriate use of District-issued cellular phones for use by 

Directors.  

 

SECTION 2: SCOPE 

 

The District-Issued Cell Phones For Directors Policy applies to any Director who wishes to have a 

District issued cell phone for District business. 

 

The Information Technology Manager is responsible for administering the District cell phones. 

 

SECTION 3: POLICY 

 

1. The District shall provide a cellular phone and District-paid cellular phone service for the 

use of the any Director that requests a District cell phone.  Issuance of District cell phones to 

Directors is voluntary only.   All cellular phones provided at District expense shall remain 

property of the District and Directors shall carry such phones for use on District business. 

 

2. The General Manager shall select and contract for those cellular services necessary for 

District purposes, including text and internet service to the extent required for communications 

likely to be required in carrying out the Director’s duties. In addition, the General Manager shall 

select a calling plan and services which provides the Director’s with services reasonably 

necessary, including, if available at a cost-effective price, unlimited minutes and text messaging 

within the continental United States.  

 

3. The Directors shall not use District-provided cellular phones or cellular service in any 

manner which results in additional charge to the District, over and above the cost of the cellular 

service plan provided by the District, including international calls, or phone, text or internet sites 

which charge a fee through the cellular phone service provider.   

 

4. The purpose of providing District-paid cellular phones and service to Directors is to meet 

the needs of the District for communication in connection with District business. The personal use 

of the cellular service by the Director is prohibited. The Director shall return the cellular phone to 

the District upon leaving office. 

5. The initial purchase cost of the cell phone shall be paid for from that Director’s annual 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxvii 

 

 

travel expense budget.  The monthly cellular service fees and charges shall be paid for from that 

Director’s annual travel expense allowance on a monthly basis.  Insuring the cell phone for loss or 

damage shall be mandatory and included in the monthly fees and charges. 

6. Directors assigned a TVMWD-owned cell phone are responsible for its safekeeping, 

maintenance, and proper use, and are required to take appropriate precautions to prevent the loss, 

theft, damage, and unauthorized access to said communication technology device or cell phone. 

Loss, theft, or damage of a TVMWD-owned cell phone shall be immediately reported to the 

General Manager. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxviii 

 

 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 

     OUTREACH PROGRAM 

POLICY 

APPROVAL DATE 

 NOVEMBER 17, 2021 

Page i of 2 

 

 

SECTION 1:  Purpose of policy 

Situations may arise where a member of the TVMWD Board is requested to have TVMWD 

participate in a public outreach program in the form of sponsorships or community events. 

Directors may exercise discretion to authorize approval of the request consistent with the 

requirements set forth herein.   

 

SECTION 2:  Background 

Directors may request that TVMWD pay for sponsorships and/or community event participation, 

not to exceed a pre-determined amount in the TVMWD’s annual Public Outreach Program budget, 

for events that are not prohibited based on this policy. 

 

This policy expressly prohibits any expenditure that would (1) constitute an unconstitutional gift 

of public funds, (2) qualify as an unlawful mass mailing, or (3) contribute in any manner to an 

organization in which a director has a personal financial and/or management interest. 

 

SECTION 3:  Application of policy 

1. Directors may exercise discretion for TVMWD to pay for sponsorships and/or community 

events not to exceed a total of $1,000 per event, which shall include funding support, the 

providing of materials, supplies and promotional giveaways for such events. 

2. Any requests by Directors more than $1,000 to pay for sponsorships and/or community events 

shall be brought to the full board for input and approval. 

3. Sponsorships shall provide a direct nexus to water awareness, conservation, education, 

groundwater quality and the protection of water-related resources. 

4. TVMWD-sponsored events may not be political and/or partisan in nature. Example: TVMWD 

may not sponsor a fundraiser for a political candidate using any public funds.  

5. Proceeds from a TVMWD-sponsored event may not be used to contribute to campaign type 

activities. Example: TVMWD funds may not be used to print literature for a director’s 

reelection to the water board.  

6. Outreach funds may not be used for purchasing media advertisements.  

7. TVMWD will only issue payments through checks or credit card paid directly to host 

organizations which meet these guidelines. No cash disbursements or reimbursements will be 

made for TVMWD-sponsored events covered by these guidelines.  

 

Formatted: Endnote Text, Indent: Hanging:  0.25"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxix 

 

 

8. TVMWD staff shall provide a quarterly summary of the outreach program funding and 

remaining balance. 

9. Directors that are up for election/reelection in an election year shall not participate in such 

public awareness activities from the date of filing for office until the second business day 

following the election- or as currently prescribed by FPPC regulations.  

10. Events sponsored by religious/church organizations are not eligible for TVMWD- sponsored 

funds unless the event is open to the general public and is for a non-sectarian purpose.  

11. The purpose of a sponsorship and/or community event participation must align with the 

TVMWD Strategic Plan.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxx 

 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 

     SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY – 

ELECTED OFFICIALS 

 

APPROVAL DATE 

 JUNE 15, 2022 

Page i of 5 

 

 
SECTION 1:  Purpose of policy 
 
Three Valleys Municipal Water District (‘District”) understands that its elected officials, 
officers, and employees use social media sites and other online engagement platforms to 
share events in their lives, to communicate, and to discuss their opinions with others, 
including family, friends, and co-workers. However, the use of social media and other online 
engagement platforms may present certain risks and carries with it certain responsibilities.   
 
To assist the District’s Board of Directors (“Board”) in making responsible decisions about 
their use of social media and other online engagement platforms, the District provides these 
guidelines and recommendations for appropriate use. 
 
SECTION 2:  Background 
 
The District does not create or provide support for individual social media accounts for 
Board members.  Board members who maintain personal social and other digital media 
accounts should be aware that--similar to District email or any other written or recorded 
communication related to the official conduct of District business--digital communications, 
social media posts and messages by Board members regarding matters that are before the 
District for action or within District jurisdiction can be “official District business” subject to 
laws and policies regarding freedom of speech, records retention and production, and public 
transparency.  Those laws and policies include, but are not necessarily limited to: the 
California and United States Constitution, the California Public Records Act, the Ralph M. 
Brown Act, and the District’s records retention regulations. 
 
SECTION 3:  Understanding Rights/Responsibilities Using Social Media Technology 
 
Complying with the Ralph M. Brown Act 
 
One potential pitfall elected officials face in using social media is in ensuring compliance with 
the Ralph M. Brown Act (the “Act”).  Elected members of a Board must be careful, through 
their use of social media, not to engage in “serial meetings” with other members of the Board.  
A serial meeting is covered by the Act.  It involves communications by individual members 
of less-than-a-quorum group, which ultimately involves a majority of the body’s members.  
Outside a meeting, a majority of members of the Board may not use a series of 
communications of any kind, directly or through intermediaries, to discuss, deliberate or 
take action on any item of business that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board, 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxxi 

 

 

whether or not the members of the Board reach a collective concurrence.  This 
communication may involve several separate conversations between different members, or 
several separate conversations between members and a single person (e.g., attorney, agency 
staff member) for the purpose of discussing, deliberating, or taking any action on any item 
of business. 
 
Conceivably, a prohibited serial meeting could take place through private messaging or even 
public messaging on social media.  
 
The Act does not prevent Board members from engaging in separate conversations or 
communications on an internet-based social media platform to answer questions, to provide 
information to the public, or to solicit information from the public regarding a matter that is 
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board, but this is provided that a majority of the 
members of the Board do not use the internet-based social media platform to discuss among 
themselves business of a specific nature that is within the Board’s subject matter jurisdiction.  
“Discuss among themselves” here means communications made, posted, or shared on an 
internet-based social media platform between members of the Board, including comments 
or use of digital icons that express reactions to communications made by other members of 
the Board.  This means that even a single “emoji” or “like” could constitute part of a 
discussion that falls within the scope of the Act. 
 
As a member of the Board, there is one other item of importance to consider.  Under recent 
law, you should not respond directly to any communication on an internet-based social 
media platform regarding a matter that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board 
that is made, posted, or shared by any other member of the Board.  Doing so alone could 
result in a violation of the Act. 
 
To avoid any violations of the Act, consistent with the update provided by AB 992, Board 
members are permitted to use a social media site to engage in conversations or 
communications on matters within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board: 

1. To answer questions; 
2. To provide information to the public; and 
3. To solicit information from the public. 

 
However, a majority of Board members may not use social media to "discuss among 
themselves" official business.  AB 992 broadly defines the meaning of "discuss among 
themselves" to include any "communications made, posted, or shared on an internet-based 
social media network between members of [the Board], including comments or use of digital 
icons that express reactions to communications made by other members of the [Board]."  AB 
992 prohibits a Board member from communicating directly with the social media of any 
other member on a subject within the jurisdiction of the Board. 
 
Board members must refrain from using the District’s official social media sites or any form 
of electronic communication to respond to, blog, or engage in serial meetings, or otherwise 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxxii 

 

 

discuss, deliberate, or express opinions on any issue within the subject matter jurisdiction 
of the body without complying with the Act. 
 
If there are questions about whether communications could potentially violate the Act, 
Board members should consult with the District’s management and/or legal counsel.   
 
Accuracy and Honesty 
 
Strive for accuracy in any blog or post.  Include a link to your sources of information.  If a 
Board member makes a mistake, correct the information, or retract it promptly.  Never post 
any information or rumors that you know to be false about employees, other officials, or 
anyone.  
 
Board members should be honest and accurate when posting information or news, especially 
when communicating during a crisis or emergency.  Any mistakes, misstatements and/or 
factual errors must be corrected quickly upon discovery.  When possible, news of District-
wide importance should first be announced by the District's official social media sites.  This 
information can then be shared by Board members, linking back to the original post or 
official District website, when possible.  Unless the Board member has been designated to 
serve as a District spokesperson, a Board member should never represent themselves as a 
spokesperson for the entire Board or the District.  Board members should be mindful of 
recognizing that accomplishments of the District or the Board are achieved by collective 
action of the entire body or organization. 
 
Avoiding Commingling Social Media Accounts  
 
Board members should not use District email addresses to register on social networks, blogs, 
or other online tools utilized for personal use.  
 
Board members participating in digital or social media communications shall maintain and 
clearly delineate between separate accounts for official and personal/campaign statements, 
taking precaution not to convey personal/campaign communications in a manner that 
suggests such communications represent the position of the District or the Board as a whole.  
To avoid ambiguity, all statements, headings, profile pictures, or biographies on personal or 
campaign accounts shall: 
 
 

1. Not be made in the name of the position to which the Board member was elected or 
appointed; 

2. Clearly reflect that content on such accounts does not represent the official positions 
of the District or the Board; and 

3. Not display the District logo or any other official District mark or title. 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxxiii 

 

 

The District requires that Board members use only District accounts to send or receive 
electronic communications in connection with the conduct of District business.  As a result, 
there is no expectation of privacy if personal accounts are used to conduct District business 
or District accounts are used to conduct personal business.  If a Board member receives an 
electronic communication regarding District business on a personal account, he or she 
should copy that information to his or her official District account for transparency and ease 
of access for public records requests. 
  
Digital records relating to public business are required to be in a manner capable of 
maintaining the record for the applicable retention period, including through the use of 
highlights, bins, or archives for temporary and disappearing stories, reels, posts, or 
otherwise.   
 
Hosting Comments on Blog, Website, Facebook Page, or Other Social Media Platforms  
 
Another potential pitfall Board members face in using social media is by hosting a site or 
social media platform in your capacity as a government officer in which the public can post 
comments.  Although the law in this area is murky and currently under development, some 
authority suggests that a Board member who hosts comments in his or her capacity as a 
government official and deletes, hides, or otherwise obscures any comment by a member of 
the public has thereby engaged in censorship in violation of the First Amendment.  This is 
under the theory that the page hosting the comments constitutes a forum opened up by a 
government official, so that those who participate have constitutional rights to provide 
expression.  Violation of the First Amendment can create liability, including liability for the 
plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees.  Accordingly, if you host comments, you should make a clear 
distinction to those who visit your page or platform whether the page is yours in a strictly 
personal or other capacity or instead in your capacity as an elected official or member of the 
government.  If the latter, Board members should avoid deleting comments or blocking 
individuals on official pages or sites they maintain.  Social media content should be treated 
the same as any written document and retained in accordance with the District retention 
schedules or the minimum period required under applicable law, whichever is longest. 
 
 
 
Exercising Sound Discretion 
 
Use good and ethical judgment.  To the extent your social media use impacts District 
employees, Board members should follow District policies and regulations as applicable, 
including but not limited to those that protect individual privacy rights, anti-discrimination 
and harassment policies, and the anti-workplace violence policy. 
 
Board Members shall not post complaints or criticism of fellow Board members, District 
employees, or personnel (or anyone).  Board members should avoid using statements, 
photographs, video, or audio that reasonably could be viewed as unlawful harassment or 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



 

PAGE xxxiv 

 

 

discrimination or other violation of the law such as unlawful threatening conduct.  Examples 
of such conduct might include offensive posts that could contribute to a hostile work 
environment on the basis of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical or 
mental disability, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, sex, gender, gender 
identity, gender expression, age, sexual orientation, or any other status protected by law.  
Examples of unlawful threatening conduct include posting material that would make a 
reasonable person afraid for one’s safety or the safety of one’s family. 
 
Do not disclose information that may violate the rights of others.  For example, do not 
disclose another individual’s social security number, medical information, financial 
information, or other protected information in a manner that violates that person’s rights. 
 
If, as a Board member, you publish a blog or post online related to your work as an elected 
official, make it clear that you are not speaking on behalf of the District itself.  It is best to 
include a disclaimer such as “The postings on this site are my own and do not necessarily 
reflect the views of the District.”  
 
For more information  
 
If you have questions or need further guidance, please contact the General Manager. 

 

 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit A



TVMWD POLICY MANUAL REVISED DECEMBER  2022 

Policy Manual 2022 

Matthew H. Litchfield, P.E. 
General Manager/Chief Engineer 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2021 
i 

Table of Contents 
1. PURPOSE AND ORGANIZATION ................................................................................................................. 1 

1.1. Mission ........................................................................................................................................................ 1 

1.2. Vision Statement ........................................................................................................................................ 1 

1.3. Core Values ................................................................................................................................................. 1 

1.4. Functions and Powers ................................................................................................................................ 1 

1.5. Member Agencies as Customers ............................................................................................................... 2 

2. GOVERNANCE .................................................................................................................................................. 3 

2.1. Board of Directors - Principal Functions ................................................................................................. 3 

2.2. Election ........................................................................................................................................................ 3 

2.3. Board of Directors – Organization ........................................................................................................... 3 

2.4. Board of Directors - Public Meetings ....................................................................................................... 4 

2.5. Board of Directors - Norms of Conduct and Communication ............................................................... 5 

2.6. Board of Directors - Orientation Meeting ................................................................................................ 8 

2.7. Board of Directors - Compensation .......................................................................................................... 8 

2.8. Board of Directors – Reimbursement ....................................................................................................... 9 

2.9. Board of Directors - Ethics Training ...................................................................................................... 14 

2.10. Board of Directors – Workplace Harassment Training........................................................................ 15 

2.11. Board of Directors – Governance/Management Connection................................................................ 16 

3. GENERAL MANAGER AND STAFF............................................................................................................ 17 

3.1. General Policy ........................................................................................................................................ 177 

3.2. General Manager Authority - Limits Set by Board ............................................................................ 177 

3.3. Safety ....................................................................................................................................................... 177 

3.4. Loyalty Oath ........................................................................................................................................... 177 

4. WATER PLANNING AND SUPPLY ........................................................................................................... 188 

4.1. General Policy ........................................................................................................................................ 188 

4.2. Water Management Plan ....................................................................................................................... 188 

4.3. Water Quality ......................................................................................................................................... 188 

4.4. Water Use Efficiency, Public Outreach & Water Conservation ........................................................ 188 

 

 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2021 
ii 

5. CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ........................................................................................................................ 19 

5.1. Service Connections ................................................................................................................................. 19 

5.2. System Maintenance and Repairs ........................................................................................................... 19 

5.3. Other Capital Improvements .................................................................................................................. 19 

6. FINANCIAL INTEGRITY .............................................................................................................................. 20 

6.1. General Policy .......................................................................................................................................... 20 

6.2. Annual Budget .......................................................................................................................................... 20 

6.3. Rates, Charges, Assessments and Penalties ........................................................................................... 20 

6.4. Reserves .................................................................................................................................................... 21 

6.5. Investment of Funds ................................................................................................................................. 21 

6.6. Risk Management..................................................................................................................................... 21 

6.7. Audit .......................................................................................................................................................... 22 

7. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT .............................................................................................................................. 23 

7.1. General Policy .......................................................................................................................................... 23 

7.2. Public Information and Education ......................................................................................................... 23 

7.3. District Spokesperson .............................................................................................................................. 23 

7.4. Requests for Public Records.................................................................................................................... 23 

APPENDIX A  Resolutions and Motions Superseded by Adoption of this Policy ............................................... 26 

APPENDIX B  End Notes ..................................................................................................................................... 28 

APPENDIX C  Policy Addendums ....................................................................................................................... 29 

 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 1 

 

1. PURPOSE AND ORGANIZATION 
  

1.1. Mission  
The mission of Three Valleys Municipal Water District is to supplement and enhance local 
water supplies to meet our region’s needs in a reliable and cost-effective manner.1 

 
1.2. Vision Statement 
The District meets its regional water supply needs through: 

 
1.2.1. Collaboration with its member agencies to understand their short-term and long-

term needs 
1.2.2. Development and implementation of a plan to address these needs in a cost-

effective manner based on current water conditions 
1.2.3. Periodic update of the plan as needed or as major changes in water conditions occur 
1.2.4. Adaptive management strategies that seek a combination of operational and cost 

efficiency.1 
 

1.3. Core Values 
The Core Values of Three Valleys Municipal Water District are as follows: 

 
1.3.1. Teamwork – The coordination, collaboration, participation and understanding of 

everyone’s role in fulfilling the mission and vision. 
1.3.2. Communication – The exchanging of information and sharing of ideas. 
1.3.3. Customer Service – The process of ensuring customer satisfaction. 
1.3.4. Personal Responsibility – Being accountable for something within one’s control. 
1.3.5. Professional Integrity – The manner in which people behave and act in the 

workplace. 
1.3.6. Employee Development – The steps taken to encourage each employee’s 

professional and personal growth. 
1.3.7. Innovation – The process of inventing or introducing something new. 
1.3.8. Recognition – Appreciating the value of an achievement. 
 

1.4. Functions and Powers 
The District is a Municipal Water District, organized under and subject to the provisions of the 
Municipal Water District Law of 1911.2  The District’s primary functions are to acquire, 
control, distribute, store, purify, and conserve water for the beneficial use of its entire area 
(Water Code Sections 71610-71612).  The District has the power of eminent domain (Water 
Code Sections 71693-71694); the right to acquire, use, and dispose of easements and other 
interests in real property (Water Code Sections 71690-71691); the right to use the public right-
of-way for operating facilities (Water Code Sections 71695-71698); the power to fix water 
rates and fees (Water Code Sections 71613-71617); incur bonded indebtedness (Water Code 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 2 

 

Sections 71312.5, 72028-72028.4, 72073-72077); levy standby charges (Water Code Sections 
71630-71637, 71638-71638.4, 71639; Government Code Sections 54984-54984.9); impose 
water replenishment assessments (Water Code Sections 71682-71689.9), special taxes (Water 
Code Sections 72090-72099), and utility taxes (Water Code Sections 72072-72072.12); and 
the authority to issue bonds for system maintenance and development.3  The District also has 
the power to sue or be sued (Water Code Sections 71750-71752), and to contract (Water Code 
Section 71592), and to enter into a variety of legally recognized relationships with other public 
and/or private entities (Water Code Sections 71720-71723). The District exercises its power to 
generate electricity for direct use and for sale to other parties and reserves the right to exercise 
other latent powers in the future.4  As a member public agency of the Metropolitan Water 
District of Southern California, the District is entitled to certain rights and privileges, and may 
be responsible for carrying out certain duties.5 
 
1.5. Member Agencies as Customers  
The District wholesales water for the benefit and use of its customers (commonly referred to 
as “Member Agencies”).  Member Agencies include: Golden State Water Company; Rowland 
Water District; Walnut Valley Water District; Valencia Heights Water Company; Boy Scouts 
of America; California State Polytechnic University, Pomona; Mount San Antonio College; 
Suburban Water Systems; Covina Irrigating Company and the cities of Covina, Glendora, La 
Verne, and Pomona.  For the benefit of any or all of these Member Agencies, the District may 
also sell water to a Watermaster that administers a court judgment, and/or a Joint Powers 
Authority with any of these Member Agencies as a participating member. Through the Member 
Agencies, water is provided to the following cities or unincorporated areas: Charter Oak, 
Claremont, Covina, Covina Hills, Diamond Bar, Glendora, Industry, La Puente, La Verne, 
Pomona, Rowland Heights, San Dimas, Walnut and West Covina.  Any significant initiation 
or change of service, change in boundaries, sphere of influence, jurisdiction, or organization, 
must be approved by the Local Agency Formation Commission for Los Angeles County 
(LAFCO).6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 3 

 

2. GOVERNANCE 
 

2.1. Board of Directors - Principal Functions 
The major functions of the Board of Three Valleys Municipal Water District are to define 
District goals and objectives; to act as custodian of District property and resources; to establish 
District policies; to review all District operations; to direct the development of management 
plans; to employ the General Manager of the District who shall implement the goals, plans and 
policies established by the Board of Directors; and to communicate with the District’s Member 
Agencies and the general public (Water Code Sections 71270-71314). Policies that supplement 
obligations of the District as set forth in the law are established by ordinances, resolutions, or 
motions passed by the Board of Directors.7  

 
2.2. Election 
A seven-member Board of Directors governs the District.8 Directors are elected to four-year 
terms at elections in November of even-numbered years.  Elections are staggered, with 
Directors for Divisions I, III, and V elected at one election and the Directors for Division II, 
IV, VI, and VII elected at another election.  A candidate for the Board of Directors must be a 
resident of the District, as well as the Division the candidate wishes to represent. 
 
Candidate Statements of Qualification, which appear on sample ballot pamphlets, are limited 
to 200 words [California Water Code Section 71505; California Elections Code Sections 10540 
and 13307(a) (1)].  The District does not pay any costs associated with the printing, mailing 
and/or handling of these.9 

 
If an incumbent Board member is unchallenged in an election, the District will be notified that 
the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors will appoint him or her to a new term.10 
 
The events causing a vacancy before the expiration of a Director’s term are set forth in 
California Water Code Section 71250.5 and California Government Code Section 1770. 
Procedures contained in the California Government Code allow a vacancy to be filled by 
appointment by the remaining Board, or by election, or by appointment by the Los Angeles 
County Board of Supervisors.11 
 
2.3. Board of Directors – Organization 
At its first meeting in the month of January of each-odd-numbered year, the Board shall elect 
one of its members President.  The term of the Board President shall generally be two years, 
but may be extended by the Board for an additional year.  At its first Board meeting in January 
of each year, the Board of Directors elects from among its members a President (if required 
that year), Vice-President, Secretary, and Treasurer.12 Roles and responsibilities of these 
officers are as follows: 
 
President:  The President presides over all public meetings as well as all workshops and ensures 
all proper parliamentary procedures are followed during public meetings and workshops.  The 
President shall serve as the spokesperson for the District.  The President signs contracts binding 
on the District as well as all board-approved resolutions, ordinances and minutes.  The 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 4 

 

President signs all District checks. 
 
Vice President:  The Vice President carries out the duties and responsibilities of the President 
when the President is not available to perform those duties. 
 
Secretary:  The Secretary is responsible for signing all board-approved resolutions and 
ordinances. 
 
Treasurer:  The Treasurer is responsible for reviewing the District’s financial institution 
statements on a monthly basis and reconcile the statements to the monthly reports prepared by 
staff. 
 
The Board of Directors’ selects or confirms District representatives to the following: 
 
(1) Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MWD)  
(2) San Gabriel Valley Basin Water Quality Authority (WQA) – selected representative serves 

a four-year term designated by resolution.  
a. The representative/alternate members of these two Boards serve at the pleasure of 

the Three Valleys Board of Directors.   
 

Following the election of officers, the Board of Directors shall appoint District representatives 
to the following: 

 
(1) Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster 
(2) Chino Basin Watermaster  
(3) Six Basins Watermaster.  

 
All Board Members serve on the TVMWD Financing Corporation.   

 
Members of the Board of Directors may also be appointed as the District’s 
representative/alternate to observe at other organizations, which shall be listed and approved 
by the Board of Directors. All assignments are for the calendar year and begin on January 1. 
The Board President may defer action on appointing representatives / alternates for up to 60 
days. Predecessors will serve in their assigned role as representative or alternate until replaced. 
  
2.4. Board of Directors - Public Meetings 
Regular Board meetings are generally held on the first and third Wednesday of each month at 
8:00 a.m. at the District Headquarters, 1021 E. Miramar Avenue, Claremont, California.  
 
The District’s meetings of the Board of Directors are subject to the requirements of the Ralph 
M. Brown Act.13 To clarify and supplement the Brown Act and to ensure that the Board’s 
deliberations and the District’s operations are open to the public to the full extent permitted by 
law, the Board originally adopted Ordinance No. 3-01-8, superseded by Ordinance No. 13-04-
20 and most recently amended it with Ordinance No. 21-02-22 (aka Sunshine Ordinance). 
 
Robert’s Rules of Order provide guidance for the conduct of the Board’s business except where 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 5 

 

otherwise provided by resolution, law, order, or motion of the District. The Board President 
will rule on all matters of procedure, with the advice of legal counsel. 

 
Except as set forth in California Government Code Section 54954.2, the Board of Directors 
will only consider items placed on the public agenda for each Board meeting. During its 
meetings, the Board of Directors may go into a closed session to discuss confidential personnel 
matters, labor negotiations, possible litigation, or matters related to attorney-client privilege.  
The President or a majority of the Board of Directors may call a Special Board Meeting. 
 
District legal counsel attends meetings as requested by the Board of Directors or the General 
Manager. All legal counsel directives shall go through the Board of Directors or the General 
Manager. The General Manager may delegate to other employees the authority to request legal 
counsel for certain routine matters, such as review of contracts and agreements. 
 
2.5. Board of Directors - Norms of Conduct and Communication 

2.5.1. Personal Conduct: The work of the District is a team effort.  All individuals should 
work together in the collaborative process, assisting each other in conducting the 
affairs of the District.  Directors shall thoroughly prepare themselves to discuss 
agenda items at meetings of the Board of Directors. Directors shall, at all times, 
conduct themselves with courtesy to each other, to staff and to members of the 
audience present at Board meetings.  Directors shall defer to the Board President 
for conduct of meetings of the Board, but shall be free to question and discuss items 
on the agenda.  All comments should be brief and confined to the matter being 
discussed by the Board.  Directors may request for inclusion into minutes brief 
comments pertinent to an agenda item, only at the meeting that item is discussed 
(including, if desired, a position on abstention or dissenting vote). When responding 
to requests and concerns from Member Agencies and other customers, Directors 
should be courteous, responding to individuals in a positive manner and routing 
their questions through appropriate channels and to responsible management 
personnel.  Directors should develop a working relationship with the General 
Manager wherein current issues, concerns and District projects can be discussed 
comfortably and openly.  Directors should function as a part of the whole.  Issues 
should be brought to the attention of the Board as a whole, rather than to individual 
members selectively.  Directors are responsible for monitoring the District’s 
progress in attaining its goals and objectives, while pursuing its mission. 

2.5.2. Conflicts of Interest: The Board of Directors has adopted a Conflict of Interest 
Code, as required by the California Political Reform Act of 1974, as amended.14 
This Code sets guidelines for the Directors’ disclosure of their economic interests 
to meet requirements of State law.  Additionally, Directors shall abstain from 
participating in consideration of any item involving a prohibited conflict of interest.  
Unless such a conflict of interest exists, however, Directors should not abstain from 
the Board’s decision-making responsibilities. 

2.5.3. Campaign Disclosures: District Board members and employees shall not accept, 
solicit, or direct a political contribution from (a) existing District vendors, 
consultants, or contractors, or (b) vendors, consultants, or contractors who have a 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 6 

 

financial interest in a contract or other matter while that contract or other matter is 
pending before the District. 
The District shall not enter into a contract with a proposed vendor, consultant, or 
contractor who has made a political contribution to or at the behest of a District 
Board member or employee. 
 
To ensure full transparency in these matters, the District will request disclosure 
requirements in its bid processes that will obligate a potential vendor, consultant, 
or contractor to disclose any material financial relationship they may have or may 
have had with a District Board member or employee that includes, but is not limited 
to, payment of a salary or commission and/or donation to his or her political 
campaign. 
 
 

2.5.4. Communication of Views and Positions: The Board of Directors is committed to 
providing excellence in leadership and the highest quality of service to its member 
agencies and customers. 

2.5.5. The Board of Directors shall observe the following:  
a.  The dignity, style, values and opinions of each Director shall be respected. 

Responsiveness and attentive listening in communication is encouraged. 
b.  The needs of the public and the District’s Member Agencies and other customers 

should be the priority of the Board of Directors. 
c.  Directors should commit themselves to emphasizing the positive, avoiding double 

talk, hidden agendas, gossip, backbiting and other negative forms of interaction. 
d.  Directors commit themselves to focusing on issues and not personalities.   The 

presentation of the opinions of others should be encouraged. Cliques and voting 
blocs based on personalities rather than issues will be avoided. 

 
e.  Differing viewpoints are healthy in the decision-making process. Individuals have 

the right to disagree with ideas and opinions, in a constructive and forthright 
manner. Once the Board of Directors takes action, Directors should commit to 
support said action and not create barriers to the implementation of said action. 

 
2.5.6. Involvement in Elections: The District does not contribute funds directly or 

indirectly to candidates for elected public office [Government Code Section 
3205(a)]. Furthermore, the District prohibits any political activity of officers or 
employees of the District during working hours or on the premises of the District 
[Government Code Section 3207]. 

2.5.7. Board Discipline: In the exercise of its discretion, the District’s Board of Directors, 
by affirmative vote of five (5) of its members, may censure any of its members for 
a period of time deemed appropriate by said super majority of the Board of 
Directors.  Unless otherwise prohibited by law, the maximum penalty that may be 
imposed upon the censured Director by said supermajority of the Board of Directors 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 7 

 

during the period of such censure shall be the following: 
a. The suspension of all spending of District funds by the censured Director and of all 

reimbursement from District funds of any costs incurred by the censured Director, 
unless otherwise allowed by the Board of Directors. 

b. The removal of the censured Director from service on all committees and other 
assignments on behalf of the District and/or the Board of Directors, unless 
subsequently authorized by the Board of Directors and/or the President of the Board 
of Directors. 

c. The withholding of all compensation by the District to the censured Director except 
as otherwise allowed for attending meetings of the District’s Board of Directors 
and other meetings subsequently authorized by the Board of Directors and/or 
President of the Board of Directors. 

d. The withholding of all or some of the benefits provided by the District to the 
censured director as determined by the Board of Directors. 

2.5.8. Miscellaneous 
a. The District shall not purchase alcoholic beverages for consumption at meetings of 

the Board, or functions sponsored by the District. 
b. Directors will be expected to maintain proper decorum and comportment while 

representing the District. 
c. Subject to California Government Code Section 89001 and Section 18901 of Title 

2 of the California Code of Regulations, Directors may use District letterhead for 
routine correspondence as a normal part of their duties, but are restricted from 
representing the Board of Directors or from using staff time excessively on all other 
matters without prior approval by the Board of Directors in an open session. The 
following guidelines shall apply: 

 
1) Letterhead may not be used for partisan activities or positions or in connection 

with a director’s outside employment. 
2) All correspondence will be prepared for a Director by District staff, and a copy 

will be placed in the next regular Board packet. 
d. If Directors or staff has any question whether the correspondence is routine, it 

should be submitted to the full Board of Directors for prior approval. The following 
examples are guidelines for this policy: 

 
1) Board Approval Required:  If District letterhead is used to express opinions or 

positions on which the Board of Directors has not taken an official position, or 
has an opposing position to that of the Board member, the letter/memo must 
state that the position expressed is his/her individual position and does not 
reflect the official position of the Board of Directors, and a copy must be 
provided to the Board of Directors for their information prior to mailing the 
letter/memo out. In addition, if letter/memo subject matter requires excessive 
use of staff time prior approval is required. 

2) Board Approval Not Required:  If the letter/memo expresses or requests 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 8 

 

support/opposition to actions in accordance with a Board adopted position; 
merely makes an inquiry or requests information on a District related matter; 
may respond to an inquiry or invitation to participate in a District related 
activity. In addition, approval is not required for thank you letters. 

e. Directors may be provided computer tablet or like devices to conduct District 
business. Use of these devices shall be limited to District business and any use 
thereof may be subject to disclosure under the Brown Act and/or Public Records 
Act.  

 
2.6. Board of Directors - Orientation Meeting 
Following the certification of the general election, staff will schedule an orientation with any 
newly elected Director, or any Director who is re-elected with a lapse of four years or greater. 
The purpose of the orientation will be to review, but not limited to, the following:  The Ralph 
M. Brown Act, Robert’s Rules of Orders, Conflicts of Interest, Directors’ Compensation, 
Directors Travel and Reimbursement, a general review of Board Policies, Ethical behavior and 
conduct. Additionally, a facility tour will be scheduled to share information regarding 
TVMWD’s operations and projects that are underway. 
 

2.6.1. District of Distinction 
TVMWD was originally awarded the District of Distinction designation by California 
Special Districts Leadership Foundation during 2014; this designation is recertified every 
three years. In order to maintain this designation all newly elected Directors are required 
to complete six hours of Governance training. Staff will work with newly elected Directors 
during the first quarter following their installation to coordinate this required training. 

 
2.7. Board of Directors - Compensation  
Pursuant to California Water Code, Section 20200 et seq., Three Valleys Municipal Water 
District has limited its compensation each Director shall receive as permitted by State law in 
an amount not to exceed $200 per day for each day’s attendance at meetings of the Board of 
Directors and Board authorized agency or committee meetings, and water related meetings, 
seminars and workshops which the Board of Directors determines are of benefit to the District, 
or for each day’s service rendered as a Director that has a substantial relationship to the 
District’s purpose (Ordinance No. 2-07-15 adopted on February 21, 2007), not exceeding a 
total of ten (10) days in any calendar month (Ordinance No 2-01-7 adopted on February 7, 
2001).15  

 
2.7.1. For purposes of determining eligibility for compensation, the term “meeting” as 

used herein is defined as a meeting reasonably necessary to further the interests of 
the District and its projects that afford an opportunity for Directors to discuss many 
issues informally with other agencies and leaders in the community and achieving 
a goal of maintaining consistent, effective and open channels of communication 
with other entities, including the following: 

a. Any occurrence that is listed in Government Code Section 53232.1(a): 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 9 

 

1) A regular, special, or emergency meeting of the Board; 
2) A meeting of a standing, ad hoc, or advisory committee of the Board; 
3) A conference, seminar, or organized educational activity involving matters 

related to functions and operations of the District. 
b. Other occurrences: 

1) Any meeting of an agency where the District has appointed a specific 
representative. 

2) Conference calls to discuss matters related to the functions and operations of 
the District. 

3) Any other meetings determined by the Board to be reasonably necessary in 
furthering the interests of the District. 

2.7.2. Compensation for a day of service will be permitted on the day before and/or the 
day after a meeting or conference if circumstances required the Director to travel 
on the day before and/or after. 

2.7.3. Meetings must be relevant to the District and constituents the Director is elected to 
serve. 

a. Fundraising and other campaign type events for state-level and federal-level 
campaigns for elected officials are not compensable. 

2.7.4. To receive compensation for attendance or participation at approved meetings, a 
Board member shall:  

a. Submit their expense reports for the preceding calendar month to the District’s 
General Manager or designee by the fourth calendar day following the end of the 
month.   

b. Directors may list compensated and non-compensated meetings, but will only 
receive compensation on meetings as listed above in Section 2.7. 

c. Provide a brief written report justifying how the meeting was reasonably necessary 
to further the interests of the District. Include descriptive information such as other 
TVMWD directors in attendance, name of person(s) the meeting was with and 
agency or organization affiliation. 

d. Directors are expected to be on time for each meeting and participate for the entire 
duration of each meeting, unless an emergency or unexpected situation requires the 
Director to arrive late or leave the meeting early.  

e. Request compensation for each meeting at $200. 
The Board will consider approval of compensation at the monthly Board meeting 
the following month. 
 

2.7.5. If a Director is unable to attend a meeting for which they have been appointed to 
represent the District, they are to notify staff in a timely manner to contact the 
designated alternate to attend. The WQA, Chino Basin Watermaster and Six Basins' 
alternate representatives are expected to attend meetings of those agencies 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 10 

 

regularly.   
2.7.6. The TVMWD Director serving as an MWD Director, may receive compensation 

for each day’s attendance at meetings of the MWD Board and committees, in the 
same amount and upon the same terms as is provided with respect to service on the 
Board of Directors of the District.16  

2.7.7. Compensation is not to exceed a total of ten (10) days in any calendar month. Where 
two (2) or more meetings, including meetings of MWD and the District, occur on 
the same day, it shall count as one day’s service for purposes of compensation.  
Miscellaneous expense reimbursement requests of the MWD Director should be 
made to MWD.  

2.8. Board of Directors – Reimbursement 
The District shall reimburse Board members for costs incurred related to attendance or 
participation at meetings as defined in section 2.7.4, as provided herein. 

2.8.1. Eligible Expenses: Expenses eligible for reimbursement shall be limited to: 
a.  Registration costs, or other charges for participation at the meeting; 
b. Transportation to and from the meeting, including airfare, car rental, or mileage for 

use of a Board member’s own automobile, and other miscellaneous transportation 
costs (shuttle, taxi, train, Uber, Lyft, parking, etc.). 

c. Lodging at the single-room rate; and 
d. Reasonable costs of meals (see section 2.8.3 d). 
 

2.8.2. Budget Limits: The maximum amount of District-paid expenses that each Board 
member may annually incur without separate prior Board approval is $7,500 each 
fiscal year (Resolution No. 18-04-823, adopted April 18, 2018).  

 
2.8.3. Reimbursement Rate: 

a. Registration and Meeting Charges  
The District reimbursement rate for registration or other charges for participation 
at a meeting shall be the actual amount incurred, not to exceed the maximum rate 
published by the conference or activity sponsor or timely registration after applying 
all applicable deductions for any available discounts. Registration and meeting 
charges incurred by the District shall be reflected on a monthly status report issued 
to each Board member. In the event that a Board member must withdraw from a 
conference or activity after registration and payment has been made, and a refund 
or credit may not be obtained from the organizing group or agency, the expense 
will be charged against the Board members annual budget limit of $7,500. 
However, if a credit may be obtained and applied by the District for a future 
conference or activity of the same type or by the same organization, the expense 
account of the Board member will not be debited until such time that the credit is 
applied or expires, if applicable. 
  
Directors are encouraged to work with assigned staff to coordinate registration at 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 11 

 

all meetings to ensure consistency, as well as to ensure that all applicable discounts 
are applied. It is important to register within the prescribed deadlines as a courtesy 
to those outside entities planning the events. Requests to attend an event after a 
prescribed deadline passes will be the sole responsibility of the director, including 
any related costs, which may be submitted for reimbursement with proper 
documentation on the monthly expense report. Directors may not direct outside 
entities to bill the District for events they have attended without working through 
the District first. 
 
Directors are encouraged to utilize payment administered by the Executive 
Assistant when registering for conferences and events.  If a Director pre-registers 
and pays for the conference or event on their own, reimbursement for that expense 
will not be considered until the reimbursement form is submitted the month 
following the conference or event. 
 

b. Transportation 
1) Members of the Board must use government and group rates offered by a 

provider of transportation services for travel when available. If such rates are 
not available, the reimbursement rate for Board member transportation shall be 
the actual amount incurred, not to exceed the cost of round-trip coach air fare. 

2) Reasonable private vehicle expenses are reimbursable up to the cost of coach 
airfare and the attendant cost of ground transportation. Vehicle versus airfare 
costs are expected to be documented to verify reimbursement is the most 
economical.  A Board member may not appropriate a District vehicle solely for 
his or her own individual use as a means of transportation to conferences or 
seminars. Mileage reimbursement shall be given when personal vehicles are 
used for District business. The District reimbursement rate for mileage by use 
of a Board member’s own vehicle shall be calculated on the basis of total miles 
driven for District purposes at the rate specified in the Internal Revenue Code 
in effect at the time of the vehicle usage. Mileage will only be reimbursed for 
meetings approved for compensation as outlined in Section 2.7. 

 
3) The District reimbursement rate for vehicle parking by a Board member shall 

be the actual amount incurred. 
 

4) If an alternative private aircraft is used in lieu of commercial air travel, written 
documentation of actual cost incurred by the director must be provided along 
with comparison of the lowest commercial air charges. If additional 
supplemental ground transportation such as taxi or shuttle would normally be 
required to reach the destination, these charges may be included at the lowest 
rate for comparison purposes. All efforts should be exercised to obtain 
comparison rates at least 21 days prior to scheduled travel date to obtain the 
lowest rates. The latest comparison date permitted will coincide with the latest 
published RSVP date for any scheduled event and/or conference. Note: if there 
is no direct cost to the Director for the alternate private aircraft, the expense is 
not subject to reimbursement, and, may be subject to gift limitations and filing 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 12 

 

on the annual Form 700-Statement of Economic Interest form. 
 

c. Lodging 
Members of the Board must use government and group rates offered by a provider 
of lodging services when available. If the lodging is in connection with an accepted 
conference or organized educational activity, lodging costs must not exceed the 
maximum group rate published by the conference or activity sponsor, provided that 
lodging at the group rate is available to the member of the Board at the time of 
booking.  If a government or group rate is not available, the District reimbursement 
rate for Board member lodging shall be the actual amount incurred, not to exceed 
the rate for comparable lodging. No reimbursement requests will be approved for 
lodging expenses incurred within the District’s service area. However, lodging 
costs will be paid by the District under the following circumstances: 
 
1) The Board member is attending a conference or other qualifying function held 

more than 50 miles from their home;  OR 
a. Lodging for the night before will be reimbursed if the Board member would 

have needed to leave their home before 6am; 
b. Lodging for the night of will be reimbursed if the Board member would 

have arrived home that night after 7pm. 
 

Lodging requests not covered by this section will not be reimbursed, except upon 
authorization of the Board given at a public meeting. Actual and reasonable lodging 
expenses will be reimbursed only for authorized personnel and as such will not be 
reimbursed for guests or family members of the authorized personnel. Where 
reasonably possible, lodging will be obtained in proximity to the conference or 
function site. In most cases, lodging should be arranged and paid for through the 
District. With adequate notice, staff is able to arrange for prepayment of authorized 
charges via the District credit card. Staff will be unable to acquire any lodging for 
events that are requested after the prescribed RSVP deadline has passed. 
 
2) At some conference venues, a Director may have access to alternate lodging 

due to the availability of time shares, a secondary residence, etc. 
Reimbursement for any alternate lodging is limited to the cost of scheduled 
actual conference lodging costs or the lesser of the two venues. Documentation 
in the form of a receipt paid for alternate lodging must be provided to receive 
reimbursement. 

 
d. Meals 

The District reimbursement rate for Board member meals shall be the actual amount 
incurred, not to exceed $100.00 per day’s service. The District does not pay for or 
reimburse for alcoholic beverages.  When the District pays for meals, which are 
included in a conference/seminar registration packet, outside meals will not be 
reimbursed. 
  

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 13 

 

1) Gift Acceptance 
On occasion at different events and/or conferences, a Director may be extended an 
invitation to a meal function. These meal functions, when not part of the paid 
conference or event, may be subject to gift disclosure requirements on an individual 
Form 700 Statement of Economic Interest form if the amount of the dinner exceeds 
$50. The meal host (district vendor, consultant) should be asked to provide written 
documentation that includes an itemization of items consumed. In the case of hosted 
alcoholic beverages shared by many (e.g. bottle of wine), the cost of the beverage 
may be prorated by the total number of guests at the meal function. Alternately, 
TVMWD will accept this invitation under the guidance of FPPC Form 801 – 
Payment to agency and complete the required documentation in accordance with 
the supplemental TVMWD Gift Acceptance policy. If TVMWD completes and 
files a Form 801, individuals are not required to include the information on their 
annual Form 700. 
2) Distribution of Tickets and Passes 
 
In compliance with the Fair Political Practices Commission Regulation Section 
18944.1, when complimentary tickets or passes are conveyed to a Director to attend 
an event that normally would have been paid for, TVMWD will complete and file 
FPPC Form 802 – Ceremonial Role Events and Ticket / Pass Distribution. If 
TVMWD completes and files a Form 802, individuals are not required to include 
the information on their annual Form 700, in accordance with the supplemental 
TVMWD Distribution of Tickets and Passes policy. 
 

e. Other  
District reimbursement of all other actual and necessary expenses incurred by a 
Board member shall be computed using the applicable Internal Revenue Service 
rates for reimbursement as established in Publication 463, or any successor 
publication.  All expenses that do not fall within this reimbursement policy or the 
Internal Revenue Service reimbursable rates, as provided above, shall be approved 
by the Board in a public meeting before the expense is incurred. If the Board 
member chooses to incur additional costs that are above the rates established herein, 
and those costs have not been approved by the Board in a public meeting before the 
expense is incurred, then the Board member may do so at his or her own expense. 
 

2.8.4. Ineligible Expenses: The District will not advance cash to a director.  Directors will 
not be issued District credit cards or car allowances. Board members shall not be 
eligible for District reimbursement of any expenses incurred by any person 
traveling or attending a meeting as a guest of the Board member. Any expenses 
related to meetings not approved by the Board will be deducted from the Director’s 
compensation and reimbursement payment. Gratuity exceeding 15% of the subtotal 
will be ineligible for reimbursement. 

 
2.8.5. Expense Forms: The District shall provide expense report forms to be filed by the 

members of the Board for reimbursement of actual and necessary expenses incurred 
on behalf of the District in the performance of official duties. The expense reports 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 14 

 

shall document that expenses meet the policy reflected in this document for the 
expenditure of public resources.  Board members shall submit their expense reports 
to the District’s General Manager or designee for the preceding calendar month by 
the fourth calendar day following the end of the month. All reports shall be 
accompanied by the original, itemized receipts for ancillary expenses such as meals, 
parking, etc.  Costs that normally would not have a receipt (i.e. tips) should be 
documented on the expense report. Otherwise, missing receipts will not be 
reimbursed. Approval of Director expenses for the preceding month will be 
included on the agenda of the Board meeting held on the third Wednesday of each 
month. All documents related to reimbursable District expenditures are public 
records subject to disclosure under the California Public Records Act. 

 
 
 

2.9. Board of Directors - Ethics Training 
2.9.1. Requirement: 

a. Elected Officials 
AB1234 was chaptered in 2005, effective January 1, 2006, and requires all elected 
officials shall receive ethics training within one year of taking office and every two 
years thereafter. TVMWD holds biennial training during the first quarter of odd years 
to meet this requirement for its elected officials.  
b. Staff     
TVMWD requires that all regular employees complete ethics training within one year 
of hire and every two years thereafter. TVMWD holds biennial training during the first 
quarter of odd years to meet this requirement for its employees. TVMWD may assign 
Target Solutions ethics training to any employee that is hired during the off-training 
cycle to insure compliance with this law. 
 

2.9.2. Application: 
Local Agency Official: As used in Section 2.9.1, the term “local agency official” 
means all of the following: 
 
a. All Board members; and 
b. All executive staff of the District. 
 
Ethics Laws: As used in Section 2.9.1, the phrase “ethics laws” includes, but is not 
limited to, the following: 
  
a. Laws relating to personal financial gain by public servants, including, but not 

limited to, laws prohibiting bribery and conflict-of- interest laws; 
b. Laws relating to claiming perquisites of office, including, but not limited to, gift 

and travel restrictions, prohibitions against the use of public resources for 
personal or political purposes, prohibitions against gifts of public funds, mass 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 15 

 

mailing restrictions, and prohibitions against acceptance of free or discounted 
transportation by transportation companies; 

c. Government transparency laws, including, but not limited to, financial interest 
disclosure requirements and open government laws; and 

d. Laws relating to fair processes, including, but not limited to, common law bias 
prohibitions, due process requirements, incompatible offices, competitive 
bidding requirements for public contracts, and disqualification from 
participating in decisions affecting family members. 

  
2.9.3. District Responsibilities 

Records: The District shall maintain records indicating (a) the dates that local 
agency officials satisfied the requirements of Section 2.9 and (b) the entity that 
provided the training.  The District shall maintain these records for at least five 
years after local agency officials receive the training.  These records are public 
records subject to disclosure under the California Public Records Act. 
 
Notice: The District is required to provide information on training available to meet 
the requirements of Section 2.9 to its local agency officials at least once annually. 
 

2.10. Board of Directors – Workplace Harassment Training 
 

2.10.1. Requirement 
a. Elected Officials 
Effective January 1, 2017, new legislation (AB1661) clarifies an elected officials’ 
responsibility to complete this training. Within six months of taking office an 
elected official must complete this training. Thereafter, each Board member must 
participate in such training at least once every two years.  
b. Supervisory Staff.  
All district staff must participate in the District’s program of providing at least two 
hours of classroom or other effective interactive training and education regarding 
workplace harassment no later than six months from their first day of service with 
the District. Thereafter, each district staff member must participate in such training 
at least once every two years.  
c. Biennial Training 
During the first quarter of odd years, following the General Election, TVMWD will 
provide training to elected officials and district staff. TVMWD will utilize Target 
Solutions for interim training for district staff. 
 

2.10.2. District Responsibilities  
The training and education required by Section 2.10 shall include information and practical 
guidance regarding the federal and state statutory provisions concerning the prohibition 
against and the prevention and correction of workplace harassment and the remedies 
available to victims of workplace harassment in employment. The training and education 
shall also include practical examples aimed at instructing District supervisors in the 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 16 

 

prevention of harassment, discrimination, and retaliation, and shall be presented by trainers 
and educators with knowledge and expertise in the prevention of harassment, 
discrimination, and retaliation. 
 

2.11. Board of Directors – Governance/Management Connection 
With the exception of the Board’s relationship with General Counsel, the Board’s sole official 
connection to the operational organization, its achievements and conduct will be through a 
chief executive officer, titled General Manager. The Water Code states that the General 
Manager has “full charge and control” of the District’s system, subject to Board approval 
(Section 71362). The District’s definition of “full charge and control” includes technical 
aspects such as construction, operations, repair and maintenance, and engineering; as well as 
day-to-day administrative functions such as accounting, billing, and financial services; and 
management functions over employees, suppliers and consultants. The definition also includes 
the General Manager’s ability to accomplish these functions, and their accountability for them. 
 The primary, binding authority with respect to the General Manager’s role and responsibilities 
is stated in California Water Code Sections 71362 and 71363. Consistent with that foundational 
policy, several important policy concepts are highlighted in this and subsequent sections. 
 
Only officially passed ordinances, resolutions, and motions of the Board are binding on the 
General Manager except in rare instances when the Board has specifically authorized such 
exercise of authority. In initiating communication with District staff, Directors should 
generally contact the General Manager.  In the absence of the General Manager, Directors may 
contact the appropriate management staff member to obtain the requested assistance. Any 
Board member requests that require substantial work must come to the Board for direction. 
 
The General Manager is the Board’s only link to operational achievement and conduct, so that 
all authority and accountability of staff, as far as the Board is concerned, is considered the 
authority and accountability of the General Manager. The Board, as a whole, will not give 
direction to a person who reports directly or indirectly to the General Manager. The Board as 
a whole will not evaluate, either formally or informally, any staff other than the General 
Manager. The Board will evaluate the General Manager performance qualitatively, using as 
guidelines the General Manager’s stated annual objectives. Adjustments in the General 
Manager’s remuneration or contract will be consistent with the Board’s evaluation of 
performance and achievement of stated objectives. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 17 

 

3. GENERAL MANAGER AND STAFF 
 

3.1. General Policy 
The General Manager will ensure that conditions for the employees are maintained and 
conducted in a fair, dignified and organized manner.  Also, the General Manager may not: 

 
3.1.1. Operate without written personnel rules which: (a) clarify rules for staff, (b) provide 

for effective handling of grievances, and (c) protect against wrongful conditions, 
such as grossly preferential treatment for personal reasons. 

3.1.2. Retaliate against any staff member for non-disruptive expression of dissent. 
3.1.3. Fail to acquaint staff with the rules and his/her interpretation of their protections 

and responsibilities under this policy. 
 
3.2. General Manager Authority - Limits Set by Board 
Within guidelines set by state law, District policy establishing the responsibilities and 
authority of the General Manager and the responsibilities reserved for the Board of 
Directors is set forth by Resolution 17-10-811, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

 
3.3. Safety 
The District will maintain a safety program to ensure the protection of the public, 
contractors and staff from injury and illnesses. The program shall comply with applicable 
federal and state laws. 

 
3.4. Loyalty Oath 
In accordance with the Government Code 3100 et seq. all public employees are classified 
as “disaster service workers” and are required to take a public employee oath upon hire. 
Failure to subscribe to the oath will null and void the offer of employment by the District. 
The Code states that all disaster service workers shall, before they enter upon the duties of 
their employment, take and subscribe to the oath.17  

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 18 

 

  
4. WATER PLANNING AND SUPPLY 
 

4.1. General Policy 
In the pursuit of its mission, the TVMWD Board of Directors has articulated some 
objectives related to water planning and supply. These objectives form the general water 
planning and supply policy of the District:  

 
4.1.1. Assure an adequate, safe and reliable supply of imported and local water that meets 

the needs of our customer agencies. 
4.1.2. Provide leadership in addressing and resolving water supply, water quality and 

infrastructure issues affecting water agencies in the District’s service area and 
region. Serve as collaborator, facilitator, and integrator of the interests of water 
agencies and other stakeholders within the District’s service area and region. 

4.1.3. Prepare and implement long range plans that meet District and member needs, 
while distributing the benefits and costs equitably. 

 
4.2. Water Management Plan 
In accordance with State law, the District prepares an Urban Water Management Plan as a 
comprehensive assessment and description of the District’s ultimate needs for water and 
plan for the provision of related facilities and water management actions. The content and 
development process of the Plan shall be consistent with, but may surpass, the elements 
prescribed by the Urban Water Management Planning Act.18  

 
4.3. Water Quality 
Drinking water provided by the District shall be of the highest quality possible at a 
reasonable cost, but shall at no time violate any adopted federal or state primary or 
secondary drinking water standard. 
 
Drinking water quality may sometimes be protected effectively at the source, or in the 
watershed from which it is withdrawn for human use. Therefore, it is the policy of Three 
Valleys Municipal Water District to promote the protection and, when appropriate, the 
enhancement or restoration of watershed and groundwater resources of the region. 

 
4.4. Water Use Efficiency, Public Outreach & Water Conservation 
The District actively promotes the achievement of a high level of efficiency by all types of 
retail water users, by supporting water conservation planning and project implementation 
at the regional and local levels.  Also, the District will endeavor to maintain an active and 
comprehensive approach in its outreach efforts by participating in a wide variety of 
activities throughout the service area.  

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 19 

 

  
5. CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 
 

5.1. Service Connections 
It is the District’s policy to facilitate the construction of new imported water connections 
as needed.  The approval, design, and construction of new service connections to 
Metropolitan Water District (MWD) facilities shall comply with applicable sections of 
MWD’s Administrative Code.  The District shall be responsible for all approvals, design, 
and construction of new service connections to District-owned facilities.  Although the 
District may consider appropriate funding arrangements, such as funds from state or federal 
grants or loans, in collaboration with the benefiting agency(ies), the cost of design and 
construction is the responsibility of the local agencies in proportion to their benefit. 

 
5.2. System Maintenance and Repairs 
District policy is to plan, budget money for, and implement a thorough program of 
maintenance and repair for all District facilities, to achieve the goal of keeping all 
equipment, machinery, and processes in good working order. 

 
5.3. Other Capital Improvements 
The District may undertake the design and construction of capital improvements that 
provide regional water resource or water quality benefit.  The costs of such projects may 
be shared with those directly benefiting from the project or may be wholly included in the 
District’s budget.  Funding may be rate-based, from grants or other outside sources. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 20 

 

 
6. FINANCIAL INTEGRITY 
 

6.1. General Policy 
Consistent with District policies established herein, the General Manager as the Chief 
Executive Officer of the District shall ensure that Three Valleys Municipal Water District 
meets all laws, regulations, and sound financial management practices. 

 
6.2. Annual Budget 
The General Manager shall annually prepare and follow a budget in which anticipated 
expenses do not exceed anticipated revenues. Budget preparation will include ample 
consultation with member agencies, before its approval by the Board of Directors. 

  
6.3. Rates, Charges, Assessments and Penalties 
The Board of Directors shall set rates, charges, assessments and penalties in accordance 
with its mission, state law, and prudent fiscal management practices.  Invoices for water 
deliveries shall be done on a monthly basis.  Invoices shall be mailed no later than the 
twelfth (12th) working day of the month following the month in which water was delivered.  
The invoice shall indicate the mailing date (invoice date), the month for which the charges 
were incurred, the total amount of water delivered for each class of service, and the total 
amount of charges and water delivered.  Payment of the amount shown on such invoices 
shall be due in the month following mailing and shall be delinquent if not received by the 
Chief Finance Officer (CFO) of the District before the close of crediting activity five (5) 
business days prior to the last business day of the month following such date of mailing.  
The term “business day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday.  
The term “received by the CFO” shall mean receipt either (1) at the District headquarters 
or (2) by crediting to the District’s general demand account at the office of the District’s 
bank in such form that the funds are immediately available for investment or other use or 
disposal by the District. The term “close of crediting activity” shall mean either (1) 2:00 
p.m. if payment is delivered to the Office of the CFO of District headquarters, or (2) the 
cutoff time for crediting by the District’s bank of the day’s transactions if payment is 
initiated by wire transfer, inter-branch transfer, direct deposit, or by other means pursuant 
to advance agreement with the CFO.  In the event that a mistake is discovered in a District 
water sales record, the General Manager shall initiate appropriate corrective action, except 
that no mistake made more than five (5) years prior to its discovery shall be corrected. If 
an incorrect invoice has been issued to a member agency, the General Manager shall notify 
the affected agency of any adjustment and the manner of making any required credit or 
charge, neither of which shall bear interest. All invoices are due and payable as described 
and any dispute concerning the amount due should be filed with the District immediately.  
In the event any member agency shall be delinquent in the payment for water delivered by 
the District, or through an MWD connection, and/or other charges levied, an additional 
charge equal to two (2) percent of such delinquent payment for each month or portion 
thereof (days delinquent divided by 30) that such payment remains delinquent shall be 
assessed, and the member agency shall pay such charge to the District in addition to the 
amount of such delinquent payment. Notwithstanding the above, if the total period of 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 21 

 

delinquency does not exceed five (5) business days, the additional charge shall be equal to 
one (1) percent of such delinquent payment.  Invoices for delinquencies including 
additional charges shall be mailed not later than the tenth day of each month.  In the event 
that any member agency shall be delinquent for more than thirty (30) days in the payment 
for water, such delinquency shall be reported by the General Manager to the Board of 
Directors at its next meeting.  The Board of Directors, in its discretion and upon such other 
conditions as it may prescribe after giving the member agency a reasonable opportunity to 
be heard, may order the termination of service to such member agency until all delinquent 
payments, including additional charges, is made to the District, or the Board of Directors 
may authorize such other actions as may be legally available to effect collection. 

 
6.4. Reserves 
The District will maintain sufficient revenue to meet its operating expenses, debt service 
and depreciation expenses and hold cash and/or other investments in reserve. Reserves will 
be segregated into various funds for specified purposes according to the District’s 
Investment Policy and in compliance with state and federal laws. They will include 
committed reserves for specific, ongoing capital projects, non-spendable reserves invested 
in capital assets, restricted reserves for debt service, and assigned reserve funds made up 
of the following Board designated categories: 

 
Board Elections Opportunity Employee Benefits 
 Emergency Capital Investment 

Program 
Water Rate Stabilization 
 

 Board Election  Opportunity 

Employee Benefit   
6.5. Investment of Funds 
Funds accumulated temporarily by the District to finance planned improvements, along 
with operating reserve funds, are invested in instruments and accounts as allowed by the 
California Government Code and in conformance with adopted District investment 
policy.19 Management of non-cash investments shall be administered by a competitive 
investment manager. Custody of the investments shall be administered by a competitive 
investment manager. 

 
The General Manager shall render an annual statement of investment policy to the Board 
of Directors.  The General Manager shall also render a quarterly report to the Board of 
Directors showing the type of investment, date of maturity, amount of deposit, and current 
market value for all securities with a maturity of more than twelve (12) months, and the 
rate of interest.  

 
6.6. Risk Management 
The District will identify, analyze and implement reasonable techniques to protect against 
the adverse financial effects of accidental losses, including the purchasing of insurance, 
contractual transfer, exposure avoidance and retention of unfunded reserves. 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 22 

 

6.7. Audit 
The District will contract with a reputable public accounting firm to conduct an annual 
audit of its financial activities using a Certified Public Accountant familiar with the 
operations of a municipal water district in California. The audit will be made available for 
review by member agencies and the public and will comply with the Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) in addition to state and federal law.  

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 23 

 

7. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 

7.1. General Policy 
It is the policy and desire of the Board of Directors that the public is kept adequately 
informed as to District activities, thus promoting public confidence in the District. 

 
7.2. Public Information and Education 
The District endeavors to inform and educate its various “stakeholders” on general, 
historical, and current issues through multiple means, including: open, public meetings; the 
media; and, various educational forums including, but not limited to, District-sponsored 
tours, tri-annual leadership breakfasts, and conservation education classes. 

 
7.3. District Spokesperson 
The General Manager is the principal spokesperson for the District, and the President of 
the Board also takes an active part in communicating District policies. Some of this 
responsibility may be delegated to others, as appropriate. 

 
7.4. Requests for Public Records 
7.4.1. All District records and documents not deemed to be exempt under the California 

Public Records Act (“the Act”), California Government Code Section 6250 et seq., 
shall be open to the public for inspection and copying pursuant to the requirements 
of the Act and the procedures established herein. 

 
7.4.2. Any person who wishes to inspect or copy any document or record of the District 

shall submit or unequivocally convey such a request to the District which 
reasonably and particularly describes an existing and identifiable record. The 
person seeking the record may, but need not, state his or her reason for making the 
request and/or the use to which the information will be put. 

 
7.4.3. When a member of the public requests to inspect a public record or obtain a copy 

of a public record, the District, in order to assist the member of the public make a 
focused and effective request that reasonably describes an identifiable record or 
records, shall perform all of the following, to the extent reasonable under the 
circumstances: 

 
a. Assist the member of the public to identify records and information that are 

responsive to the request or to the purpose of the request, if stated; 
b. Describe the information technology and physical location in which the records 

exist; and 
c. If the requested record exists on the TVMWD website, the requester may be 

directed to the website to obtain the item; however, requests to inspect or request a 
copy of the record shall be accommodated. 

d. Provide suggestions for overcoming any practical basis for denying access to the 
records or information sought.  

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 24 

 

7.4.4. If the District receives a request for approved minutes, publicly-posted agendas, 
adopted budgets, and/or other simple, routine, and otherwise readily-available 
documents in the District’s immediate possession, said records shall be released to 
the party so requesting for inspection as soon as possible.  If copies thereof are 
requested, said records shall be released to the party requesting as soon as possible 
after payment of the fee adopted by the District pursuant to Section 7.4.8 hereof. 

 
7.4.5. All requests for records that are outside the scope of Section 7.4.4 hereof shall be 

reduced to written form.  The District shall furnish the requesting party with a 
standard form for his or her convenience in describing the records sought, but the 
use of that form shall not be the exclusive means by which a member of the public 
may identify said documents in writing.  If the requesting party refuses or is unable 
to submit a request in writing, the District shall prepare a written memorandum 
articulating the request as it is understood. 

 
7.4.6. Within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of a request to inspect or copy any 

document or record of the District identified in the writing prepared pursuant to 
Section 7.4.5 hereof, the District shall determine whether the request, in whole or 
in part, seeks copies of disclosable public records in the possession of the District, 
and shall immediately notify the person making the request of such determination 
and the reasons therefore. 

 
7.4.7. Under unusual circumstances as defined in the Act, the time limit prescribed in 

Section 7.4.6 hereof may be extended by written notice by the General Manager of 
the District, or his or her designee, to the person making the request setting forth 
the reasons for the extension and the date on which a determination is expected to 
be dispatched. No such notice shall specify a date that would result in an extension 
for more than fourteen (14) calendar days. 

 
7.4.8. If the District determines that the records requested shall be made available for 

public inspection or copying, the District shall promptly make the records available 
to the requesting party.  If copies are requested, the District shall promptly provide 
copies of the records to the requesting party upon payment of a duly-adopted fee to 
cover the District’s direct cost of duplication, which shall be calculated in the 
following manner: 

 
a. If the copies are made by the District’s staff, the total fees pursuant to the adopted 

fee schedule by Resolution No. 17-06-802 will be shared with the requestor. Such 
fees will only apply to the direct cost of duplication and shall not include the 
ancillary tasks necessarily associated with the retrieval, inspection, and handling of 
the file from which the record is extracted for reproduction. 

b. If the records for which copies are requested are being held by consultants of the 
District, including the District’s legal counsel, the direct cost of duplication shall 
be no different than the fee established pursuant to Section 7.4.8(a) above.  

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

TVMWD POLICY MANUAL  REVISED DECEMBER 2022 
PAGE 25 

 

c. If the size, quantity, or unique nature of the records for which copies are requested 
is such that the District determines in the reasonable exercise of its discretion that 
the reproduction thereof should not be conducted by District staff or consultants, 
then the District shall attempt to coordinate a mutually-acceptable alternative 
arrangement with the requesting party.  No such arrangement shall permit a copying 
protocol that would expose any District records to being permanently removed, 
damaged, defaced, or destroyed.  If the District is unable to reach such an agreement 
with the requesting party, then the District shall send said records to a printer or 
commercial copying service for reproduction and the direct cost of duplication shall 
be the same amount that is charged by the printer or commercial copying service 
for the services so performed. 

 
7.4.9. If the District determines that the records requested shall not be made available for 

public inspection or copying, the District shall justify withholding any record by 
demonstrating that the record in question is exempt under the Act, that the District 
is unable to identify the information requested in the writing prepared pursuant to 
Section 7.4.5 thereof after making a reasonable effort to provide the assistance 
described in Section 7.4.3 hereof and elicit additional clarifying information from 
the requester that would help identify the record or records, or that, based on the 
facts of the particular case, the public interest served by not making the record 
public clearly outweighs the public interest served by disclosure of the record.  Any 
notification of denial of any request for records shall set forth the names and titles 
of each person responsible for the denial. 

 
7.4.10. If the District determines that any part of an otherwise public record shall not be 

made available for public inspection or copying, any reasonably segregable portion 
of the record shall be provided to the person requesting such record after deletion 
of the portions which are exempt by law and upon (a) compliance with Section 
7.4.8 hereof as to the portions released to the requesting party and (b) satisfaction 
of Section 7.4.9 hereof as to the portions deleted there from.

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE i 
 

APPENDIX A  Resolutions and Motions Superseded by Adoption of this Policy 
 
 
1 PURPOSE AND ORGANIZATION 

1.1 Mission — Motion Numbers: 9-94-3164, 2-97-3472 and 4-00-3807  

1.3 Objectives 20— Resolution Number: 7-52-262 

1.4 Functions and Powers — Motion Numbers: 7-50-8, 9-56-450, 1-68-101, 1-68-104, 8-71-142, 5-74-93, 
1-79-576, 1-79-577, 4-79-612, 5-79-621, 8-81-982, 9-81-1012, 4-82-1153, 7-82-1202, 5-86-1844, 2-90-
2428, 6-92-2839, 7-92-2871 and 1-95-3194 

 

2 GOVERNANCE  

2.1 Board of Directors - Principal Functions — Ordinance Number: 2-01-7 (2001); Motion Numbers: 197, 
208, 1-70-1072-79-589, 2-79-594, 7-79-647, 7-82-262, 3-85-1645, 4-89-2324, 11-89-2391, 5-92-2530, 
8-92-2897 and 12-95-3288. Ordinance Number 17-01-21 (2017) was adopted to clarify process for 
approval of TVMWD Manuals. 

2.2 Election — Motion Numbers: 7, 6-84-1534, 7-84-1541 and 7-94-3151 

2.3 Board of Directors – Organization — Resolution Numbers: 12-88-301, 01-02-408;  Motion Numbers: 
561, 11-78-555, 1-79-571, 1-79-574, 11-81-1061, 9-86-1912, 12-86-1962, 7-92-2869, 1-93-2951, 1-93-
2952, 1-93-2953, 1-93-2954, 1-93-2985, 1-93-2983, 1-93-3954, 4-93-2992, 4-93-2993, 4-93-2994,  6-93-
3012, 1-94-3096, 1-95-3196 and 10-95-3265 

2.4 Board of Directors - Public Meetings — Ordinance Numbers: 3-01-8, 5-01-9, 02-02-11, 6-03-12, 05-
04-13 and 12-01-19, 13-04-20 (2013); Resolution Numbers: 8, 48, 450, 1021; Motion Numbers: 1-84-
1464, 4-89-1670, 4-91-2624, 4-91-2626,  2-93-2959, 2-93-2962, 7-91-2674, 3-93-2973, 10-93-3068, 1-
94-3095, 1-95-3196, 1-95-3197, 4-95-3217, 10-95-3265, 2-98-3571 and 8-98-3625 

2.5 Board of Directors - Norms of Conduct and Communication — Resolution Numbers: 4-74-170, 1-77-
203, 8-81-256, 08-02-424, 06-06-550 and 09-07-639; Motion Numbers: 9-82-1228, 5-83-1361, 5-87-
2053, 10-87-2112, 4-89-2334, 3-90-2447, 4-91-2625, 6-91-2653, 7-91-2672, 6-92-2844, 7-93-3040, 12-
93-3083, 2-94-3103, 3-94-3109, 12-95-3288, 5-97-3501, 8-97-3526, 6-98-3607 and 9-98-3630 

2.7 Board of Directors - Compensation — Ordinance Numbers: 3-98-6, 7-90-4, 2-01-07 and 2-07-15 
(2007); Resolution Numbers: 5-81-254 and 8-81-256; Motion Numbers: 80, 560, 690, 694, 1-84-1460, 5-
85-1673, 9-86-1912, 9-89-2379,  9-89-2380, 8-90-2512, 1-91-2580, 6-92-2845, 6-92-2880, 2-93-2968,  
2-93-2969, 7-93-3032, 8-93-3055, 12-93-3083, 7-94-3151, 6-95-3234, 9-95-3250, 5-97-3501, 3-98-3583, 
3-98-3596,  2-01-3882 and 09-01-4670 

2.8 Board of Directors – Reimbursement — Ordinance Number: 2-01-7 (2001) 

2.11 Board of Directors – Governance/Management Connection — Ordinance Number: 2-01-7 (2001); 
Resolution Number: 7-82-263 

 

3 GENERAL MANAGER AND STAFF 

3.1 General Policy — Ordinance Number: 11-04-14; Motion Numbers: 3-69-115, 12-69-164, 12-70-167, 
11-72-147, 4-73-161, 5-76-285, 12-76-352, 11-79-697, 11-80-841, 3-81-902, 3-81-909, 9-81-1002, 11-
81-1060, 3-82-259, 12-82-266, 6-83-270, 6-84-1525, 2-85-1635, 3-85-1655, 3-85-1656, 6-85-1699, 4-
86-1811, 4-86-1812, 4-86-1813,  4-86-1824, 6-87-2060, 8-89-2358, 8-89-2363, 8-89-2364, 6-90-2482, 9-
91-2700, 9-91-2704, 4-94-3130, 6-95-3232, 6-95-3233, 1-96-3305, 3-96-3336, 6-97-3512, 10-99-3748, 
4-00-3813, 7-00-3836 and 8-00-3841 

3.2 General Manager Authority - Limits Set by Board — Motion Numbers: 20-05-5279; Resolution 
Number:  20-05-877 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE ii 
 

 

4 WATER PLANNING AND SUPPLY 

4.1 General Policy — Resolution Number:  10-02-647 

4.3 Water Quality — Resolution Number: 6-80-243 

4.4 Water Use Efficiency, Public Outreach & Water Conservation — Resolution Numbers: 3-77-205 and 
7-88-2997 

 

5 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 

5.1 Service Connections — Resolution Numbers: 151, 239; Motion Numbers: 12-57-196 

5.2 System Maintenance and Repairs — Resolution Numbers: 196, 208, 295, 348; Motion Numbers: 2-70-
115 and 6-70-135 

 

6 FINANCIAL INTEGRITY 

6.1 General Policy — Resolution Number: 1015; Motion Numbers: 8-50-17, 7-52-242, 6-67-1015, 9-90-
2538, 1-96-3304 and 3-96-3339 

6.3 Rates, Charges, Assessments and Penalties — Resolution Numbers: 242, 293, 1034, 6-75-1932, 04-03-
439, 05-03-441, 03-04-466, 05-05-519; Motion Numbers: 10-70-155, 11-78-559 and 1-84-1464 

6.4 Reserves — Resolution Numbers: 1-85-278, 05-03-440, 03-05-505, 03-05-506 

6.5 Investment of Funds — Resolution Numbers: 10-86-288; Motion Numbers: 4-82-1661, 4-90-2456, 12-
90-2570, 8-94-3160, 8-94-3161, 3-96-3337, 8-97-3525, 10-98-3629, 10-98-3630, 8-99-3732, 9-99-3739, 
01-05-495 and 09-02-4677 

6.6 Risk Management — Resolution Number: 05-04-471 

6.7 Audit — Motion Number: 4-92-2798 

 

7 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 

7.1 General Policy — Resolution Number: 7-82-262 

7.2 Public Information and Education — Motion Numbers: 3-81-913 and 5-82-1169 

7.4 Request for Public Records —  Resolution Number: 17-06-802 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE iii 
 

APPENDIX B  End Notes 
 
1.  The Mission Statement of TVMWD was updated and unanimously approved by the Board of Directors at its 

September 19, 2012 meeting by Motion Number. 12-09-4889. The Vision Statement of TVMWD was updated as 
a part of the FY 20-21 Strategic Plan that was unanimously approved by the Board of Directors at its February 19, 
2020 meeting by Motion Number. 20-02-5265.TVMWD Action Plan 2001-2002 adopted on September 19, 2001 
and ratified again on February 22, 2003 and set forth the Objectives of the District, incorporated as Section 1.3 of 
this Policy Manual.  The 2015 update of the Policy Manual changed the title of Section 1.3 from Objectives to 
Core Values. 

2.  California Water Code, Section 71000 et seq.
 

3.  California Water Code, Section 71000 et seq.
 

4.  These powers, whether currently exercised or latent, are generally authorized by the Municipal Water District Act 
(Ibid.)

 
5.  Administrative Code, Metropolitan Water District of Southern California

 
6.  Government Code Section 56000 et seq.

 
7.  California Water Code Section 71276. Effective January 1, 2015 all resolutions and ordinances are adopted by 

roll call vote of the legislative body.
 

8.  California Water Code Section 71260 and Water Code Section 71262
 

9.  California Government Code Section 85300 and Government Code Section 3205(a); Water Code Section 71505; 
Election Code Section 10540 and Election Code Section 13307(c) and (e) 

10.  California Water Code Section 71505; California Election Code Section 10515 

11.  California Government Code Section 1780 

12.  California Water Code Section 71273 and Water Code Section 71340
 

13.  California Government Code Section 54950 et seq.
 

14.  California Government Code Section 81000 et seq.; Title 2, California Code of Regulations, Section 18109 et 
seq.

 
15.  California Water Code Section 71255, Government Code Section 53232.2, Government Code Section 53232.3, 

Water Code Sections 20200, 20201, 20202, 20203, 20204, 20205, 20206 and 20207 

16  California Water Code Section 71256; California Water Code – Appendix Section 109-51 

17  California Government Code Section 3100 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71000.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71000.&lawCode=WAT
http://www.mwdh2o.com/Who%20We%20Are%20%20Fact%20Sheets/1.2_adminCode.pdf
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56000.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71276.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71260.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71262.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=85300.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=3205.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71505.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=10540.&lawCode=ELEC
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=13307.&lawCode=ELEC
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71505.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=10515.&lawCode=ELEC
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=1780.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71273.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71340.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=54950.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=81000.&lawCode=GOV
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/I48F4D721D49311DEBC02831C6D6C108E?originationContext=Search+Result&listSource=Search&viewType=FullText&navigationPath=Search%2fv3%2fsearch%2fresults%2fnavigation%2fi0ad70f76000001559d64476c44f250c9%3fstartIndex%3d1
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71255.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53232.2.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53232.3.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20200.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20201.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20202.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20203.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20204.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20205.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20206.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=20207.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=71256.&lawCode=WAT
http://codes.findlaw.com/ca/water-code-appendix/wca-sect-109-51.html
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=3100.&lawCode=GOV


 

PAGE iv 
 

 
18  California Water Code Section 10610 et seq. 

19  California Government Code Section 53601, Government Code Section 53601.1, Government Code Section 
53630, and Government Code Section 53646 et seq. 

 
20 This section was renamed to Core Values during the CY 2015 update. 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX C  Policy Addendums 
This section includes policies that were adopted outside the normal cycle of policy review and approval and in a 
different format thereof as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=10610.&lawCode=WAT
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53601.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53601.1.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53630.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53630.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=53646.&lawCode=GOV


 

PAGE v 
 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 
DISTRIBUTION OF 
TICKETS AND PASSES 

APPROVAL DATE 
    June 17, 2015 

Page i of 5 
 

 
–  
SECTION 1:  PURPOSE OF POLICY 
The purpose of this policy is to establish a fair and equitable process for the distribution of 
complimentary tickets or passes by TVMWD in compliance with the requirements of Section 
18944.1 of the Fair Political Practices Commission Regulations.  This policy is subject to all 
applicable Fair Political Practices Commission Regulations and the Political Reform Act, as now 
exist or may hereafter be added or amended, including, without limitation, definitions.  (These 
regulations can be found at Title 2 of the California Code of Regulations and will be referred to as 
“FPPC Regulations.”) 
 
SECTION 2:  DEFINITIONS 
Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, words and terms used in this policy shall have the 
same meaning as that ascribed to such words and terms in the California Political Reform Act of 
1974 (Government Code Sections 81000, et seq., as the same may from time to time be amended) 
and the FPPC Regulations (Title 2, Division 6 of the California Code of Regulations, Sections 
18110 et seq., as the same may from time to time be amended). 
 
A. “TVMWD” shall mean and include the Three Valleys Municipal Water District, and any other 

affiliated agency created or activated by the Board of Directors of Three Valleys Municipal 
Water District, and any departments, committees, and commissions thereof. 
 

B. “TVMWD Official” shall mean every officer, agent and employee of TVMWD who is 
obligated to file an Annual Statement of Economic Interests (FPPC Form 700) under state law 
or TVMWD’s current Conflict of Interest Code. 
 

C. “TVMWD Venue” shall mean and refer to any facility owned, controlled or operated by 
TVMWD. 
 

D. “FPPC” shall mean and refer to the California Fair Political Practices Commission. 
 

E. “Immediate Family” shall mean and refer to the spouse and dependent children of a TVMWD 
Official.  The term “spouse” includes registered domestic partners recognized by state law, and 
“dependent children” shall mean a child, including an adoptive child or stepchild, of a 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE vi 
 

 
TVMWD Official who is under 18 years old and who the TVMWD Official is entitled to claim 
as a dependent on his or her federal tax return. 
 

F. “Policy” shall mean and refer to this policy regarding the Distribution of Complimentary 
Tickets pursuant to FPPC Regulation 18944.1. 
 

G. “Ticket” shall mean and refer to a “ticket or pass” as that term is defined in FPPC Regulation 
18944.1, as amended from time to time, but which currently defines a “ticket or pass” as 
admission to a facility, event, show or performance for an entertainment, amusement, 
recreational, or similar purpose. 

 
SECTION 3:  APPLICATION OF POLICY 
A. This policy shall be applicable to every officer, agent and employee of TVMWD who is 

obligated to file an FPPC Form 700 under state law or TVMWD’s current Conflict of Interest 
Code. 
 

B. This policy governs the distribution of complimentary tickets received by TVMWD that are 
either: 

 
1. Gratuitously provided to TVMWD by an outside source; 

 
2. Acquired by TVMWD by purchase; 
 
3. Acquired by TVMWD as consideration pursuant to the terms of a contract for the use 

of a TVMWD Venue; or 
 
4. Acquired and distributed by TVMWD in any other manner. 
 

C. This policy does not apply to: 
 

1. Any other item of value provided to TVMWD or any TVMWD Official, regardless of 
whether received gratuitously or for which consideration is provided. 
 

2. Tickets directly provided to a TVMWD Official by a third party other than TVMWD. 
 

SECTION 4:  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
A. No Right to Tickets: The use of complimentary tickets is a privilege extended by TVMWD 

and not the right of any person to which the privilege may from time to time be extended.  
 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE vii 
 

 
B. Limitation on Transfer of Tickets: Tickets distributed to a TVMWD Official pursuant to this 

policy shall not be transferred to any other person, except to members of such TVMWD 
Official’s immediate family or no more than one guest solely for their attendance at the event.  
If a TVMWD Official transfers a ticket he or she has received from TVMWD to another 
person, as opposed to returning the ticket to TVMWD for redistribution, then the value of the 
ticket or tickets he or she transfers shall constitute a gift to him or her and shall be reportable 
as provided by the regulations of the FPPC.  

 
C. Prohibition Against Sale of or Receiving Reimbursement for Tickets: No person who receives 

a ticket pursuant to this policy shall sell or receive reimbursement for the value of such ticket. 
 

SECTION 5:  TICKET ADMINISTRATOR  
A. TVMWD delegates the authority to the general manager or his/her designee to be the ticket 

administrator for purposes of implementing the provisions of this policy. 
 

B. The ticket administrator shall have the authority, in his or her sole discretion, to establish 
procedures for the distribution of tickets in accordance with this policy.  Such authority 
includes the power to distribute such a ticket to the general manager provided that doing so is 
otherwise consistent with this policy.  All requests for tickets that fall within the scope of this 
policy shall be made in accordance with the procedures established by the ticket administrator. 

 
C. The ticket administrator shall determine the face value of tickets distributed by TVMWD for 

purposes of Section 6.A and 6.B of this policy. 
 

D. The ticket administrator, in his or her sole discretion, may revoke or suspend the ticket 
privileges of any person who violates any provision of this policy or the procedures established 
by the ticket administrator for the distribution of tickets. 

 
E. For the purpose of implementing this policy, and completing and posting the FPPC California 

Form 802, the ticket administrator shall be the “Agency Head”. 

SECTION 6:  CONDITIONS UNDER WHICH TICKETS MAY BE DISTRIBUTED 
The ticket administrator may distribute complimentary tickets to TVMWD Officials under any 
one of the following conditions:  

A. TVMWD Official reimburses TVMWD for the face value of the ticket(s). 
 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE viii 
 

 
B. TVMWD Official treats the ticket(s) as income consistent with applicable federal and state 

income tax laws and TVMWD reports the ticket as income on FPPC Form 802 pursuant to 
Section 10 of this Policy. 

 
C. The ticket is not earmarked by the outside source for a particular TVMWD Official, and the 

distribution of the ticket to, or at the behest of, TVMWD Official accomplishes or furthers one 
or more of the following public purposes: 

 
1. Performing a ceremonial role on behalf of TVMWD at an event. 

 
2. Facilitating the performance of a ceremonial role by a TVMWD Official on behalf of 

TVMWD at an event, as part of one’s job duties. 
 

3. Promotion of intergovernmental relations and/or cooperation and coordination of resources 
with other governmental agencies, including, but not limited to, attendance at an event with 
or by elected or appointed public official from other jurisdictions, their staff members and 
their guests. 
 

4. Promotion of TVMWD resources and/or facilities available to residents within TVMWD. 
 

5. Promotion of TVMWD-run sponsored or supported community events, activities or 
programs. 
 

6.  To monitor and evaluate the value of TVMWD-run, sponsored or supported community 
events, activities or programs to TVMWD including but not limited to evaluation of the 
venue, quality of performances and compliance with TVMWD policies, agreements and 
other requirements.  
 

7. Promotion and evaluation of events, activities or programs at TVMWD Venues, including 
but not limited to evaluation of the venue, quality of performances and compliance with 
TVMWD policies, agreements and other requirements. 
 

8. Encouraging or rewarding significant academic or public service achievements by 
students, residents or businesses within TVMWD. 
 

9. As an incident to the above public purposes, allowing for the immediate family of 
TVMWD Official to accompany TVMWD Official to events to accomplish any of the 
purposes listed in this policy. 
 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE ix 
 

 
SECTION 7:  TICKETS DISTRIBUTED AT THE BEHEST OF A TVMWD OFFICIAL  

A. Tickets shall be distributed at the behest of a TVMWD Official only for one or more public 
purposes set forth in Section 6.C. above. 
 

B. If tickets are distributed at the behest of a TVMWD Official, such TVMWD Official shall not 
use one of the tickets so distributed to attend the event. 

 
SECTION 8:  OTHER BENEFITS 
The distribution of tickets pursuant to this policy shall not constitute a “gift” to TVMWD Official 
receiving the ticket; however, other benefits, such as food or beverages or other gifts provided to 
TVMWD Official that are not part of the admission provided by the complimentary ticket, will 
need to be accounted for as gifts if over the applicable dollar limit. 
 
SECTION 9:  EARMARKED TICKETS 
If TVMWD receives tickets that are earmarked by the outside source for a particular TVMWD 
Official, the tickets are gifts to TVMWD Official individually, unless:  

A. TVMWD Official reimburses TVMWD for the tickets; 

B. TVMWD Official treats the tickets as income consistent with applicable federal and state 
income tax laws, and TVMWD reports the tickets as income on FPPC Form 802 pursuant to 
Section 10 of this Policy; or 
 

C. The tickets are returned unused to the outside source within 30 days of receipt. 
 

SECTION 10:  POSTING AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 
A. This policy and Form 802 reports required by Section 18944.1 of the FPPC Regulations shall 

be posted on TVMWD’s website. 
 

B. The distribution of tickets pursuant to this policy shall be documented by the preparation and 
certification of FPPC Form 802.  Within thirty (30) calendar days of the distribution of a ticket, 
the ticket administrator shall prepare and certify a Form 802 and shall forward it to the FPPC 
for posting on the FPPC’s website. 

 
C. Tickets distributed by TVMWD for which TVMWD receives reimbursement from TVMWD 

Official shall not be subject to the disclosure provisions set forth herein. 

 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE x 
 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 
GIFT ACCEPTANCE 
POLICY 

APPROVAL DATE 
    June 17, 2015 

Page i of 2 
 

 
APPROVAL DATE 6/17/2015 
SECTION 1:  PURPOSE OF POLICY 
TVMWD is committed to providing and maintaining an ethical work environment for its 
employees.  This policy is intended to set forth the guidelines for ethical conduct to be followed 
by all employees regarding the acceptance of gifts. 
 
SECTION 2:  SCOPE 
This policy applies to all employees.  Any violation may result in disciplinary action up to and 
including termination of employment.  If an employee has questions or needs clarification 
regarding this policy, the employee should check with the general manager.  Exceptions to the gift 
acceptance policy may be made only with the permission of the general manager. 

 
SECTION 3:  STATEMENT OF POLICY 
TVMWD’s gift policy is a no-gift policy.  To avoid a conflict of interest, the appearance of a 
conflict of interest, or the need for employees to examine the ethics of acceptance, TVMWD and 
its employees do not accept gifts from (current or potential) vendors,  customers, or any other 
individual or organization.  A “gift” is anything of value (tangible or intangible) provided for 
which the donor has not received equal or greater consideration.  Gifts include – but are not 
limited to – meals, lodging, loans, cash, favorable terms or discounts on any product or service, 
services, equipment, prizes, products, transportation, use of vehicles, vacation or other facilities, 
stocks or other securities, tickets, gift certificates, gift cards, discount cards, memberships. 
 
Employees are required to demonstrate TVMWD’s commitment to treating everyone impartially.  
Employees are to practice and demonstrate equal treatment, unbiased professionalism, and non-
discriminatory actions in relation to all individuals and organizations. 
 
Employees should professionally inform individuals and organizations of this no-gift policy and 
the reason TVMWD has adopted the policy.  If an employee or department receives a gift: 

• If feasible, the gift is returned to the donor. 
• If not feasible to return the gift, the gift must be raffled off to employees.  Proceeds from 

the raffle will be donated to TVMWD’s designated charity, SCWUA-Water for People.  If 
employees are uninterested in the raffled item, the gift will be donated as determined by 
the general manager. 

• Plants or flowers will be displayed in the lobby or the board room where all employees 
may enjoy their presence. 

• Gifts of food will be placed in the kitchen to be shared with all staff. 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xi 
 

 
 
SECTION 4:  EXCEPTIONS 
Many of the exemptions allowed per FPPC (Fair Political Practices Commission) Regulations are 
listed below.  This list is only a summary, so please check with the general manager for 
clarification on each of these. 
 
 

1. Return gift unused within 30 days 
2. Deliver gift to a non-profit organization without claiming the gift as a tax deduction 
3. Reimburse the donor for the fair market value of the gift 
4. Gifts of informational material provided to assist in the performance of duties 
5. Gifts from close family relatives 
6. Campaign contributions 
7. Plaques, awards or certificates 
8. Home hospitality is hospitality provided by a donor in his/her home when the donor or 

member of his/her family is present 
9. Gift exchange (other than a lobbyist) so long as not substantially disproportionate in value 
10. Devise or inheritance 
11. Inexpensive items (pens, bags, novelties, food, beverages, etc.) while attending 

conferences, seminars, et al. that are offered equally to all members of the public attending 
the event 

12. Food, beverages, and moderately priced (<$75) meals supplied and attended by current 
customers, partners, and vendors in the interest of building positive business relationships.  
This moderately priced entertainment is provided as part of a “working” meeting to benefit 
and advance positive working relationships and company interests.  These activities are 
expected to be reciprocated by TVMWD in turn of equal value. 

13. Exempted are tickets/passes to a facility, event, show or performance for an entertainment, 
amusement, recreational or similar purpose if the distribution of tickets is pursuant to 
TVMWD’s Policy on Distribution of Complimentary Tickets. 

 
SECTION 5:  LIMITATIONS 
Gifts from a single source may not exceed $500 in a calendar year for elected officials and 
employees whose designated positions are listed in TVMWD’s conflict of interest code. 
 
SECTION 6:  REPORTING 
Regardless of whether a gift meets the definition of an exception, elected officials and employees 
whose designated positions are listed in TVMWD’s conflict of interest code may be required to 
report such gifts.  Please refer to FPPC guidelines for reporting requirements, which can be found 
at www.fppc.ca.gov. 
 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B

http://www.fppc.ca.gov/


 

PAGE xii 
 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 
POLICY FOR USE OF 
DISTRICT PROVIDED 
COMPUTER TABLET 
DEVICES 

APPROVAL DATE 
    June 17, 2015 

Page i of 4 
 

 
–  
 
The Three Valleys Municipal Water District shall establish a policy of providing the members of 
the board of directors and management staff with the equipment and technology needed to allow 
electronic delivery of agendas, reports and other material pertaining to items of business to be 
transacted or discussed at board meetings and other meetings attended by board members and 
management staff (users), and to allow for easier communication via e-mail. 
 
Based upon cost estimates researched by staff, providing agendas and board meeting materials to 
the users electronically, for viewing on a computer tablet device (hereinafter “tablet”), would result 
in a cost savings to the district of approximately $600 per year per recipient, by eliminating the 
preparation and distribution of individual paper packets of the meeting materials, and would 
improve the efficiency of providing information to the users. 
 
The district shall provide a tablet to each user with appropriate software and internet access for the 
purpose of allowing agendas, agenda materials, reports and other materials (board packets), 
pertaining to business of the district to be transacted or discussed at meetings of the board. When 
the board packets are transmitted to the users electronically via email, staff shall not provide a 
“hard copy” printed version to the directors and management staff members.  
 
A district-purchased tablet shall include sufficient capacity and features to meet the business needs 
of the users. The district shall purchase and install all software necessary for the devices to perform 
the functions required and shall provide maintenance and upgrades as necessary. The district shall 
arrange for and pay the cost of internet and e-mail service to the devices, and provide any and all 
IT services needed in connection with the use of the devices.  
 
The district-provided tablets shall ensure compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act, the Public 
Records Act and other laws pertaining to the use of public property. A policy agreement between 
the district and tablet users follows below. 
 
 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

 
SECTION 1: CUSTODY  
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xiii 
 

 
The user identified below is a licensee with rights to utilize the Three Valleys Municipal Water 
District (“district”) computer tablet device and related accessories (hereinafter defined as “tablet”) 
during the term of this agreement, contingent upon all other terms and conditions stated herein.  
This agreement establishes the user’s right to use the subject tablet and shall in no way be construed 
to convey to user any ownership right in that tablet. The district provided tablet shall remain the 
property of the district and shall be used exclusively for district business. 
 
SECTION 2: TERM   
 
The term of this agreement shall begin upon the date signed and terminates upon the first to occur 
of:  

a.  when the user’s term as a director/employee of the district ends; or 
b.   if the user decides to return the tablet to the district prior to the expiration or earlier 

termination of the user’s term as a district director/employee; or  
c.  if the district elects to terminate its Tablet User Program.  

 
SECTION 3: GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR USE 
 
The tablet resources are provided for use in the pursuit of district-related business and to reduce 
the paperwork, copying and delivery expenses the district incurs annually.   
In order to avoid improper use of the district-provided tablet, the users will comply with the 
following rules for use:  
 

a. The tablet is to be used exclusively for district business and not for personal business, 
entertainment, personal communications, or other non-authorized purposes. Tablet use for 
personal business will subject the user to be taxed, according to the IRS. 

b. Users will be responsible for downloading the e-mailed board packets to their tablet and 
for bringing the devices with them to every meeting for which materials have been sent.  

c. Users shall not use the tablet in such a way as to cause the district to be charged for goods 
or services not previously authorized by the board.  

d. All programming, software and features on the tablet shall be supplied by the district for 
district purposes. Users shall not install software, download files or make any other 
alterations to the computer tablet devices for their own purposes or which are not expressly 
authorized by the district.  

  
e.  Directors shall not use the tablets to communicate with other directors in violation of the 

Ralph M. Brown Act, including but not limited to communicating with a majority of the 
members of the board of directors on any matter which will be addressed by the board at a 
meeting, or which is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the board of directors which 
may become an item of business at a future board meeting. In general, directors should not 
communicate with other directors by e-mail. Communications regarding availability for 
meetings, requests for information and other matters which must be dealt with outside of 
meetings should be coordinated through the general manager, to avoid the appearance of a 
Brown Act violation.  
 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xiv 
 

 
SECTION 4: PRIVACY   
 
During and after the term of this agreement, the user has no right of privacy as to any information 
or files maintained in or on the tablet or transmitted by or to, or stored on the tablet. 
   
Any personal materials, software, applications, Apps, pictures, emails, etc., that remain on the 
tablet after it is returned to the district., and any right to privacy of such items, to the extent it may 
exist, will be forfeited. 
 
Unless otherwise exempted, all information provided electronically to the users shall constitute 
public records and shall be provided by the district to any person requesting a copy of such 
information, in the same electronic format as provided to the users, or at the option of the person 
requesting the records, in hard copy format, upon payment of the copying costs. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, material transmitted with a board packet which pertains to a closed session item on 
the agenda, or which is otherwise exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act, shall not 
become disclosable by virtue of transmission to the users by electronic means, unless and until 
such time as the material becomes subject to disclosure under the Public Records Act. Users 
receiving non-disclosable material by electronic means shall not forward or disclose such material 
to any other person without the authorization of the board of directors. 
 
All communications using the tablets are public records subject to review by district staff, for 
purposes of determining their status under the district’s Records Retention Policy. 
Communications and information contained on the tablets shall be retained by the district for a 
period of six months, or until a determination has been made that the item is not a record to be 
retained under the Records Retention Policy, in which case it may be deleted from the district’s 
electronic files. Users may delete any unnecessary files on the devices provided a copy is available 
in the district’s electronic files.  

SECTION 5: MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR  
 
The user shall keep the tablet and all software in good working order and condition.  If repairs are 
necessary, the tablet and software shall be repaired by the district, or another entity designated and 
approved by the general manager.  All software, applications and Apps loaded onto the tablet shall 
be properly licensed and shall not consist of pirated or illegal materials. 
   
The users shall have possession of the tablet for their use for district business and shall be subject 
to returning the device to the district at any time as requested by the general manager for periodic 
maintenance, upgrades and service. 
 
SECTION 6: TERMINATION AND RETURN OF TABLET 
 
Upon the termination of this agreement or expiration of the term specified in SECTION II above, 
the user will, within three business days of such termination or expiration, return the tablet and 
any accompanying accessories to the district, as originally provided by the district, in its original 
condition. Ordinary wear and tear expected. 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xv 
 

 
  
SECTION7: THEFT OR LOSS 
 
The users shall be responsible for the care and safekeeping of the tablets in their possession and 
shall reimburse the district for the cost of replacing a device that is damaged due to negligence or 
misuse. 
  
Users are required to create a pin code on their tablet in order to safeguard access and content. The 
district shall bear the risk of theft or loss of the tablet, as long as the user exercises due care to 
protect and safeguard the tablet during the term of this agreement. However, the district makes no 
warranties of any kind and will not be responsible for any damages whatsoever which users may 
suffer arising from or related to their use of any district electronic information resources, whether 
such damages be incidental, consequential, or otherwise, or whether such damages include loss of 
data resulting from delays, non-deliveries, mistaken deliveries, or service interruptions whether 
caused by either the district’s negligence, errors, or omissions. 
       
The district may obtain insurance to cover loss or damage to the computer tablet devices if it is 
economically advantageous to do so. 
 
SECTION 8: ENFORCEMENT 
 
This policy is intended to be illustrative of the range of acceptable and unacceptable uses of the 
tablet, including internet and e-mail usage, and is not necessarily exhaustive (refer to the district’s 
Internet & Email Policy, revised 04/23/13). Questions about specific uses should be directed to 
the general manager.  Alleged or suspected violations of this policy and violations thereof may 
result in loss of tablet use.  Any user violating these provisions or applicable local, state, or federal 
laws is subject to immediate loss or restrictions of tablet privileges and additional disciplinary 
actions, up to and including criminal prosecution for any individual user and/or termination of 
employment from the district. The district’s general manager shall be responsible for the manner 
in which this policy will be implemented, including the monitoring of use thereof, and the 
archiving of information stored and retained in connection therewith. 
 
SECTION 9: CONSENT 
 
As a condition of this policy, all district tablet users must acknowledge that all district-issued 
tablets are the property of the district, and therefore, they should not consider any activity to be 
private, as specified in Section IV above. Users of a district-issued tablet must sign the consent 
form attached hereto within fifteen (15) days of receiving a copy of this policy. Prior to obtaining 
a tablet provided by the district, directors/employees must sign and return the consent form 
provided.  By signing the consent form, the user acknowledges that they have received a copy of 
the policy, read it, and understand the district’s policy and the potential penalties for non-
compliance. 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xvi 
 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 
EMAIL ACCEPTABLE USE 
POLICY 

APPROVAL DATE 
    

Page i of 3 
 

 
 
SECTION 1: PURPOSE 
 
Email is a critical mechanism for business communications at the District.  Use of the District’s 
electronic mail systems and services must be used with respect and in accordance with the 
policies of the District. 
 
SECTION 2: SCOPE 
 
This policy applies to all email systems used at the District offices and remote locations. This 
policy applies to all email account holders, District employees, Board Members, and those 
working on behalf of the District. 
 
SECTION 3: POLICY 
 
A. Email access at the District is controlled through individual accounts and passwords. Each user 

of the District’s email system is required to read and sign a copy of this policy prior to receiving 
an email access account and password. It is the responsibility of the employee to protect the 
confidentiality of their account and password information in accordance with the Password 
Policy. 

B. All employees of the District will receive an email account. Email accounts will be granted to 
those working on behalf of the District on a case-by-case basis.  Access will be terminated 
when the employee or third party terminates their association with the District, unless other 
arrangements are made.  

C. Email users are responsible for mailbox management, including organization and cleaning.  

D. Email users are expected to remember that email sent from the District’s email accounts 
reflects on the District. Please comply with normal standards of professional courtesy and 
conduct as emails are subjected to the public records request act. 

E. Email users will not automatically forward incoming emails to accounts outside the control of 
the District. 

F. The District email systems and services are not to be used for purposes that could be reasonably 
expected to strain storage or bandwidth (e.g. emailing large attachments instead of pointing to 
a location on a shared drive).  

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xvii 
 

 
G. Email use at the District will comply with all applicable laws, all District policies, and all 

District contracts. Use in a manner that is not consistent with the mission and values of the 
District, misrepresents the District, or violates any District policy is prohibited. 

H. The following activities are deemed inappropriate uses of the District email system and 
services and is strictly prohibited. Inappropriate use includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Use for illegal or unlawful purposes, including copyright infringement, obscenity, 
libel, slander, fraud, defamation, plagiarism, harassment, intimidation, forgery, 
impersonation, and computer tampering (e.g. spreading of computer malware). 

2. Viewing, copying, altering, or deletion of accounts or files belonging to the District 
or another individual without authorized permission. 

3. Opening email attachments from unknown or unverified sources. Emails are a 
common source of computer malware and should be treated with caution. 

4. Sharing account passwords with another person or attempting to obtain another 
person’s account password.  

5. Excessive personal use of the District resources.  

6. The District prohibits personal use of its email system and services for unsolicited 
mass mailings, non-District commercial activity, political campaigning, and 
dissemination of chain letters. 

I. The email system and services used are owned by the District and are therefore its property. 
This gives the District the right to monitor any and all email traffic passing through its systems. 
This monitoring may include, but is not limited to, inadvertent reading by IT staff during the 
normal course of managing the email systems, review by the legal counsel, observation by 
management in cases of suspected abuse, or to monitor employee efficiency. 

J. Emails that are retained in electronic folders or in hard copy and are not intended for temporary 
purposes may be public records and should follow the District’s retention schedule in terms of 
how long the records may be kept pursuant to legal requirements.   

K. All incoming, sent, and deleted emails will be automatically deleted in accordance with record 
retention policy and legislative requirements.  Emails that serve a useful business purpose can 
be preserved by manually moving the email to a subfolder of the mailbox. 

L. Use extreme caution when communicating confidential or sensitive information via email as 
this is not considered a secure means of communication. Keep in mind that all email messages 
sent outside of the District become the property of the receiver.  

M. Any allegations of misuse should be promptly reported to the Human Resources Manager. If 
you receive an offensive email, do not forward, delete, or reply to the message.  

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xviii 
 

 
N. Truly sensitive communications should be conducted through paper-based correspondences or 

in-person meetings. Employees are prohibited from sending personal identifiable information 
such as credit card information, banking information, driver’s license numbers, social security 
numbers, and other sensitive information through the District’s email. 

O. Email users must seek approval from the Chief Operations Officer prior to sending email with 
sensitive content related to the District’s operational technology that include infrastructure 
maps, process control system (PCS), supervisor control and data acquisition (SCADA) system, 
video monitoring system, physical security systems, cybersecurity information, and any other 
system that could possibly reveal vulnerabilities, or otherwise increase the potential for an 
attack on systems of the District. 

SECTION 4: NON-COMPLIANCE 
 
Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xix 
 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 
INTERNET ACCEPTABLE 
USE POLICY 

APPROVAL DATE 
 

Page i of 2 
 

 
 
SECTION 1: PURPOSE 
 
The goal of this policy is to outline appropriate and inappropriate use of District Internet resources, 
including the use of browsers, file uploads and downloads, and voice communications.  
 
SECTION2: SCOPE 
 
The Internet Acceptable Use Policy applies to all employees, Board Members, and those working on 
behalf of the District regardless of employment status. 
Internet access at the District is controlled through individual accounts and passwords. The 
Information Technology Manager is responsible for defining appropriate Internet access levels for the 
people in their department. 
 
SECTION 3: ACCEPTABLE USE 
 

A. Individuals at the District are encouraged to use the Internet to further the goals and objectives 
of the District. The types of activities that are encouraged include: 

1. Communicating with fellow employees, business partners of the District, and the public 
within the context of an individual’s assigned responsibilities. 

2. Acquiring or sharing information necessary or related to the performance of an 
individual’s assigned responsibilities. 

3. Participating in educational or professional development activities. 
4. Only approved IM services by the Information Technology Manager shall be installed 

and used on the District’s network. Free IM services commonly used within the 
consumer market are not approved or supported by the IT department. 

SECTION 4: UNACCEPTABLE USE 
 

A. Individual Internet use will not interfere with others’ productive use of Internet resources. 
Users will not violate the network policies of any network accessed through their account. 
Internet use at the District will comply with all Federal and State laws, all District policies, and 
all District contracts. This includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

1. Individuals may not view, copy, alter, or destroy data, software, documentation, or data 
communications belonging to the District or another individual without authorized 
permission. 

2. The Internet may not be used for illegal or unlawful purposes, including, but not limited 
to, copyright infringement, obscenity, libel, slander, fraud, defamation, plagiarism, 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xx 
 

 
harassment, intimidation, forgery, impersonation, illegal gambling, soliciting for illegal 
pyramid schemes, and computer tampering (e.g. spreading computer viruses). 

3. The Internet may not be used in any way that violates District policies, rules, or 
administrative orders including, but not limited to, Social Media Policy, Email and 
Instant Messaging Acceptable Use Policy, any applicable code of conduct policies, etc. 
Use of the Internet in a manner that is not consistent with the mission and values of the 
District, misrepresents the District, or violates any District policy is prohibited. 

4. Individuals should limit their personal use of the Internet. The District allows limited 
personal use for communication with family and friends, independent learning, and 
public service.  

5. The District prohibits use for mass unsolicited mailings, access for non-employees to 
District resources or network facilities, uploading and downloading of files for personal 
use, access to pornographic sites, gaming, competitive commercial activity, and the 
dissemination of chain letters. 

6. Individuals may not establish company computers as participants in any peer-to-peer 
network, unless approved by the Information Technology Manager.   

7.  
8. In the interest of maintaining network performance, users should not send unreasonably 

large electronic mail attachments or video files not needed for business purposes. 
9. Employees of the District will treat all other individuals, clients, employees, etc. they 

interact with in any virtual, online forum or network capacity, in accordance with 
District values, District policies, and basic business social decorum. 

SECTION 5: SECURITY 
 
A. For security purposes, users may not share account or password information with another 

person. Internet accounts are to be used only by the assigned user of the account for 
authorized purposes. Attempting to obtain another user’s account password is strictly 
prohibited. A user must contact the help desk to obtain a password reset if they have reason 
to believe that any unauthorized person has learned their password. Users must take all 
necessary precautions to prevent unauthorized access to Internet services. 

SECTION 6: MONITORING AND FILTERING 
 
A. The District may monitor any Internet activity occurring on District equipment or accounts. 

The District currently does employ filtering software to limit access to sites on the Internet. If 
the District discovers activities that do not comply with applicable law or District policy, 
records retrieved may be used to document the wrongful content in accordance with due 
process. 

SECTION 7: NON-COMPLIANCE 
 
Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxi 
 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 
PASSWORD POLICY 
 

APPROVAL DATE 
    

Page i of 2 
 

 
SECTION 1: PURPOSE 

Passwords are the primary form of user authentication used to grant access to District 
information systems. To ensure that passwords provide as much security as possible, they must 
be carefully created and used. Without strict usage guidelines, the potential exists that passwords 
will be created that are easy to break, thus allowing easier illicit access to the District’s 
information systems, and thereby compromising the security of those systems. 
It is the intent of the District to protect all its resources. These resources include computer 
hardware, software, data, and all computer related items. This document will set forth the policy 
of maintaining logical security, protecting the software and utilization of systems by persons 
with legitimate access rights. 
 
SECTION 2: SCOPE 

The Password Policy applies to all information systems, information components, and to all user 
account holders, District employees, and those working on behalf of the District. 

SECTION 3: POLICY 

A. Passwords will have a maximum lifespan determined by the Information Technology Manager.  

B. Passwords may not be reused. Reuse includes the use of the exact same password or the use of 
the same root password with appended or pre-pended sequential characters. 

C. Passwords are to be used and stored in a secure manner. As such, passwords are not to be 
written down or stored electronically in plain text. Passwords are to be obscured during entry 
into information system login screens and are to be transmitted in an encrypted format. 

D. Passwords are to be individually owned and kept confidential and are not to be shared under 
any circumstances. 

E. Vendor supplied default passwords must be changed prior to installing a system on the 
network. 

F. Information Technology professionals or system account credentials for non-console 
administrative access must be encrypted using technologies such as SSH, VPN, or SSL/TLS. 
Encryption technologies must include the following: 

 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxii 
 

 
1. Must use strong cryptography, and the encryption method must be invoked before the 

administrator’s password is requested. 

2. System services and parameter files must be configured to prevent the use of telnet and 
other insecure remote login commands. 

3. Must include administrator access to web-based management interfaces. 

4. Use vendor documentation and knowledge of personnel to verify that strong cryptography 
is in use for all non-console access and that for the technology in use it is implemented 
according to industry best practices and vendor recommendations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxiii 
 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 
     DISTRICT-ISSUED CELL 

PHONES FOR DIRECTORS - 
POLICY  
 

APPROVAL DATE 
  

Page i of 2 
 

 
 
SECTION 1: PURPOSE 
The goal of this policy is to outline appropriate use of District-issued cellular phones for use by 
Directors.  
 
SECTION 2: SCOPE 
 
The District-Issued Cell Phones For Directors Policy applies to any Director who wishes to have a 
District issued cell phone for District business. 
 
The Information Technology Manager is responsible for administering the District cell phones. 
 
SECTION 3: POLICY 

 
1. The District shall provide a cellular phone and District-paid cellular phone service for the 
use of the any Director that requests a District cell phone.  Issuance of District cell phones to 
Directors is voluntary only.   All cellular phones provided at District expense shall remain 
property of the District and Directors shall carry such phones for use on District business. 
 
2. The General Manager shall select and contract for those cellular services necessary for 
District purposes, including text and internet service to the extent required for communications 
likely to be required in carrying out the Director’s duties. In addition, the General Manager shall 
select a calling plan and services which provides the Director’s with services reasonably 
necessary, including, if available at a cost-effective price, unlimited minutes and text messaging 
within the continental United States.  
 
3. The Directors shall not use District-provided cellular phones or cellular service in any 
manner which results in additional charge to the District, over and above the cost of the cellular 
service plan provided by the District, including international calls, or phone, text or internet sites 
which charge a fee through the cellular phone service provider.   
 
4. The purpose of providing District-paid cellular phones and service to Directors is to meet 
the needs of the District for communication in connection with District business. The personal use 
of the cellular service by the Director is prohibited. The Director shall return the cellular phone to 
the District upon leaving office. 

5. The initial purchase cost of the cell phone shall be paid for from that Director’s annual 
travel expense budget.  The monthly cellular service fees and charges shall be paid for from that 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxiv 
 

 
Director’s annual travel expense allowance on a monthly basis.  Insuring the cell phone for loss or 
damage shall be mandatory and included in the monthly fees and charges. 

6. Directors assigned a TVMWD-owned cell phone are responsible for its safekeeping, 
maintenance, and proper use, and are required to take appropriate precautions to prevent the loss, 
theft, damage, and unauthorized access to said communication technology device or cell phone. 
Loss, theft, or damage of a TVMWD-owned cell phone shall be immediately reported to the 
General Manager. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxv 
 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 
     OUTREACH PROGRAM 

POLICY 

APPROVAL DATE 
 NOVEMBER 17, 2021 

Page i of 2 
 

 
SECTION 1:  Purpose of policy 
Situations may arise where a member of the TVMWD Board is requested to have TVMWD 
participate in a public outreach program in the form of sponsorships or community events. 
Directors may exercise discretion to authorize approval of the request consistent with the 
requirements set forth herein.   
 
SECTION 2:  Background 
Directors may request that TVMWD pay for sponsorships and/or community event participation, 
not to exceed a pre-determined amount in the TVMWD’s annual Public Outreach Program budget, 
for events that are not prohibited based on this policy. 
 
This policy expressly prohibits any expenditure that would (1) constitute an unconstitutional gift 
of public funds, (2) qualify as an unlawful mass mailing, or (3) contribute in any manner to an 
organization in which a director has a personal financial and/or management interest. 

 
SECTION 3:  Application of policy 
1. Directors may exercise discretion for TVMWD to pay for sponsorships and/or community 

events not to exceed a total of $1,000 per event, which shall include funding support, the 
providing of materials, supplies and promotional giveaways for such events. 

2. Any requests by Directors more than $1,000 to pay for sponsorships and/or community events 
shall be brought to the full board for input and approval. 

3. Sponsorships shall provide a direct nexus to water awareness, conservation, education, 
groundwater quality and the protection of water-related resources. 

4. TVMWD-sponsored events may not be political and/or partisan in nature. Example: TVMWD 
may not sponsor a fundraiser for a political candidate using any public funds.  

5. Proceeds from a TVMWD-sponsored event may not be used to contribute to campaign type 
activities. Example: TVMWD funds may not be used to print literature for a director’s 
reelection to the water board.  

6. Outreach funds may not be used for purchasing media advertisements.  

7. TVMWD will only issue payments through checks or credit card paid directly to host 
organizations which meet these guidelines. No cash disbursements or reimbursements will be 
made for TVMWD-sponsored events covered by these guidelines.  

8. TVMWD staff shall provide a quarterly summary of the outreach program funding and 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxvi 
 

 
remaining balance. 

9. Directors that are up for election/reelection in an election year shall not participate in such 
public awareness activities from the date of filing for office until the second business day 
following the election- or as currently prescribed by FPPC regulations.  

10. Events sponsored by religious/church organizations are not eligible for TVMWD- sponsored 
funds unless the event is open to the general public and is for a non-sectarian purpose.  

11. The purpose of a sponsorship and/or community event participation must align with the 
TVMWD Strategic Plan.  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxvii 
 

 

 

POLICY TITLE 
     SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY – 

ELECTED OFFICIALS 
 

APPROVAL DATE 
 JUNE 15, 2022 

Page i of 5 
 

 
SECTION 1:  Purpose of policy 
 
Three Valleys Municipal Water District (‘District”) understands that its elected officials, 
officers, and employees use social media sites and other online engagement platforms to 
share events in their lives, to communicate, and to discuss their opinions with others, 
including family, friends, and co-workers. However, the use of social media and other online 
engagement platforms may present certain risks and carries with it certain responsibilities.   
 
To assist the District’s Board of Directors (“Board”) in making responsible decisions about 
their use of social media and other online engagement platforms, the District provides these 
guidelines and recommendations for appropriate use. 
 
SECTION 2:  Background 
 
The District does not create or provide support for individual social media accounts for 
Board members.  Board members who maintain personal social and other digital media 
accounts should be aware that--similar to District email or any other written or recorded 
communication related to the official conduct of District business--digital communications, 
social media posts and messages by Board members regarding matters that are before the 
District for action or within District jurisdiction can be “official District business” subject to 
laws and policies regarding freedom of speech, records retention and production, and public 
transparency.  Those laws and policies include, but are not necessarily limited to: the 
California and United States Constitution, the California Public Records Act, the Ralph M. 
Brown Act, and the District’s records retention regulations. 
 
SECTION 3:  Understanding Rights/Responsibilities Using Social Media Technology 
 
Complying with the Ralph M. Brown Act 
 
One potential pitfall elected officials face in using social media is in ensuring compliance with 
the Ralph M. Brown Act (the “Act”).  Elected members of a Board must be careful, through 
their use of social media, not to engage in “serial meetings” with other members of the Board.  
A serial meeting is covered by the Act.  It involves communications by individual members 
of less-than-a-quorum group, which ultimately involves a majority of the body’s members.  
Outside a meeting, a majority of members of the Board may not use a series of 
communications of any kind, directly or through intermediaries, to discuss, deliberate or 
take action on any item of business that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board, 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxviii 
 

 
whether or not the members of the Board reach a collective concurrence.  This 
communication may involve several separate conversations between different members, or 
several separate conversations between members and a single person (e.g., attorney, agency 
staff member) for the purpose of discussing, deliberating, or taking any action on any item 
of business. 
 
Conceivably, a prohibited serial meeting could take place through private messaging or even 
public messaging on social media.  
 
The Act does not prevent Board members from engaging in separate conversations or 
communications on an internet-based social media platform to answer questions, to provide 
information to the public, or to solicit information from the public regarding a matter that is 
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board, but this is provided that a majority of the 
members of the Board do not use the internet-based social media platform to discuss among 
themselves business of a specific nature that is within the Board’s subject matter jurisdiction.  
“Discuss among themselves” here means communications made, posted, or shared on an 
internet-based social media platform between members of the Board, including comments 
or use of digital icons that express reactions to communications made by other members of 
the Board.  This means that even a single “emoji” or “like” could constitute part of a 
discussion that falls within the scope of the Act. 
 
As a member of the Board, there is one other item of importance to consider.  Under recent 
law, you should not respond directly to any communication on an internet-based social 
media platform regarding a matter that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board 
that is made, posted, or shared by any other member of the Board.  Doing so alone could 
result in a violation of the Act. 
 
To avoid any violations of the Act, consistent with the update provided by AB 992, Board 
members are permitted to use a social media site to engage in conversations or 
communications on matters within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board: 

1. To answer questions; 
2. To provide information to the public; and 
3. To solicit information from the public. 

 
However, a majority of Board members may not use social media to "discuss among 
themselves" official business.  AB 992 broadly defines the meaning of "discuss among 
themselves" to include any "communications made, posted, or shared on an internet-based 
social media network between members of [the Board], including comments or use of digital 
icons that express reactions to communications made by other members of the [Board]."  AB 
992 prohibits a Board member from communicating directly with the social media of any 
other member on a subject within the jurisdiction of the Board. 
 
Board members must refrain from using the District’s official social media sites or any form 
of electronic communication to respond to, blog, or engage in serial meetings, or otherwise 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxix 
 

 
discuss, deliberate, or express opinions on any issue within the subject matter jurisdiction 
of the body without complying with the Act. 
 
If there are questions about whether communications could potentially violate the Act, 
Board members should consult with the District’s management and/or legal counsel.   
 
Accuracy and Honesty 
 
Strive for accuracy in any blog or post.  Include a link to your sources of information.  If a 
Board member makes a mistake, correct the information, or retract it promptly.  Never post 
any information or rumors that you know to be false about employees, other officials, or 
anyone.  
 
Board members should be honest and accurate when posting information or news, especially 
when communicating during a crisis or emergency.  Any mistakes, misstatements and/or 
factual errors must be corrected quickly upon discovery.  When possible, news of District-
wide importance should first be announced by the District's official social media sites.  This 
information can then be shared by Board members, linking back to the original post or 
official District website, when possible.  Unless the Board member has been designated to 
serve as a District spokesperson, a Board member should never represent themselves as a 
spokesperson for the entire Board or the District.  Board members should be mindful of 
recognizing that accomplishments of the District or the Board are achieved by collective 
action of the entire body or organization. 
 
Avoiding Commingling Social Media Accounts  
 
Board members should not use District email addresses to register on social networks, blogs, 
or other online tools utilized for personal use.  
 
Board members participating in digital or social media communications shall maintain and 
clearly delineate between separate accounts for official and personal/campaign statements, 
taking precaution not to convey personal/campaign communications in a manner that 
suggests such communications represent the position of the District or the Board as a whole.  
To avoid ambiguity, all statements, headings, profile pictures, or biographies on personal or 
campaign accounts shall: 
 
 

1. Not be made in the name of the position to which the Board member was elected or 
appointed; 

2. Clearly reflect that content on such accounts does not represent the official positions 
of the District or the Board; and 

3. Not display the District logo or any other official District mark or title. 
 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxx 
 

 
The District requires that Board members use only District accounts to send or receive 
electronic communications in connection with the conduct of District business.  As a result, 
there is no expectation of privacy if personal accounts are used to conduct District business 
or District accounts are used to conduct personal business.  If a Board member receives an 
electronic communication regarding District business on a personal account, he or she 
should copy that information to his or her official District account for transparency and ease 
of access for public records requests. 
  
Digital records relating to public business are required to be in a manner capable of 
maintaining the record for the applicable retention period, including through the use of 
highlights, bins, or archives for temporary and disappearing stories, reels, posts, or 
otherwise.   
 
Hosting Comments on Blog, Website, Facebook Page, or Other Social Media Platforms  
 
Another potential pitfall Board members face in using social media is by hosting a site or 
social media platform in your capacity as a government officer in which the public can post 
comments.  Although the law in this area is murky and currently under development, some 
authority suggests that a Board member who hosts comments in his or her capacity as a 
government official and deletes, hides, or otherwise obscures any comment by a member of 
the public has thereby engaged in censorship in violation of the First Amendment.  This is 
under the theory that the page hosting the comments constitutes a forum opened up by a 
government official, so that those who participate have constitutional rights to provide 
expression.  Violation of the First Amendment can create liability, including liability for the 
plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees.  Accordingly, if you host comments, you should make a clear 
distinction to those who visit your page or platform whether the page is yours in a strictly 
personal or other capacity or instead in your capacity as an elected official or member of the 
government.  If the latter, Board members should avoid deleting comments or blocking 
individuals on official pages or sites they maintain.  Social media content should be treated 
the same as any written document and retained in accordance with the District retention 
schedules or the minimum period required under applicable law, whichever is longest. 
 
 
 
Exercising Sound Discretion 
 
Use good and ethical judgment.  To the extent your social media use impacts District 
employees, Board members should follow District policies and regulations as applicable, 
including but not limited to those that protect individual privacy rights, anti-discrimination 
and harassment policies, and the anti-workplace violence policy. 
 
Board Members shall not post complaints or criticism of fellow Board members, District 
employees, or personnel (or anyone).  Board members should avoid using statements, 
photographs, video, or audio that reasonably could be viewed as unlawful harassment or 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



 

PAGE xxxi 
 

 
discrimination or other violation of the law such as unlawful threatening conduct.  Examples 
of such conduct might include offensive posts that could contribute to a hostile work 
environment on the basis of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical or 
mental disability, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, sex, gender, gender 
identity, gender expression, age, sexual orientation, or any other status protected by law.  
Examples of unlawful threatening conduct include posting material that would make a 
reasonable person afraid for one’s safety or the safety of one’s family. 
 
Do not disclose information that may violate the rights of others.  For example, do not 
disclose another individual’s social security number, medical information, financial 
information, or other protected information in a manner that violates that person’s rights. 
 
If, as a Board member, you publish a blog or post online related to your work as an elected 
official, make it clear that you are not speaking on behalf of the District itself.  It is best to 
include a disclaimer such as “The postings on this site are my own and do not necessarily 
reflect the views of the District.”  
 
For more information  
 
If you have questions or need further guidance, please contact the General Manager. 

 

 
 

Item 9.D - Exhibit B



  Funds Budgeted:  $   Fiscal Impact:  $ 

Staff Recommendation 

No Action Necessary – Informational Item Only 

Background 

The San Gabriel Basin Water Quality Authority (WQA) was established by the State Legislature 
(SB 1679) on February 11, 1993, to develop, finance, and implement groundwater treatment 
programs in the San Gabriel Basin. The WQA Board of Directors is comprised of seven members 
with three appointed members from each of the three municipal water districts, one from a city 
with prescriptive water pumping rights, one from a city without prescriptive water pumping 
rights, and two members representing water producers in the San Gabriel Valley. 

Discussion 

TVMWD’s new four-year term to the WQA Board of Directors will commence on January 1, 
2023. The current appointed representative is Director Kuhn and the alternate representative is 
Director Bowcock. The Board will discuss the appointment and direct staff to return this item 
to the December 21, 2022 board meeting for consideration of approval via Resolution No. 22-
12-DRAFT attached as Exhibit A.

Strategic Plan Objective(s) 

3.3 – Be accountable and transparent with major decisions 

Attachment(s) 

Exhibit A – Resolution No. 22-12-DRAFT 

Meeting History 

None 

NA/ML 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

To: TVMWD Board of Directors 

From: Matthew H. Litchfield, General Manager 

Date: December 7, 2022 

Subject: Appointment of Representative and Alternate to Serve on the San 
Gabriel Basin Water Quality Authority Board of Directors 

INFORMATION 

Item 9.E



Resolution No. 22-12-DRAFT 
Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-12-DRAFT 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE THREE VALLEYS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
APPOINTING THE REPRESENTATIVE AND ALTERNATE 

TO THE BOARD OF THE SAN GABRIEL BASIN 
WATER QUALITY AUTHORITY 

WHEREAS, on September 22, 1992, Senate Bill 1679 was signed into law by Governor 
Pete Wilson authorizing the creation of the San Gabriel Basin Water Quality Authority (WQA); 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board of the San Gabriel Basin Water Quality Authority is composed of 
seven members with three appointed members from each of the three municipal water districts, 
one elected city council person from cities in the San Gabriel Basin with prescriptive pumping 
rights, one elected city council person from cities in the San Gabriel Basin without prescriptive 
pumping rights, and two appointed members representing water producers in the San Gabriel 
Basin; and 

WHEREAS, the Three Valleys Municipal Water District is one of the municipal water 
districts in the San Gabriel Basin; and 

WHEREAS, it is now time to appoint the municipal water district’s representatives and 
alternates for the four-year term commencing on January 1, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, said appointments shall be made by a resolution adopted by the majority of 
the Board. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of 
Three Valleys Municipal Water District does hereby find and resolve as follows: 

Section 1.  ______________is hereby appointed as the representative to the 
governing Board of the WQA. 

Section 2. ______________is hereby appointed as the alternate representative to the 
governing Board of the WQA. 

ADOPTED and PASSED at a meeting of the Three Valleys Municipal Water District’s 
Board of Directors, on this 21st  day of December 2022 by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSTAIN: 
ABSENT: 

Item 9.E - Exhibit A



 

Resolution No. 22-12-DRAFT 
Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
 

       Jody Roberto  
       President, Board of Directors 
        
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
Carlos Goytia, Secretary 
 
       SEAL:  

 

Item 9.E - Exhibit A



  Funds Budgeted:  $2,500.00   Fiscal Impact:  $2,500.00 

Staff Recommendation 

No Action Necessary – Informational Item Only 

Discussion 

SCWC will hold its first quarterly board meeting and luncheon program on Friday, January 23, 2023 at the 
Sheraton Fairplex Hotel and Conference Center. The meeting will focus on aligning strategic priorities for 
2023 and a discussion on Climate Action.  

With the meeting being held within TVMWD’s district boundaries, SCWC has asked TVMWD 
to consider a sponsorship of $2,500. The sponsorship will include a table of 10 for lunch and 
TVMWD’s logo on promotional materials. The Board President is invited to formally welcome 
the luncheon gathering attendees at the commencement of the program.   

According to TVMWD’s Outreach Program Policy, the event must align with the TVMWD Strategic 
Plan and provide a direct nexus to water. The discussion on Climate Action will focus on what 
actions need to be taken to secure a needed water supply and resiliency for Southern California. 

Strategic Plan Objective(s) 

3.3 – Be accountable and transparent with major decisions 

Attachment(s) 

None 

Meeting History 

None 

NA/ML 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

To: TVMWD Board of Directors 

From: Matthew H. Litchfield, General Manager 

Date: December 7, 2022 

Subject: Southern California Water Coalition Board Meeting and Luncheon 
Sponsorship 

INFORMATION 

Item 9.F



  Funds Budgeted:  $269,530   Fiscal Impact:  $87,295 

Staff Recommendation 

No Action Necessary – Informational Item Only 

Background 

The Miramar Generator Upgrade Project [Project] was designed to increase the Miramar 
Treatment Plant operational reliability and provide redundancy during unexpected power 
interruptions. The Project will install two strategically located generator connections which will 
provide backup connections at the administration building and Miramar Well 2, located at the 
southeast portion of the Miramar Treatment Plant. The administration building generator 
connection will serve as a back-up source to the existing emergency diesel generator in the event 
the generator fails during a power disruption. This location provides power to all communications 
and control to the plant and maintains power during an emergency.  Similarly, Miramar Well 2’s 
connection will provide power to allow for groundwater extraction in the event of a main power 
disruption. It will provide the flexibility of an alternate water source if a large magnitude disruption 
occurs affecting the Rialto Feeder.  

Discussion 

The construction plans and specifications were sent to six electrical contractors via TVMWD’s 
newly implemented Planetbids platform which resulted in two bids on November 17th. Staff 
reviewed both bids and determined both to be responsive and complete. Hydrotech Electric was 
the apparent low bidder with a bid of $87,295, which is under the engineers estimate of $115,000. 
A summary of both bids received is attached as Exhibit “A”. Hydrotech Electric has completed 
several TVMWD capital and maintenance projects in the past and exceeded all expectations.  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

To: TVMWD Board of Directors 

From: Matthew H. Litchfield, General Manager 

Date: December 7, 2022 

Subject: Miramar Generator Upgrade  

INFORMATION 

Item 9.G



The project is expected to be completed by August 2023 due to the long procurement time of 
the electrical equipment. Staff’s recommendation is to award the contract to Hydrotech Electric 
will be presented for the Board’s consideration on December 21, 2022. 
 

Strategic Plan Objective(s) 

1.4 – Maintain water infrastructure to assure 100% reliability 

1.5 – Prepare for long-term MWD shutdown or catastrophic event that affects operations 
 
 
Attachment 

Exhibit A – Bid Solicitation Results 
 

Meeting History 

During the August 9th Board of Directors meeting, staff presented an informational item on the 
Miramar Generator Upgrade.  
 
 
NA/ KP 

 

Item 9.G



Three Valleys Municipal Water District

Bid Results for Project MIRAMAR EMERGENCY GENERATOR CONNECTION UPGRADES (22-02)

Issued on 10/17/2022

Bid Due on November 17, 2022  2:00 PM (PST)

Exported on 11/17/2022

Line Totals (Unit Price * Quantity)

Item 
Num

Description Unit of Measure Quantity Engineers Estimate  Hydrotech Electric Halcyon Electric

1 Mobilization/ Demobilization (not to exceed 10%) Lump Sum 1 $8,000.00 $500.00 $7,000.00

2
Procurement of Control Building Generator 
Connection Enclosure

Lump Sum 1 $20,000.00 $13,100.00 $12,000.00

3
Installation of Pull Boxes, Conduit and Wiring at 
Control Building

Lump Sum 1 $15,000.00 $12,775.00 $28,500.00

4 Control Building Concrete Equipment Pad Lump Sum 1 $2,000.00 $500.00 $2,000.00

5
Procurement of Well #2 Generator Connection and 
Manual Transfer Switch Enclosure

Lump Sum 1 $35,000.00 $26,570.00 $26,000.00

6
Demolish and Installation of new Conduit and Wiring at 
Well #2

Lump Sum 1 $25,000.00 $25,050.00 $20,000.00

7 Installation of New Equipment Pad and (2) Bollards Lump Sum 1 $8,000.00 $7,700.00 $5,000.00

8 Start-up & Testing Lump Sum 1 $2,000.00 $1,100.00 $2,000.00

Subtotal $115,000.00 $87,295.00 $102,500.00
Total $115,000.00 $87,295.00 $102,500.00

Over/Under Engineers Estimate -$27,705.00 -24.09%
Gap Delta Between Bids $15,205.00 17.42%

Item 9.G - Exhibit A


	221207 (Item 5) Oath of Office - Staff Report.pdf
	Funds Budgeted:  $          Fiscal Impact:  $      
	Discussion
	The Oath of Office will be administered to the Directors in Divisions 1, 3, and 5 for the new four-year term commencing December 2, 2022 through December 4, 2026. Carlos Goytia (Division 1) and Jeff Hanlon (Division 3) were the prevailing candidates i...

	221207 (Item 9.C2) NFTb-Resolution Banning NFT Irrigation DRAFT.pdf
	Three Valleys Municipal Water District (TVMWD) was established in 1950 and is comprised of 13 retail member agencies covering an area of 133 square miles and a population of over half a million residential customers.
	TVMWD’s mission is to supplement and enhance local water supplies to meet our region's needs in a reliable and cost-effective manner.

	221207 (Item 9.C1) NFTa-Resolution Banning NFT Irrigation - Staff Report.pdf
	Funds Budgeted:  $          Fiscal Impact:  $      
	Discussion

	221207 (Item 9.B) Pension Trust - Staff Report.pdf
	Funds Budgeted:  $          Fiscal Impact:
	Background:
	Discussion:

	221207 (Item 9.A) OPEB Trust - Staff Report.pdf
	Funds Budgeted:  $          Fiscal Impact:      
	Background:
	Discussion:

	221207 (Item 9.D3) 3V-PolicyManual.2022 DRAFT_Clean.pdf
	1. PURPOSE AND ORGANIZATION
	1.1. Mission
	1.2. Vision Statement
	1.3. Core Values
	1.4. Functions and Powers
	1.5. Member Agencies as Customers

	2. GOVERNANCE
	2.1. Board of Directors - Principal Functions
	2.2. Election
	2.3. Board of Directors – Organization
	2.4. Board of Directors - Public Meetings
	2.5. Board of Directors - Norms of Conduct and Communication
	2.6. Board of Directors - Orientation Meeting
	2.7. Board of Directors - Compensation
	2.8. Board of Directors – Reimbursement
	2.9. Board of Directors - Ethics Training
	2.10. Board of Directors – Workplace Harassment Training
	2.11. Board of Directors – Governance/Management Connection

	3. GENERAL MANAGER AND STAFF
	3.1. General Policy
	3.2. General Manager Authority - Limits Set by Board
	3.3. Safety
	3.4. Loyalty Oath

	4. WATER PLANNING AND SUPPLY
	4.1. General Policy
	4.2. Water Management Plan
	4.3. Water Quality
	4.4. Water Use Efficiency, Public Outreach & Water Conservation

	5. CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS
	5.1. Service Connections
	5.2. System Maintenance and Repairs
	5.3. Other Capital Improvements

	6. FINANCIAL INTEGRITY
	6.1. General Policy
	6.2. Annual Budget
	6.3. Rates, Charges, Assessments and Penalties
	6.4. Reserves
	6.5. Investment of Funds
	6.6. Risk Management
	6.7. Audit

	7. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT
	7.1. General Policy
	7.2. Public Information and Education
	7.3. District Spokesperson
	7.4. Requests for Public Records

	APPENDIX A  Resolutions and Motions Superseded by Adoption of this Policy
	APPENDIX B  End Notes

	221207 (Item 9.D1) Policy Manual Update - Staff report.pdf
	Funds Budgeted:  $          Fiscal Impact:  $      
	Background
	Discussion

	221207 (Item 9.E1) Resolution No. 22-12-DRAFT WQA Appointment - Staff Report.pdf
	Funds Budgeted:  $          Fiscal Impact:  $      
	Discussion

	x221207 SCWC Sponsorship - Staff Report.pdf
	Funds Budgeted:  $2,500.00    Fiscal Impact:  $2,500.00
	Discussion
	SCWC will hold its first quarterly board meeting and luncheon program on Friday, January 23, 2023 at the Sheraton Fairplex Hotel and Conference Center. The meeting will focus on aligning strategic priorities for 2023 and a discussion on Climate Action.

	221207 (Item 9.F2) Miramar Generator Upgrades Exhibit A.pdf
	Sheet1

	221207 (Item 9.F1) Miramar Generator Connection Project-Staff Report.pdf
	Funds Budgeted:  $269,530   Fiscal Impact:  $87,295
	Background
	Discussion




